

Epilepsy – case report collection 2022

Edited by Fernando Cendes

Published in Frontiers in Neurology





FRONTIERS EBOOK COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this ebook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this ebook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this ebook, and the ebook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this ebook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or ebook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source

acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-8325-2733-7 DOI 10.3389/978-2-8325-2733-7

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers journal series

The Frontiers journal series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of openaccess, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the *Frontiers journal series* operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews. Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the *Frontiers journals series*: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area.

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers editorial office: frontiersin.org/about/contact



Epilepsy – case report collection 2022

Topic editor

Fernando Cendes — State University of Campinas, Brazil

Citation

Cendes, F., ed. (2023). *Epilepsy – case report collection 2022*. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-8325-2733-7



Table of contents

05 Case Report: Stereoelectroencephalography and Stereoelectroencephalography-Guided Radiofrequency Thermocoagulation in Familial Lateral Temporal Lobe Epilepsy Zigi Wei, Xiaolai Xe, Changguan Wang, Jiwen Xu, Puming Zhang

Ziqi Wei, Xiaolai Ye, Changquan Wang, Jiwen Xu, Puming Zhang, Qiangqiang Liu and Jun Zhao

11 Macroglossia Associated With Clobazam Administration: A Case Report and Literature Review Jeff F. Zhang, Kevin Nickerson, Ravi Piryani, Osman Farooq and

Anil K. Swayampakula

16 Newly Diagnosed Hepatic Encephalopathy Presenting as Non-convulsive Status Epilepticus: A Case Report and Literature Review

> Marco Olivero, Delia Gagliardi, Gianluca Costamagna, Daniele Velardo, Francesca Magri, Fabio Triulzi, Giorgio Conte, Giacomo P. Comi, Stefania Corti and Megi Meneri

- 22 Case Report: Late-Onset Lennox-Gastaut Syndrome Treated With Stereotactic Electroencephalography-Guided Radiofrequency Thermocoagulation Before Craniotomy Sixian Li, Xiaodong Cai, Chen Yao, Yuanqing Wang, Xiaohua Xiao, Huafeng Yang, Yi Yao and Lei Chen
- 30 Seizures and Consciousness Disorder Secondary to Intracranial Hypotension After Spinal Surgery: A Case Report and Literature Review

Yuqing Lv and Hui Xiang

- 36 Case Report: Cognitive Assessment Before an Amnesic Seizure in Transient Epileptic Amnesia Syndrome Coline Bouyer and Bertrand de Toffol
- Case report: An EEG captured case of migralepsy/migraine aura-triggered seizures
 Anam Hareem, Mahsa Pahlavanzadeh, Nicholas E. Calvo, Sanaz Monjazeb and Chinekwu Anyanwu
- 49 New-onset refractory status epilepticus due to autoimmune encephalitis after vaccination against SARS-CoV-2: First case report

Jana Werner, Giovanna Brandi, Ilijas Jelcic and Marian Galovic

56 Case report: Dravet syndrome, feeding difficulties and gastrostomy

Lisa M. Clayton, Edwina Williams, Simona Balestrini and Sanjay M. Sisodiya

62 Case report: A novel *de novo* variant of *SCN8A* in a child with benign convulsions with mild gastroenteritis

Hui Chen, Xiaoyan Li, Huaping Wu, Xiaolan Sun, Yuanyuan Che, Jian Zha, Ruiyan Wang, Xiongying Yu, Yong Chen and Jianmin Zhong 66 Case report: Successful anterior temporal lobectomy in drug-resistant temporal lobe epilepsy associated with Sotos syndrome

Leonardo Favi Bocca, Thiago Pereira Rodrigues, Thiago Bortholin, Elza Márcia Targas Yacubian, Henrique Carrete Júnior, Mirian Guaranha and Ricardo Silva Centeno

71 Case report: Functional analysis of the p.Arg507Trp variant of the *PIGT* gene supporting the moderate epilepsy phenotype of mutations in the C-terminal region

Ikhlas Ben Ayed, Olfa Jallouli, Yoshiko Murakami, Amal Souissi, Salma Mallouli, Amal Bouzid, Fatma Kamoun, Ines Elloumi, Fakher Frikha, Abdelaziz Tlili, Sarah Weckhuysen, Taroh Kinoshita, Chahnez Charfi Triki and Saber Masmoudi

79 Case report: Young-onset large vessel ischemic stroke due to hyperhomocysteinemia associated with the C677T polymorphism on *5,10-methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase* and multi-vitamin deficiency

> Jiro Fukae, Hiroto Eguchi, Yoichi Wada, Atsuhito Fuse, Rika Chishima, Mitsuyoshi Nakatani, Asuka Nakajima, Nobutaka Hattori and Yasushi Shimo



Case Report: Stereoelectroencephalography and Stereoelectroencephalography-Guided Radiofrequency Thermocoagulation in Familial Lateral Temporal Lobe Epilepsy

Ziqi Wei¹, Xiaolai Ye^{2,3}, Changquan Wang³, Jiwen Xu^{2,3}, Puming Zhang^{1*}, Qiangqiang Liu^{2,3*} and Jun Zhao¹

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Fernando Cendes, State University of Campinas, Brazil

Reviewed by:

Jörg Wellmer, Ruhr-Epileptology, UK Knappschaftskrankenhaus Bochum, Germany Petia Dimova, University Hospital St. Ivan Rilski, Bulgaria

> *Correspondence: Puming Zhang pmzhang@sjtu.edu.cn Qiangqiang Liu windsto@163.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Epilepsy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 28 January 2022 Accepted: 08 March 2022 Published: 04 April 2022

Citation:

Wei Z, Ye X, Wang C, Xu J, Zhang P, Liu Q and Zhao J (2022) Case Report: Stereoelectroencephalography and Stereoelectroencephalography-Guided Radiofrequency Thermocoagulation in Familial Lateral Temporal Lobe Epilepsy. Front. Neurol. 13:864070. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2022.864070 ¹ School of Biomedical Engineering, Shanghai Jiao Tong University, Shanghai, China, ² Department of Neurosurgery, Clinical Neuroscience Center Comprehensive Epilepsy Unit, Ruijin Hospital, Shanghai Jiao Tong University School of Medicine, Shanghai, China, ³ Clinical Neuroscience Center, Ruijin Hospital Luwan Branch, Shanghai Jiao Tong University School of Medicine, Shanghai, China

Familial lateral temporal lobe epilepsy (FLTLE) is genetic focal epilepsy usually characterised by auditory symptoms. Most FLTLE cases can be controlled by anti-seizure medications, and to our best knowledge, there are no previous reports about stereoelectroencephalography (SEEG) used for patients with FLTLE. In this report, we present two patients with FLTLE in one family and their SEEG performances, together with ¹⁸F-fluorodeoxyglucose (¹⁸F-FDG) PET and MRI results. In case 1, fast activities originated from the right superior temporal gyrus and spread rapidly to the right anterior insular lobe and hippocampus. In case 2, there were two seizure patterns: (1) The fast activities or sharp slow waves were identified at the left superior temporal gyrus; (2) There were fast activities and slow-wave oscillation originated in the left superior temporal gyrus, then, the fast activities spread in the left superior temporal gyrus and finally spread to the other sites. An SEEG-guided radiofrequency thermocoagulation was performed for both patients and one of them underwent resection surgery. Seizures are well-controlled and the patients are very satisfied with the therapeutic effects.

Keywords: superior temporal gyrus, stereoelectroencephalography-guided radiofrequency thermocoagulation, stereoelectroencephalography, familial lateral temporal lobe epilepsy, case report

INTRODUCTION

Familial lateral temporal lobe epilepsy (FLTLE) is genetic focal epilepsy usually characterised by auditory symptoms. Despite the complexity of FLTLE, it is generally considered as a benign epilepsy syndrome and routinely used anti-seizure medications can usually control seizures (1).

Stereoelectroencephalography (SEEG) is a methodology for presurgical invasive evaluation and SEEG-guided radiofrequency thermocoagulation (RFTC) can be used as an alternative to resection surgery. Using stereotactically implanted electrodes, SEEG provides neuronal electrical activities

5

recordings in the deep brain (2) and helps locate epileptogenic zone for thermocoagulation or resection surgery (3). Most FLTLE seizures can be controlled by anti-seizure medications, and there are no previous reports about SEEG being used in the treatment of patients with FLTLE. Here we report two refractory FLTLE cases in one family. SEEG and SEEG-guided RFTC were performed for both patients and one of them underwent resection surgery. Seizures are well-controlled and the patients are very satisfied with the therapeutic effects.

CASE REPORT

Case 1

A 47-year-old woman, with her grandmother and her son, was diagnosed with FLTLE. Seizures firstly occurred when she was 22, with the symptoms of a sudden loss of consciousness, daze, delayed movements, chewing, and hand groping-like movements. Genetic tests were refused.

In scalp electroencephalogram (EEG), interictal spikes and intermittent slow waves were observed in the bilateral anterior temporal region and sphenoidal electrode. Seizures were characterised by initial attenuation of background activity followed by low-voltage fast activity in the right temporaloccipital lobe, then, quickly spread to the right and left temporal lobe.

No abnormality was found in 3.0T T1-weighted (voxel space $= 2 \times 2 \times 2 \text{ mm}^3$, TR = 381 ms, TE = 2.3 ms), T2-weighted (voxel space $= 2 \times 2 \times 2 \text{ mm}^3$, TR = 3,000 ms, TE = 100 ms) or fluid-attenuated inversion recovery (FLAIR) (voxel space= $2 \times 2 \times 2 \text{ mm}^3$, TR = 4,800 ms, TE = 411.7 ms) MRI. The ¹⁸F-fluorodeoxyglucose (¹⁸F-FDG) PET results were characterised by hypometabolism in the right superior temporal gyrus, right medial temporal lobe (**Figure 1**), and right insular lobe. The SEEG was performed, and the positions of electrodes were shown in **Figure 2**.

The SEEG in the interictal period showed obvious fast activities in the right superior temporal gyrus and the right anterior insular lobe. In the ictal period, fast activities originated from the right superior temporal gyrus (N1-8) and spread rapidly to the right anterior insular lobe (I3-8) and hippocampus (H1-3, B1-3) (**Figure 1B**).

The SEEG-guided RFTC was performed at electrodes N1-8 (**Figure 1B**), but there was no significant seizure decrease after the RFTC. She underwent the right anteromedial temporal lobe and insular lobe resection. The postoperative T1-weighted MRI results are shown in **Figure 3A**. Follow-up results showed that in the next 2 years, only one seizure occurred in 3 months after the operation.

Case 2

Case 2 was a son of case 1, with normal delivery and no nervous system injury. The first seizure occurred at the age of 19, with limb tonic seizures at the frequency of about once a month. When he came to our hospital at 24, he felt dizzy and cannot understand other people's language, then, he experienced consciousness loss, bilateral upper limbs flexion, and elicited mouth movements. Genetic tests showed an abnormality in the microtubule-associated protein tau (MAPT) gene and linked it to chr17:44060593.

Scalp EEG showed that the epileptiform activities mainly occurred in the left sphenoidal electrode and frontotemporal region. Ictal EEG was characterised by initial attenuation, followed by rhythmic 5–6 Hz activities in the left sphenoidal electrode and frontotemporal region.

No abnormality was found in MRI results with the same scanning parameters as in case 1. The PET results suggested hypometabolism in the left superior temporal gyrus, left supramarginal gyrus, and inferior central gyrus (**Figure 4A**).

The SEEG in the interictal period showed obvious abnormal discharges in the left superior temporal gyrus, which then affected the lateral temporal lobe. Two types of seizure patterns were identified.

In the first seizure pattern, the patient felt dizzy and had auditory hallucinations. The seizures were then followed by daze, wink, and chewing. During this pattern, fast activities or sharp slow waves were identified at the left superior temporal gyrus (N'3-5), then, sharp waves and spike waves spread in the left superior temporal gyrus (N'2-8, W'5-10, X'4-8), as shown in **Figure 4B**.

The second seizure pattern was characterised by feeling uncomfortable, groaning, right and then both upper limbs tonic seizures, right-turning head, and, finally, secondarily generalised tonic-clonic seizures. There were fast activities and slow-wave oscillation at the left superior temporal gyrus (N'3-5), then, the fast activities spread in the left superior temporal gyrus (W'2-9, N'2-6) and, finally, spread to the other sites (**Figure 4C**).

The RFTC was performed at electrodes W'1-10, N'1-8, and X'1-10. The T1-weighted MRI results after the RFTC are shown in **Figure 3B**. According to the last follow-up at 18 months after the RFTC, he remained seizure-free (Engel 1A).

DISCUSSION

Familial temporal lobe epilepsy (FTLE) can be subdivided into lateral and mesial forms by clinical and genetic characteristics, and FLTLE is characterised by auditory auras (1). Several protein mutations were considered to be associated with temporal lobe epilepsy, such as axon guidance proteins, leucinerich glioma inactivated 1 protein, microtubular protein, poreforming, chromatin remodelling, and chemokine proteins (4). Hyperphosphorylated tau protein has been identified in patients with refractory temporal lobe epilepsy and might be the cause of the cognitive decline in these patients (5). Given that there were no other genetic abnormalities detected in case 2, we suppose that MAPT mutation played a role in the case of FLTLE. However, such supposition still needs further verification.

For patients with FTLE, most of the reports mentioned that they had a good response to anti-seizure medications, and the disease would be gradually controlled with the increase of age. Cendes et al. (6) reported 36 FTLE cases, including eight with refractory epilepsy who underwent surgery. Fabera et al. (7) also reported two FTLE cases that underwent left

middle temporal gyrus to the head of the hippocampus.



anteromedial temporal lobectomy. Koizumi et al. (8) reported resection, two patients underwent standard anterior temporal

gyrus. (B) Stereoelectroencephalography (SEEG) signals in the ictal period. Fast activities originated from the right superior temporal gyrus ① (N1-8) and spread rapidly to the right insular lobe ② (I3-8) and hippocampus ③ (H1-3, B1-3). White arrow: the location of the electrodes N in MRI (right superior temporal gyrus).





7

P: the supramarginal gyrus to the anterior insular gyrus. (B) Left hemisphere. Entry points to target points: A': the middle temporal gyrus to the amygdala; H': the



FIGURE 3 | Postoperative T1-weighted MRI results. (A) T1-weighted MRI results of case 1 after the right anteromedial temporal lobe and insular lobe resection. (B) T1-weighted MRI results of case 2 after SEEG-guided radiofrequency thermocoagulation (RFTC). The locations and labels of the electrodes for the thermocoagulation were marked in blue.

reported in this paper also showed that surgery has a good effect on patients with refractory FLTLE.

According to the results of SEEG and clinical information, the superior temporal gyrus was confirmed as the onset area, and SEEG-guided RFTC was performed. However, only case 2 had a significant curative effect. The SEEG signal can provide effective information to locate the epileptogenic zone, but by the limited number of electrodes and the range of thermocoagulation, SEEG-guided RFTC may easily miss the epileptogenic zone. Koizumi et al. (8) reported two cases, whose epileptic focuses were located in the superior temporal gyrus by electrocorticographic results, one case in the lateral temporal lobe (including the superior temporal gyrus) and the other in the inferior temporal gyrus and fusiform gyrus. Whether these results suggest that the epileptic focus of FLTLE located in the superior temporal lobe still needs more clinical results to confirm. We identified three different seizure spreading patterns: (1) pure superior temporal gyrus with auditory symptoms; (2) mesial temporal lobe with automatisms; and (3) frontal lobe with movement symptoms.

Interestingly, the epileptic focus in case 1 is located in the right superior temporal gyrus, whereas the one in case 2 is located in the left superior temporal gyrus. In the FLTLE family reported by Koizumi et al., the three patients' epilepsy focuses were located on the left side and one on the right (8). The invasive EEG monitoring results suggest that, although FLTLE is an autosomal dominant genetic disease, the side of epileptic focus is not fixed.



FIGURE 4 | (A) Preoperative T1-weighted MRI and PET results of case 2. No abnormality was found in MRI, while hypometabolism was identified in the left superior temporal gyrus. (**B**) SEEG signals of the first seizure pattern. During this pattern, fast activities or sharp slow waves were identified at the left superior temporal gyrus (N'3-5), then sharp waves and spike waves spread in the left superior temporal gyrus (N'3-5), then sharp waves and spike waves spread in the left superior temporal gyrus (N'3-5), then sharp waves and spike waves spread in the left superior temporal gyrus (N'3-5), then the fast activities and slow-wave oscillation at the left superior temporal gyrus (N'3-5), then the fast activities spread in the left superior temporal gyrus (N'3-6), and finally, spread to the other sites. White arrow: the location of the electrodes N[′] in MRI (left superior temporal gyrus).

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Ruijin Hospital Luwan Branch Ethics Committee, Shanghai Jiao Tong University School of Medicine. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

QL, XY, CW, and JX designed and implemented the treatment and provided clinical information. ZW, PZ, and JZ summarised relevant researches and wrote and revised the case report.

REFERENCES

- Andermann F, Kobayashi E, Andermann E. Genetic focal epilepsies: state of the art and paths to the future. *Epilepsia*. (2005) 46:61– 7. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2005.00361.x
- Mullin J P, Shriver M, Alomar S, Najm I, Bulacio J, Chauvel P, et al. Is SEEG safe? A systematic review and meta-analysis of stereo-electroencephalographyrelated complications. *Epilepsia*. (2016) 57:386–401. doi: 10.1111/epi.13298
- An N, Ye X, Liu Q, Xu J, Zhang P. Localization of the epileptogenic zone based on ictal stereo-electroencephalogram: brain network and single-channel signal feature analysis. *Epilepsy Res.* (2020) 167:106475. doi: 10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2020.106475
- Perveen N, Ashraf W, Alqahtani F, Rasool M F, Samad N, Imran I. Temporal lobe epilepsy: what do we understand about protein alterations? *Chem Biol Drug Des.* (2021) 98:377–94. doi: 10.1111/cbdd.13858
- Tai X Y, Koepp M, Duncan J S, Fox N, Thompson P, Baxendale S, et al. Hyperphosphorylated tau in patients with refractory epilepsy correlates with cognitive decline: a study of temporal lobe resections. *Brain*. (2016) 139:2441– 55. doi: 10.1093/brain/aww187
- Cendes F, Cendes IL, Andermann E, Andermann F. Familial temporal lobe epilepsy: a clinically heterogeneous syndrome. *Neurology*. (1998) 50:554– 7. doi: 10.1212/WNL.50.2.554
- Fabera P, Krijtova H, Tomasek M, Krysl D, Zamecnik J, Mohapl M, et al. Familial temporal lobe epilepsy due to focal cortical dysplasia type IIIa. *Seizure*. (2015) 31:120–3. doi: 10.1016/j.seizure.2015.07.014

All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by National Natural Science Foundation of China (No. 82071550) and Shanghai Jiao Tong University Fund for Interdisciplinary Research for Medical Applications (YG2021QN30).

 Koizumi S, Kawai K, Asano S, Ueki K, Suzuki I, Saito N. Familial lateral temporal lobe epilepsy confirmed with intracranial electroencephalography and successfully treated by surgery. *Neurologia Medico-Chirurgica*. (2011) 51:604–10. doi: 10.2176/nmc.5 1.604

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Wei, Ye, Wang, Xu, Zhang, Liu and Zhao. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Macroglossia Associated With Clobazam Administration: A Case Report and Literature Review

Jeff F. Zhang^{1*}, Kevin Nickerson¹, Ravi Piryani², Osman Farooq³ and Anil K. Swayampakula²

¹ Jacobs School of Medicine and Biomedical Sciences, University at Buffalo, Buffalo, NY, United States, ² Division of Critical Care Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, John R. Oishei Children's Hospital, Buffalo, NY, United States, ³ Division of Pediatric Neurology, John R. Oishei Children's Hospital, Buffalo, NY, United States

Clobazam is a benzodiazepine derivative used as an antiepileptic agent for the treatment of focal and generalized seizures and drug-resistant epilepsy associated with Lennox-Gastaut Syndrome. While somnolence and mood-related side effects are commonly observed, acute macroglossia following initiation of Clobazam therapy has not been previously reported in the medical literature. In this case report, we present a female pediatric patient who developed significant tongue swelling with protrusion beyond the oral cavity after initiation of Clobazam for treatment-resistant epilepsy. Symptoms were unresponsive to antihistamines and steroids but resolved gradually in the days following discontinuation of Clobazam with no lingering sequelae.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Fernando Cendes, State University of Campinas, Brazil

Reviewed by:

Yang Zheng, Zhejiang University, China Lécio Figueira Pinto, University of São Paulo, Brazil

> *Correspondence: Jeff F. Zhang jeffzhan@buffalo.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Epilepsy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 21 March 2022 Accepted: 05 April 2022 Published: 09 May 2022

Citation:

Zhang JF, Nickerson K, Piryani R, Farooq O and Swayampakula AK (2022) Macroglossia Associated With Clobazam Administration: A Case Report and Literature Review. Front. Neurol. 13:900763. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2022.900763 Keywords: antiseizure drug, Clobazam, epilepsy, macroglossia, pediatric neurology

INTRODUCTION

Macroglossia is defined as a painless enlargement of the tongue that presents either congenitally in association with a wide variety of inherited disorders (e.g., Down Syndrome, Hunter and Hurler Syndromes, Beckwith-Wiedemann Syndrome) or acquired as a result of inflammation, amyloidosis, and endocrine and metabolic disorders. In rare cases, severe tongue swelling causing upper airway obstruction presents as a medical emergency requiring reduction glossectomy, which is indicated in an estimated maximum of 10% of cases of macroglossia (1). Frequently, acquired macroglossia resolves spontaneously with treatment of the underlying cause, and corticosteroids have also shown effectiveness in reducing glossal edema associated with trauma and mechanical injury (2).

Macroglossia secondary to angioedema is commonly observed in the setting of drug hypersensitivity reactions, in which drug-antigen presentation causes crosslinking of IgE immunoglobulins on the surface of mast cells with subsequent degranulation of intracellular contents. The release of vasoactive substances such as histamine and bradykinin leads to increases in the permeability of submucosal and subcutaneous capillaries, resulting in fluid shifts into the interstitial environment that cause localized tissue swelling. The onset of glossal swelling following the administration of Clobazam therapy for refractory epilepsy has not been previously reported in the literature and the pathophysiology by which these symptoms occur is currently unknown. In this case report, we present a pediatric patient who developed significant tongue swelling with protrusion beyond the oral cavity in the days after initiating Clobazam therapy for treatment-resistant epilepsy and whose symptoms resolved gradually following discontinuation of the drug.

Day 1	Lorazepam and Fosphenytoin doses given in ED, Midazolam drip started in PICU
Day 2	Clobazam administered
Day 3	
Day 4	Antibiotics discontinued
Day 5	Tongue swelling first noted, Furosemide given
Day 6	Tongue swelling worsens, Diphenhydramine given
Day 7	
Day 8	Tongue swelling continues to worsen, Clobazam discontinued
Day 9	Dexamethasone started
Day 10	
Day 11	Dexamethasone discontinued due to lack of improvement
Day 12	Tongue swelling unchanged, patient intubated due to concern of airway loss
Day 13	Tongue swelling improves, patient extubated
Day 14	Tongue swelling continues to improve
Day 15	Complete resolution of symptoms

FIGURE 1 | Timeline of patient hospitalization events.



 $\ensuremath{\mbox{FiGURE 2}}\xspace$ Patient with notable tongue enlargement and protrusion from oral cavity.

CASE PRESENTATION

A 17-year-old Caucasian female, born at 34 weeks *via* Cesarean section, presented to the emergency department (ED) with status epilepticus. Her past medical history was significant for unbalanced chromosome 6 and 21 translocation,

gross developmental delay, polymicrogyria, low-lying cerebellar tonsils, arachnoid cyst, micrognathia, scoliosis, and multifocal drug-resistant epilepsy since age 5 (managed on Levetiracetam, Lacosamide, and rectal Diazepam as needed). At baseline, the patient experiences four seizures per day lasting between 30 and 60s and the parents report the patient maintains good compliance with her antiseizure drug regimen. In the 24 h prior to admission, the father estimated that she had ${\sim}80$ breakthrough seizures with episodes of head deviation and whole body stiffening and shaking each lasting between 30 and 120 s in duration. No significant improvement was observed after giving extra doses of Levetiracetam and Lacosamide. The family denied any recent history of fever, upper respiratory infection, nausea, vomiting, urinary symptoms, trauma, or travel. Previous attempts to control the patient's seizures using Topiramate, Sodium Valproate, Oxcarbazepine, Zonisamide, and Lamotrigine were ineffective. Figure 1 represents the timing of events in the patient's hospital course by day of admission.

Lab results showed leukocytosis (WBC, 15.1×10^9 /L) with neutrophils 59.9% and lymphocytes 32.0%, and reactive thrombophilia (482 \times 10⁹/L). Comprehensive metabolic panel was significant only for anion gap elevation (16 mmol/L) and low bicarbonate (15 mmol/L) which resolved over the following days. Ceftriaxone was started for empiric coverage; initial blood cultures grew Staphylococcal species and Vancomycin was added. The patient's seizures were terminated by Lorazepam and Fosphenytoin loading in the ED. She was continued on her home antiseizure medications and continuous video electroencephalography (EEG) was started. The patient was stabilized in the ED and transferred to the pediatric floor. Overnight, the patient began to have seizures again and EEG detected epileptogenic sharp waves over the left hemisphere. Due to continued seizures, the patient was subsequently transferred to the pediatric intensive care unit (PICU), started on a Midazolam drip, and required endotracheal intubation for airway protection. Clobazam 5 mg BID was initiated on Day 2 of hospital admission for further seizure control. Head CT and brain MRI

were negative for acute intracranial pathology. Antibiotics were discontinued on Day 4 following negative blood, urine, and cerebrospinal fluid cultures, and the patient's seizures were reported to be adequately controlled at this time. On Day 5 of PICU admission, the patient was noted to have mild tongue swelling; this was initially thought to be secondary to fluid overload and the patient was started on Furosemide given her overall volume status. While her volume status notably improved, her tongue swelling continued to worsen, with inability to manually retract the tongue and protrusion beyond the oral cavity over the following day (Figure 2). No signs of infection or trauma were noted within the oral cavity on inspection. Trial of Diphenhydramine did not improve the tongue swelling. Given that Clobazam was the only new medication that she had not previously received, it was suspected to be the offending agent and replaced with Clonazepam on Day 8 of hospitalization. No recurrence of seizures were noted and EEG was discontinued. On the following day, a steroid course with Dexamethasone was initiated for the patient's macroglossia. Serum complement panel demonstrated normal C4 levels (39.6 mg/dL) and elevated C1 esterase inhibitor (53 mg/dL). Further inquiry into family history was also negative for angioedema. On Day 12, following 72 h of steroid administration, the patient's tongue was noted to still be edematous and protruding. Intubation and mechanical ventilation had been maintained due to concern of airway loss from macroglossia. On Day 13, she started to show improvement with tongue swelling and was successfully extubated with no complications. Complete resolution of macroglossia was observed on Day 15 of hospitalization, seven days following the discontinuation of Clobazam.

DISCUSSION

Clobazam is a benzodiazepine antiepileptic agent used to treat a range of focal and generalized seizure disorders, as well as drugresistant seizures associated with syndromes such as Lennox-Gastaut Syndrome and Dravet Syndrome. Its mechanism of action is through its binding to γ -aminobutyric acid-A (GABA-A) receptors and potentiation of GABA action by increasing the channel conduction of chloride ions in response to ligand binding, thereby increasing the seizure threshold (3). Clobazam differs from typical benzodiazepines due to placement of its two

Question	Yes	No	Do Not Know	Sco
1. Are there previous conclusive reports on this reaction?	+1	0	0	0
2. Did the adverse event appear after the suspected drug was administered?	+2	-1	0	+2
3. Did the adverse reaction improve when the drug was discontinued or a specific antagonist was administered?	+1	0	0	+1
4. Did the adverse event reappear when the drug was re-administered?	+2	-1	0	0
5. Are there alternative causes (other than the drug) that could on their own have caused the reaction?	-1	+2	0	+2
6. Did the reaction reappear when a placebo was given?	-1	+1	0	0
7. Was the drug detected in blood (or other fluids) in concentrations known to be toxic?	+1	0	0	0
8. Was the reaction more severe when the dose was increased or less severe when the dose was decreased?	+1	0	0	0
9. Did the patient have a similar reaction to the same or similar drugs in any previous exposure?	+1	0	0	0
10. Was the adverse event confirmed by any objective evidence?	+1	0	0	+1

FIGURE 3 | Naranjo adverse drug reaction probability scale (9). Score was calculated as "+6" due to the patient's adverse event appearing following administration of Clobazam, improvement of symptoms following discontinuation of the drug, other causes for the patient's tongue edema ruled out, and the results of the patient's presentation and work-up confirmed with neurology, immunology, and otolaryngology consults.

nitrogen atoms at the 1st and 5th positions of the diazepine ring resulting in partial agonism of the GABA-A receptor, rather than the 1st and 4th ring positions of other benzodiazepines which act as full agonists (3). This structural variation confers an improved side effect profile and also increases its anxiolytic and antiepileptic properties due to improved binding affinity for the GABA-A $\alpha 2\beta 3\gamma 2$ subtype (4). Common side effects noted in up to 80% of patients during Phase III drug trials included somnolence, pyrexia, lethargy, drooling, and constipation (5). While side effects are generally mild, increased severity has been observed in patients prescribed Clobazam along with cannabinoid agents such as Epidiolex for the treatment of refractory epilepsy (6). Serological studies show cannabidiol use in combination with Clobazam was correlated with a fivefold increase in concentration of N-desmethylclobazam, the active metabolite of Clobazam, due to shared metabolism by the hepatic cytochrome P450 enzyme CYP2C19 (7). Patients with "poor metabolizer" phenotypes due to high rates of polymorphism in the CYP2C19 gene have also been noted to be at a higher risk of adverse drug effects (8). However, the patient described in our case report did not have a history of cannabinoid use and CYP2C19 genotyping had not been conducted.

Our report presents the first published case of acute tongue enlargement in the context of naïve Clobazam exposure. While the patient had also been treated with antibiotics, Lorazepam, Fosphenytoin, and Midazolam during her inpatient course, the patient's previous exposure to these medications, lack of rash or pruritus, and minimal response to Diphenhydramine and corticosteroid therapy likely rule out allergic or inflammatory etiologies. In addition, our findings of elevated C1-esterase inhibitor levels, normal C4 complement levels, and negative family history for angioedema accounted for any possible pathologies related to bradykinin-mediated angioedema. Improvements in macroglossia observed while the patient was still intubated and lack of similar symptoms following previous intubations also make a traumatic cause for the patient's acute tongue swelling less likely. However, calculation of the Naranjo adverse drug reaction probability scale (9) for our patient (represented in Figure 3) yielded a score of "+6," which determined a "Probable" drug-related cause for the patient's macroglossia, and it had been noted that Clobazam was the only new medication that the patient had been exposed to during this hospital stay. While isolated tongue swelling has not previously been described in the literature following Clobazam administration, two reports have presented four adult patients (10) and one pediatric patient (11) who developed distal extremity edema associated with chronic Clobazam use (within 1-3 months of therapy) that spontaneously resolved within 2-6 weeks following discontinuation of the drug. In both cases, the pathophysiology was speculated to be due to the disruption of autonomic signaling in the myocardium and peripheral vasculature due to benzodiazepine-mediated increases in chloride channel conduction (12). However, no reports of macroglossia or extremity edema have been reported in the acute setting in the days following initiation of Clobazam therapy.

Notably, acute tongue swelling has been reported in patients receiving barbiturates for sedation. Darshan et al. reported a patient who developed severe tongue swelling with protrusion after placement into a drug-induced coma using Pentobarbital (13). The patient was weaned off Pentobarbital with improvement of his tongue swelling over the following week; however, later in his hospital course, he was administered Pentobarbital again and three days later developed similar symptoms of macroglossia, which again resolved in a few days following discontinuation of Pentobarbital (13). In another report, Parthvi et al. reported a patient who was administered Phenobarbital for agitation related to alcohol withdrawal and also developed isolated tongue swelling that was ruled to not be related to anaphylaxis or angioedema (14). In a similar mechanism of action to benzodiazepines, barbiturates act as positive allosteric modulators of GABA-A receptors by binding to a distinct site from benzodiazepines and increasing GABAmediated activity. Phenobarbital and Pentobarbital have also been found to be mainly metabolized by hepatic CYP2C19 (15), and patients with genetic polymorphisms resulting in decreased enzymatic activity have been noted to be at higher risk of developing side effects related to barbiturate intake (16). We would hypothesize that in patients with a poor metabolizer phenotype characterized by reduced CYP2C19 activity, elevated drug metabolite levels disrupt autonomic vasoconstriction in the tongue (a highly neurovascular structure) and produce the characteristic macroglossia observed in these patients, though further serological and genotyping studies are required to draw definitive conclusions in this susceptible patient population.

Unresolved macroglossia poses a significant risk for unsuccessful extubation, resulting in obstructive symptoms post-extubation or possible cardiac arrest due to an inability to pass an oral or nasotracheal tube and necessitating emergency tracheostomy. Fortunately, as in the case of our patient, drugrelated symptoms of macroglossia have been observed to resolve quickly and spontaneously following discontinuation of the offending agent without any lingering sequelae. In this case report, we hope to increase awareness among clinicians for this possible side effect of Clobazam therapy in order to avoid unnecessary testing and treatment which may prolong a patient's length of stay.

CONCLUSIONS

Macroglossia is a previously unreported side effect associated with initiation of Clobazam therapy for drugresistant epilepsy. Early recognition of this symptom and discontinuing the offending agent may to lead to spontaneous resolution of macroglossia and can reduce hospital length of stay.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material,

further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

ETHICS STATEMENT

Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s), and minor(s)' legal guardian/next of kin, for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

REFERENCES

- Topouzelis N, Iliopoulos C, Kolokitha OE. Macroglossia. Int Dent J. (2011) 61:63–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1875-595X.2011.00015.x
- Alarfaj AA, AlHayek AR, Alghanim R, Al-Jazan NA. Self-induced traumatic macroglossia: case report and literature review. *Case Rep Otolaryngol.* (2019) 2019:6040354. doi: 10.1155/2019/6040354
- 3. Humayun MJ, Samanta D, Carson RP. *Clobazam*. Treasure Island, FL: StatPearls (2021).
- Jensen HS, Nichol K, Lee D, Ebert B. Clobazam and its active metabolite N-desmethylclobazam display significantly greater affinities for alpha- versus alpha-GABA(A)-receptor complexes. *PLoS ONE*. (2014) 9:e88456. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0088456
- Ng YT, Conry JA, Drummond R, Stolle J, Weinberg MA, Investigators OVS. Randomized, phase III study results of clobazam in Lennox-Gastaut syndrome. *Neurology*. (2011) 77:1473–81. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e318232de76
- Abu-Sawwa R, Scutt B, Park Y. Emerging use of epidiolex (cannabidiol) in epilepsy. J Pediatr Pharmacol Ther. (2020) 25:485–99. doi: 10.5863/1551-6776-25.6.485
- Devinsky O, Patel AD, Thiele EA, et al. Randomized, dose-ranging safety trial of cannabidiol in Dravet syndrome. *Neurology*. (2018) 90:e1204– 11. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000005254
- Dean L. Clobazam therapy and CYP2C19 Genotype. In: Pratt VM, Scott SA, Pirmohamed M, Esquivel B, Kane MS, Kattman BL, Malheiro AJ, editors. *Medical Genetics Summaries. Bethesda, MD: National Center for Biotechnology Information* (2012).
- 9. *LiverTox*: Clinical and Research Information on Drug-Induced Liver Injury. Bethesda, MD: National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases (2012).
- Mathew T, D'Souza D, Nadimpally US, Nadig R. Clobazam-induced pedal edema: "An unrecognized side effect of a common antiepileptic drug". *Epilepsia. Mar.* (2016) 57:524–5. doi: 10.1111/epi.13316
- Incecik F, Ozcanyüz DG. Unusual side effects due to clobazam: a case report with edema of the extremities. *Acta Neurol Belg.* (2018) 118:521– 2. doi: 10.1007/s13760-018-0901-4

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JZ: drafting the manuscript, editing the manuscript, approving the manuscript, and accountable for manuscript integrity. KN and RP: editing the manuscript and approving the manuscript. OF and AS: project conception, editing the manuscript, and approving the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

- Agelink MW, Majewski TB, Andrich J, Mueck-Weymann M. Short-term effects of intravenous benzodiazepines on autonomic neurocardiac regulation in humans: a comparison between midazolam, diazepam, and lorazepam. *Crit Care Med. May.* (2002) 30:997–1006. doi: 10.1097/00003246-200205000-00008
- Darshan P, Gurpreet J, Justin R. A case of acute tongue enlargement. *Chest.* (2013) 144:909A. doi: 10.1378/chest.1698580
- Parthvi R, Lewandowski E, Fuhrer G. Phenobarbital-associated macroglossia. *Am J Ther.* (2021) 28:e265–6. doi: 10.1097/MJT.000000000001094
- Wishart DS, Knox C, Guo AC, et al. DrugBank: a comprehensive resource for in silico drug discovery and exploration. *Nucleic Acids Res.* (2006) 34:D668– 72. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkj067
- Yukawa E, Mamiya K. Effect of CYP2C19 genetic polymorphism on pharmacokinetics of phenytoin and phenobarbital in Japanese epileptic patients using non-linear mixed effects model approach. *J Clin Pharm Ther.* (2006) 31:275–82. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2710.2006. 00712.x

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Zhang, Nickerson, Piryani, Farooq and Swayampakula. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Newly Diagnosed Hepatic Encephalopathy Presenting as Non-convulsive Status Epilepticus: A Case Report and Literature Review

Marco Olivero¹, Delia Gagliardi^{1,2}, Gianluca Costamagna¹, Daniele Velardo², Francesca Magri³, Fabio Triulzi⁴, Giorgio Conte⁴, Giacomo P. Comi^{1,3}, Stefania Corti^{1,2*} and Megi Meneri^{1,2}

¹ Neuroscience Section, Dino Ferrari Centre, Department of Pathophysiology and Transplantation (DEPT), University of Milan, Milan, Italy, ² Neurology Unit, Foundation IRCCS Ca' Granda Ospedale Maggiore Policlinico, Milan, Italy, ³ Neuromuscular and Rare Diseases Unit, Department of Neuroscience, Fondazione IRCCS Ca' Granda Ospedale Maggiore Policlinico, Milan, Italy, ⁴ Neuroradiology Unit, Fondazione IRCCS Ca' Granda Ospedale Maggiore Policlinico, Department of Pathophysiology and Transplantation, Università degli Studi Milano, Milan, Italy

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Luiz Eduardo Betting, São Paulo State University, Brazil

Reviewed by:

Patrizia Pulitano, Sapienza University of Rome, Italy Rukmini Mridula Kandadai, Nizam's Institute of Medical Sciences, India

> *Correspondence: Stefania Corti stefania.corti@unimi.it

Specialty section: This article was submitted to

Epilepsy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 20 February 2022 Accepted: 11 April 2022 Published: 12 May 2022

Citation:

Olivero M, Gagliardi D, Costamagna G, Velardo D, Magri F, Triulzi F, Conte G, Comi GP, Corti S and Meneri M (2022) Newly Diagnosed Hepatic Encephalopathy Presenting as Non-convulsive Status Epilepticus: A Case Report and Literature Review. Front. Neurol. 13:880068. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2022.880068 **Background:** Hepatic encephalopathy is characterized by psychiatric and neurological abnormalities, including epileptic seizure and non-convulsive and convulsive status epilepticus. Conventional brain magnetic resonance imaging is useful in supporting diagnosis since it can reveal specific radiological findings. In the literature, there is no description of hepatic encephalopathy onset as non-convulsive status epilepticus; we provide the first report.

Case Summary: We report a case of a 67-year-old woman, without history of cirrhosis, presenting altered mental state, normal brain computed tomography imaging, and electroencephalography suggestive of epileptic activity. We suspected non-convulsive status epilepticus, and we administered diazepam and levetiracetam with clinical improvement. Thus, we made a diagnosis of non-convulsive status epilepticus. A radiological study with brain magnetic resonance imaging showed bilateral hyperintensity on T1-weighted sequences of globus pallidus and hyperintensity of both corticospinal tracts on T2-weighted fluid-attenuated inversion recovery sequences. Blood tests revealed hyperammonemia, mild abnormality of liver function indices, and chronic Hepatitis B and D virus coinfection. Hepatic elastosonography suggested liver cirrhosis. The patient started antiviral therapy with entecavir and prevention of hepatic encephalopathy with rifaximin and lactulose; she was discharged with a normal mental state.

Conclusions: Hepatic encephalopathy can present as an initial manifestation with non-convulsive status epilepticus. Electroencephalography is useful for differentiating non-convulsive status epilepticus from an episode of hepatic encephalopathy, and neuroimaging aids the diagnostic process.

Keywords: hepatic encephalopathy, non-convulsive status epilepticus, brain magnetic resonance imaging, case report, corticospinal tract, globus pallidus

INTRODUCTION

Hepatic encephalopathy (HE) is defined as brain dysfunction caused by liver failure or portal systemic shunting, without considering the etiology (1). The clinical picture comprises neurological or psychiatric abnormalities, ranging from subclinical alterations to coma (1). It is one of the most important complications of liver cirrhosis, contributing to both morbidity and mortality (1). From the pathophysiological perspective, ammonia is, probably, the central player in the pathogenesis of HE (1). Considered a metabolic disorder, it is usually reversible by liver transplantation (1). Although rare, HE can present as epileptic seizure; manifestations vary widely, encompassing tonic-clonic seizure, convulsive (CSE), and non-convulsive status epilepticus (NCSE) (2-6). HE can show typical features on brain magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), namely, the bilateral and symmetric hyperintensity of the globus pallidus on T1-weighted (T1W) sequences, and hyperintensity in cerebral white matter, involving corticospinal tract and subcortical hemispheric white matter on T2 weighted (T2W)— "fluid attenuated inversion recovery" (FLAIR) MRI sequences (7). Herein, we report a case of newly diagnosed HE presented as NCSE, in which conventional brain MRI shows some findings associated with this disease, such as the hyperintensity in the globus pallidus on T1 and the hyperintensity along the corticospinal tract on T2-FLAIR.

CASE PRESENTATION

A 67-year-old woman from Romania presented to our Emergency Department for confusion and subacute ideomotor decline in the previous 5 days. Insomnia, nocturnal awakenings, urinary incontinence, and amnesia for recent events were reported in the last month. The patient had a past medical history of paroxysmal atrial fibrillation, previously treated with amiodarone and apixaban, which were self-suspended 1 year ago, obesity, hypertension, and rectal carcinoma which was surgically treated with an enterostomy. The patient had no



known history of seizures or other neurological diseases, recent illness, brain trauma, or recent surgical procedures. The chronic therapy encompassed olmesartan, bisoprolol, indapamide, furosemide, amlodipine, acetylsalicylic acid, and ranitidine. The vital parameters were normal, and the Glasgow Coma Scale (GCS) score was 15. The general physical examination did not show pathological items, nor signs of trauma. The chest X-ray was normal, while the electrocardiogram was suggestive of atrial fibrillation. From a neurological point of view, the patient was disoriented in space and time and unable to denominate objects of common use. The pupils were isochoric and reactive to light. The posture was normal and there were no signs of meningism. The cranial nerve examination was normal, except for dubious absence of the menace reflex on the left, not confirmed by a subsequent evaluation. The global strength of the limbs was preserved, as well as tactile sensitivity and coordination. The osteotendinous reflexes were valid, symmetrical in the upper limbs, with a mild prevalence on the right, and weak and symmetrical in the lower limbs. Cutaneous plantar response was mute bilaterally. A stroke was initially suspected, and a neuroimaging study was performed with brain computed tomography (CT), CT angiography, and CT perfusion, which were unremarkable. Because of the persistence of the altered mental state, electroencephalography (EEG) was performed. EEG showed a broadly slowed trace, with a background theta rhythm, which was more expressed on the right. Fast paroxysmal bilateral activity of the type sharp wave was superimposed and more represented on the right and mainly frontotemporal (Figure 1A) areas. Herein, NCSE was suspected and 10 mg of diazepam was administered intravenously, with regression of the paroxysmal activity on the synchronous recording of the EEG. Furthermore, antiepileptic therapy with 4,000 mg of intravenous levetiracetam was started, and the mental state progressively improved. The next day, the EEG was repeated, and epileptiform activity did not reappear (Figure 1B); levetiracetam was switched to an oral dosage of 2,000 mg daily. The patient was admitted to our Neurology Department with the presumptive diagnosis of NCSE, and a 3 Tesla brain MRI with gadolinium was performed. Bilateral hyperintensity of the lenticular nucleus was detected on T1W sequences (Figure 2A), while bilateral hyperintensity of the corticospinal tract signal was displayed on FLAIR (Figure 2B). Neuroimaging ruled out an ischemic event and an expansive lesion, with findings suggestive of chronic HE. As a completion, a lumbar puncture with examination of cerebral spinal fluid was performed. It did not show any noteworthy findings, including the real-time polymerase chain reaction for an infectious agent or dosage of autoantibodies associated with autoimmune and paraneoplastic encephalitis. The patient was obese (body mass index = 38.3 kg/m^2) but had no past history of alcoholic abuse. There were no signs of ascites and declining edema. She presented no signs of asterixis. Blood tests performed a few days later revealed: chronic coinfection of Hepatitis B (HBV) and D (HDV) virus, negative Hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection, ammonium 141 umol/L (11.2-48.2 umol/L), albumin 2.7 mg/dl (3.4-4.8), total bilirubin 1.33 (0.12-1.1 mg/dl), INR 1.25 (0.8-1.2), proteins 5.6 g/dl (6.4-8 g/dl), cobalamin 1,121 pg/ml (191-663 pg/ml), and normal levels of folate, transferrin,



FIGURE 2 Brain MRI, axial section. 11-weighted imaging showing bilateral symmetrical hyperintensity in the globus pallidus and upper mesencephalon **((A)**, arrow]. T2-weighted FLAIR imaging depicting hyperintensity of the corticospinal tracts **((B)**, arrow].

sideremia, and ferritin. Hepatic elastography recorded values compatible with cirrhosis. Hepatic cirrhosis from mixed etiology, chronic HBV-HDV co-infection, and metabolic syndrome was diagnosed. The clinical picture was considered to be an episode of HE, presenting as NCSE. Anti-HBV therapy with entecavir (0.5 mg daily orally) was started, as well as secondary prevention of HE with lactulose (10 g two times daily orally) and rifaximin (400 mg three times daily orally). On the day of discharge, her mental state was normal, and the patient noted improvement in her general health condition (**Figure 3**). Afterwards, she continued to receive levetiracetam for epilepsy, besides lactulose and rifaximine for secondary prevention of HE; relatives reported no other episodes of mental confusion. Three months later, a brain MRI was repeated, and radiological findings were stable.

DISCUSSION

HE is one of the main complications of liver cirrhosis, along with variceal bleeding, hepatorenal syndrome, hepatopulmonary syndrome, and ascites (8). Historically, it has been classified into "overt hepatic encephalopathy" (OHE, clinically manifested neurological and psychiatric abnormalities) and "covert hepatic encephalopathy" (CHE, abnormalities on neuropsychological and electrophysiological tests without or mild clinically detectable neurological-psychiatric abnormalities) (9). According to the recent "International Society for Hepatic Encephalopathy and Nitrogen Metabolism" (ISHEN) consensus, the onset of disorientation and/or asterixis confirms OHE (10). In cirrhotic patients, OHE develops in 30-40% at some time during their clinical course, while minimal hepatic encephalopathy (MHE) and CHE are seen in 20-80% (11). As HE is a manifestation of serious liver impairment, its outcome depends on the severity of underlying liver disease, its clinical course, and its treatment (1). The serum level of ammonia plays a central role in the pathophysiology of HE, helping physicians in ruling out the diagnosis and defining the



prognosis; lowering serum ammonia is the main therapeutic goal (1, 9). Apart from hyperammonemia, other pathogenetic factors are implied, such as systemic inflammation, increased blood manganese, circulating bile acids, and lactate (1, 9). Their generation is influenced by common precipitant factors of HE, like malnutrition, infections, electrolyte imbalance, constipation, gastrointestinal bleeding, dehydration, and use of diuretics (1, 9). These pathogenetic factors influence the blood-brain barrier (BBB) by increasing its permeability (1, 9). Anyway, independent of blood-brain barrier status, ammonia passes freely into the brain, which is exclusively removed by astrocytes via glutamine synthetase (1, 9). The generation of glutamine renders the astrocyte hypertonic, resulting in swelling, impaired function, and, finally, brain edema (1, 9). Astrocyte swelling causes neuronal dysfunction and clinical manifestations of HE (1, 9). However, as in our case, there may be no clear precipitant factor underlying an episode of OHE (1, 9).

On a neurological point of view, clinical elements are plethoric, encompassing, mostly, the higher cortical functions and the motor system (12). Cognitive findings in patients with chronic HE vary from subtle deficits, not apparent without psychometric and electrophysiological testing (CHE), to clearer findings during periods of decompensation related to higher ammonia levels, such as impairments in attention span, reaction time, and working memory (OHE) (12). Disturbances in the sleep-wake pattern are common initial manifestations of HE and may precede mental state changes or neuromuscular symptoms (13). As HE progresses, patients may develop mood and personality changes, disorientation in time and space, inappropriate behavior, somnolence, confusion, and, finally, the so-called "coma hepaticus" (14). Seizures and status epilepticus are very rarely reported in HE (2). Generally, HE is associated with different EEG patterns, such as delta activity and the more typical triphasic waves (9). In particular, the description of NCSE in HE is anecdotal, probably because cognitive disturbances are shared in the two conditions, and an EEG is not always performed. To the best of our knowledge, just four case reports were previously described, and none of them reported NCSE as the first manifestation of HE (3–6). In our case, NCSE was diagnosed according to Salzburg criteria, since we found epileptiform discharge on the EEG that ceased after antiepileptic drugs administration, associated with a mental state improvement (15). The pathophysiology underlying the development of seizures in the setting of HE remains unknown, although hyperanmonemia is likely the most important factor (16). In our case, the patient developed, within a few days, cognitive symptoms of episodical OHE but more likely caused by NCSE secondary to hyperanmonemia. Neuroimaging excluded structural causes of seizures, while blood tests showed no other noteworthy metabolic alterations.

Brain MRI is the most useful imaging technique to support the diagnosis of HE in uncertain cases (17). Neuroradiological signs depend on the severity and velocity of development of liver failure, namely, a chronic or acute HE (18). In this case, we observed findings on conventional brain MRI compatible with a chronic form of HE, probably long neglected, not associated with any neurological signs. The bilateral and symmetric T1 hyperintensity involving the globus pallidus and substantia nigra reticulata is characteristic, reported in almost 90% of patients with cirrhosis and likely due to manganese accumulation; it may be associated with Parkinsonism (7, 17). Sometimes, other areas are involved, namely, the subthalamic nucleus, tectal plate, hypothalamus, adenohypophysis, limbic system, and white matter (7, 17, 18). Less commonly, the hyperintensity of both corticospinal tracts is described on T2-FLAIR sequences; it is caused by vasogenic brain edema due to glutamine increase in astrocytes, resulting in loss of organic osmolytes, such as myo-inositol, that accumulate in the extracellular compartment (17). This finding may be associated with subclinical alterations, detectable in electrophysiological studies with motor-evoked

potentials, not performed in the case of our patient (19). Similar abnormalities may also be seen in periventricular white matter, the thalamus, posterior limb of internal capsule, and cortex (18). However, hyperintensity along both the corticospinal tracts may be seen in healthy adults and should be interpreted with caution, especially in 3 Tesla MRI (17, 20). These changes are similar to the signal abnormalities observed in patients with other diseases, such as amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, X-linked Charcot-Marie-Tooth, optic neuromyelitis, metabolic disorders (Krabbe disease and X-linked adrenoleukodystrophy), infectious diseases (Borrelia spp. and Human T-cell lymphotropic Virus 1), and primary central nervous system lymphoma (21-28). Other neuroradiological findings include an increase of mean diffusivity of hemispheric brain matter on diffusion weighted imaging (DWI); laminar hyperintensities involving the cortical deep layers; white matter focal lesions; and a low magnetization transfer ratio (MTR) in various white matter regions (17, 29). These radiological findings have been shown to be reversible after liver transplantation (30, 31).

CONCLUSIONS

We reported the first description of NCSE as an initial manifestation of HE. Specific brain MRI findings, namely, bilateral hyperintensity on T1 of the globus pallidus and hyperintensity of both corticospinal tracts on T2-FLAIR, were able to suggest the diagnosis of HE. From a general point of view, NCSE is easily underdiagnosed for lack of clear and univocal clinical signs. It is important to understand the possibility of NCSE in patients presenting an altered mental state; EEG is helpful in ruling it out. Hyperammonemia is a possible

REFERENCES

- Rose CF, Amodio P, Bajaj JS, Dhiman RK, Montagnese S, Taylor-Robinson SD et al. Hepatic encephalopathy: novel insights into classification, pathophysiology and therapy. *J Hepatol.* (2020) 73:1526–47. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2020.07.013
- Rudler M, Marois C, Weiss N, Thabut D, Navarro V. Brain-Liver Pitié-Salpêtrière Study Group (BLIPS). Status epilepticus in patients with cirrhosis: How to avoid misdiagnosis in patients with hepatic encephalopathy. *Seizure*. (2017) 45:192–7. doi: 10.1016/j.seizure.2016.12.011
- Jhun P, Kim H. Nonconvulsive status epilepticus in hepatic encephalopathy. West J Emerg Med. (2011) 12:372–4. doi: 10.5811/westjem.2011.1.2125
- Badshah MB, Riaz H, Aslam S, Badshah MB, Korsten MA, Munir MB. Complex partial nonconvulsive status epilepticus masquerading as hepatic encephalopathy: a case report. J Med Case Rep. (2012) 6:422. doi: 10.1186/1752-1947-6-422
- Jo YM, Lee SW, Han SY, Baek YH, Ahn JH, Choi WJ et al. Nonconvulsive status epilepticus disguising as hepatic encephalopathy. *World J Gastroenterol.* (2015) 21:5105–9. doi: 10.3748/wjgv21.i16.515
- Hor S, Chen CY, Tsai ST. Propofol pump controls nonconvulsive status epilepticus in a hepatic encephalopathy patient: a case report. World J Clin Cases. (2019) 7:2831–7. doi: 10.12998/wjcc.v7.i18.2831
- Rovira A, Alonso J, Córdoba J, MR. imaging findings in hepatic encephalopathy. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol.* (2008) 29:1612– 21. doi: 10.3174/ajnr.A1139
- Tsochatzis EA, Bosch J, Burroughs AK. Liver cirrhosis. Lancet. (2014) 383:1749–61. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(14)60121-5

pathogenetic factor of NCSE, especially in patients with cirrhosis. The problem arises in differentiating acute alteration of the mental state due to an episode of HE from a real NCSE. Again, the EEG is useful for resolving diagnostic doubt, especially in the case of presumed HE that does not respond to empirical treatment.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

ETHICS STATEMENT

Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MO: drafted the manuscript for intellectual content and collected and analyzed the data. DG, GCos, DV, and MM: collected and analyzed the data and revised the manuscript for intellectual content. FM, FT, GCon, GPC, and SC: revised the manuscript for intellectual content. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by Italian Ministry of Health ricerca corrente 2022 to GPC.

- Wijdicks EF. Hepatic encephalopathy. N Engl J Med. (2016) 375:1660– 70. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra1600561
- Bajaj JS, Wade JB, Sanyal AJ. Spectrum of neurocognitive impairment in cirrhosis: Implications for the assessment of hepatic encephalopathy. *Hepatology.* (2009) 50:2014–21. doi: 10.1002/hep. 23216
- 11. Vilstrup H, Amodio P, Bajaj J, Cordoba J, Ferenci P, Mullen KD et al. Hepatic encephalopathy in chronic liver disease: 2014 Practice Guideline by the American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases and the European Association for the Study of the Liver. *Hepatology*. (2014) 60:715– 35. doi: 10.1002/hep.27210
- Dellatore P, Cheung M, Mahpour NY, Tawadros A, Rustgi VK. Clinical manifestations of hepatic encephalopathy. *Clin Liver Dis.* (2020) 24:189– 96. doi: 10.1016/j.cld.2020.01.010
- Córdoba J, Cabrera J, Lataif L, Penev P, Zee P, Blei AT. High prevalence of sleep disturbance in cirrhosis. *Hepatology.* (1998) 27:339–45. doi: 10.1002/hep.510270204
- Weissenborn K. Diagnosis of encephalopathy. *Digestion*. (1998) 59 Suppl 2:22–4. doi: 10.1159/000051415
- Leitinger M, Beniczky S, Rohracher A, Gardella E, Kalss G, Qerama E et al. Salzburg consensus criteria for non-convulsive status epilepticus—approach to clinical application. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2015) 49:158–63. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2015. 05.007
- Ficker DM, Westmoreland BF, Sharbrough FW. Epileptiform abnormalities in hepatic encephalopathy. J Clin Neurophysiol. (1997) 14:230–4. doi: 10.1097/00004691-19970500000008

- Alonso J, Córdoba J, Rovira A. Brain magnetic resonance in hepatic encephalopathy. *Semin Ultrasound CT MR.* (2014) 35:136–52. doi: 10.1053/j.sult.2013.09.008
- Bathla G, Hegde AN, MRI. and CT appearances in metabolic encephalopathies due to systemic diseases in adults. *Clin Radiol.* (2013) 68:545–54. doi: 10.1016/j.crad.2012.05.021
- Córdoba J, Raguer N, Flavià M, Vargas V, Jacas C, Alonso J et al. T2 hyperintensity along the cortico-spinal tract in cirrhosis relates to functional abnormalities. *Hepatology*. (2003) 38:1026–33. doi: 10.1053/jhep.2003.50406
- Neema M, Guss ZD, Stankiewicz JM, Arora A, Healy BC, Bakshi R. Normal findings on brain fluid-attenuated inversion recovery MR images at 3T. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol.* (2009) 30:911–6. doi: 10.3174/ajnr.A1514
- Kono Y, Sengoku R, Mitsumura H, Bono K, Sakuta K, Yamasaki M et al. Clinical characteristics associated with corticospinal tract hyperintensity on magnetic resonance imaging in patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *ClinNeurolNeurosurg.* (2014) 127:1–4. doi: 10.1016/j.clineuro.2014.09.011
- Kassubek J, Bretschneider V, Sperfeld AD. Corticospinal tract MRI hyperintensity in X-linked Charcot-Marie-Tooth Disease. J ClinNeurosci. (2005) 12:588–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jocn.2004.07.020
- Zhu R, Liu X, He Z. Widely spread corticospinal tracts lesions in a case of neuromyelitisoptica. *Clin Neurol Neurosurg.* (2017) 161:56– 8. doi: 10.1016/j.clineuro.2017.08.010
- Demaerel P, Wilms G, Verdru P, Carton H, Baert AL, MR. findings in globoid cell leucodystrophy. *Neuroradiology*. (1990) 32:520–2. doi: 10.1007/BF02426470
- Loes DJ, Fatemi A, Melhem ER, Gupte N, Bezman L, Moser HW et al. Analysis of MRI patterns aids prediction of progression in X-linked adrenoleukodystrophy. *Neurology.* (2003) 61:369– 74. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000079050.91337.83
- Pruvost-Robieux E, Yeung J, Sudacevschi V, Cordoliani Y, De Malherbe M, Pico F. Reversible corticospinal tract hyperintensities in neurologic Lyme disease. *Neurology*. (2016) 87:548–9. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000002913
- 27. Konagaya M, Iida M. A case of HTLV-1 associated myelopathy with diffuse white matter lesion of the frontal lobe and continuous lesion

of the pyramidal tract on cranial MRI. *Rinsho Shinkeigaku*. (1991) 31:875-7.

- Shi K, Shen J, Yue X. Primary central nervous system lymphoma with symmetrical pyramidal tract hyperintensity. *JAMA Neurol.* (2021) 78:876– 7. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2021.1165
- 29. Matsusue E, Kinoshita T, Ohama E, Ogawa T. Cerebral cortical and white matter lesions in chronic hepatic encephalopathy: MR-pathologic correlations. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol.* (2005) 26:347–51.
- Pujol A, Pujol J, Graus F, Rimola A, Peri J, Mercader JM, et al. Hyperintenseglobus pallidus on T1-weighted MRI in cirrhotic patients is associated with severity of liver failure. *Neurology*. (1993) 43:65– 9. doi: 10.1212/wnl.43.1_part_1.65
- Rovira A, Córdoba J, Sanpedro F, Grivé E, Rovira-Gols A, Alonso J. Normalization of T2 signal abnormalities in hemispheric white matter with liver transplant. *Neurology*. (2002) 59:335–41. doi: 10.1212/wnl.59.3.335

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Olivero, Gagliardi, Costamagna, Velardo, Magri, Triulzi, Conte, Comi, Corti and Meneri. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Case Report: Late-Onset Lennox-Gastaut Syndrome Treated With Stereotactic Electroencephalography-Guided Radiofrequency Thermocoagulation Before Craniotomy

Sixian Li¹, Xiaodong Cai¹, Chen Yao¹, Yuanqing Wang¹, Xiaohua Xiao¹, Huafeng Yang¹, Yi Yao² and Lei Chen^{3*}

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Fernando Cendes, State University of Campinas, Brazil

Reviewed by:

Christin Eltze, Great Ormond Street Hospital Children's Charity, United Kingdom Luca De Palma, Bambino Gesù Children's Hospital (IRCCS), Italy

> *Correspondence: Lei Chen leilei_25@126.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Epilepsy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 19 January 2022 Accepted: 20 May 2022 Published: 20 June 2022

Citation:

Li S, Cai X, Yao C, Wang Y, Xiao X, Yang H, Yao Y and Chen L (2022) Case Report: Late-Onset Lennox-Gastaut Syndrome Treated With Stereotactic Electroencephalography-Guided Radiofrequency Thermocoagulation Before Craniotomy. Front. Neurol. 13:857767. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2022.857767 ¹ Department of Neurosurgery, Shenzhen Second People's Hospital, The First Affiliated Hospital of Shenzhen University, Shenzhen, China, ² Department of Functional Neurosurgery, Xiamen Humanity Hospital, Xiamen, China, ³ Department of Neurology, West China Hospital in Sichuan University. Chengdu, China

The onset of Lennox-Gastaut syndrome (LGS), a severe epilepsy syndrome, is typically before 8 years of age. Late-onset LGS (with onset in adolescence and adulthood) is relatively rare clinically and has some differences from classical LGS. Herein, we describe the case of a patient with late-onset LGS and provide a literature review of such cases. The patient had focal epilepsy onset at 8 years of age. After a 9-year evolution, he suffered seizures of different types and had a diagnosis of late-onset LGS. Drug treatment was ineffective. Nothing was found on stereotactic electroencephalography (SEEG) and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) during the course of the disease. After the second presurgical evaluation, we found a suspicious focus on high-resolution structural MRI which was verified by SEEG at last. After SEEG-guided radiofrequency thermocoagulation (RFTC), his seizures were controlled, and his cognitive function and guality of living clearly improved. However, his seizures recurred 2 years later, and he underwent left occipital resection. Thereafter, his seizures have been controlled until now. This case emphasizes the importance of high-resolution structural MRI in the treatment of LGS. Furthermore, it suggests that late-onset LGS may be caused by focal lesions and evolve from focal epilepsy. Thus, characterizing the clinical symptoms and performing individualized electroencephalographic follow-up are both very important. Additionally, the clinical outcome in this case implies the value and limitations of RFTC in patients with epilepsy and a clear focal lesion. Moreover, this case further supports differences between late-onset and classical LGS in terms of clinical manifestation, cognitive changes, prognosis, and treatment.

Keywords: Case Report, refractory epilepsy, late-onset Lennox-Gastaut syndrome, stereotactic electroencephalography, radiofrequency thermocoagulation

INTRODUCTION

Lennox-Gastaut Syndrome (LGS) is a severe epilepsy syndrome, with onset typically before 8 years of age and comprising a variety of seizure types. LGS is often accompanied by specific changes on electroencephalography (EEG) and cognitive impairment. Herein, we describe a patient with late-onset LGS who had onset after 8 years of age. For a comprehensive analysis, previous cases of late-onset LGS were reviewed and compared to this case.

CASE PRESENTATION

Patient Information

A 19-year-old man first experienced a generalized seizure attack without any cause at 8 years of age. Subsequently, he sometimes complained of bright or colorful flashing lights, blurry vision, and distance changes in both visual fields before seizures, especially on the right side. The visual auras usually lasted several min and sometimes occurred alone. At 17 years of age, he experienced transient nodding attacks, frequently without an aura. At 18 years of age, dropping attacks occurred frequently, with accompanying gripped hands and slight forearm flexion. After the attacks, he could stand by himself without an aura or a memory. The nodding and dropping attacks could occur 2-10 times in 4-5 days and in a series. He was diagnosed with refractory epilepsy and underwent presurgical evaluation at another hospital. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) scans were considered negative, and he was monitored by stereotactic electroencephalography (SEEG) focusing on the temporal, parietal, and occipital (TPO) regions, especially on the left side, but without lateralization or localization. Although he underwent vagal nerve stimulation (VNS) using five types of antiepileptic drugs, there was no significant improvement. Thus, he was admitted to our hospital for further treatment.

Clinical Findings

His family, perinatal, and growth history, and physical examination results were normal. Wakeful background on video electroencephalography showed 9-10 Hz alpha rhythm in bilateral occipital regions. Interictal EEG showed generalized 2-2.5 Hz slow spike waves (SSWs) during wakefulness and generalized paroxysmal fast activities (GPFAs) during sleep. There were also multifocal independent spikes, especially in the bilateral occipital and posterior temporal regions where the left side was more predominant than the right. Compared with SSWs and occipital discharges, GPFA was more prominent, followed by occipital discharges. Epileptic spasms, tonic seizures, and atypical absence were recorded, which showed EEG onsets with a little localization value. MRI showed a suspiciously unclear gray-white matter boundary around the left calcarine sulcus (Figures 1, 2), which also showed low metabolism on positron emission tomography (Figure 1). Neuropsychological tests showed moderate cognitive impairment. No abnormalities were found on genetic testing and perimetry. Accordingly, the clinic diagnoses were as follows: refractory epilepsy, lateonset LGS, possible onset zone at the left occipital cortex, and postoperative VNS.

Therapeutic Intervention

We analyzed his previous SEEG even though the former hospital considered the SEEG result without lateralization or localization value and performed the VNS, but we found there were rhythmic discharges mainly in the left TPO region, which also had the most obviously electrical evolution during tonic and spasm seizures onset. Combining the imaging finding, we considered the seizure onset was most likely to be on the left TPO region and re-inserted six electrodes in total, of which five were focused on left TPO region and one was focused on the left hippocampus. During the SEEG monitoring, there were plentifully rhythmic interictal discharges in the left occipital region and higher frequency of fast activities during spasm and tonic seizures onset, which verified the left occipital lesion as the epileptogenic zone. Radiofrequency thermocoagulation (RFTC) was performed on this lesion and the surrounding region, with five electrodes and 17 contacts in total.

Follow-Up and Outcomes

Following the treatment with RFTC, he did not experience seizures for more than 1 year, but the right visual hemianopsia remained. There were a few spikes on EEG (only one during a 24-h test), and his cognition improved. However, he again experienced tonic seizures 2 years after the RFTC; thus, he underwent left occipital resection. The pathology indicated micro-malformation of cortical development (mMCD) (1, 2). As yet, he has remained seizure-free for 1 year following the occipitectomy.

DISCUSSION

The onset of LGS is typically before 8 years of age, with a peak at 4-5 years (3). Late-onset LGS, occurring in adolescents or adults (> 8 years old), is relatively rare and accounts for 10-15% of all LGS cases (4, 5). Thus, we collected data on all cases of lateonset LGS that have been reported since 1991; the 42 identified cases are summarized in Table 1 (6-13). The age of seizure onset ranged from 6 weeks to 28 years, while the age at LGS diagnosis ranged from 8 to 64 years, The lag time between seizure onset and LGS diagnosis is mostly due to ictal semiology and electroclinical findings not having been fulfilled, suggesting that electroclinical changes in LGS follow a gradual evolutionary process, as in this case. It generally takes 1-2 years from seizure onset to a definite diagnosis of LGS (14, 15) because of differences in etiology, clinical characteristics, and disease progression between patients. This emphasizes the importance of individual electroclinical follow-up for early diagnosis of LGS. Additionally, for patients with a definite LGS diagnosis, a retrospective analysis of the characteristics of their electroclinical evolution is necessary and useful for precise treatment.

Among the identified 42 cases of late-onset LGS, 13 showed chromosome variations. Of the 29 remaining cases, 17 showed normal cognition and had a disease course of 5–32 years, while 12 showed cognitive impairment (mild cognitive impairment in two cases) and a course of 5–25 years. This indicates that unlike early-onset LGS, cognitive function, and daily viability are relatively preserved in late-onset LGS; additionally, cognitive function is







not significantly related to disease course (4, 5, 8). This case had a disease course of 9 years, but the patient's cognitive function had only moderately declined. Furthermore, neurological examination results were mentioned in 38 of the 42 cases, among which four patients had abnormal neurological signs related to intracranial infection, cerebral infarction, perinatal injury, etc. Additionally, the EEG background was mentioned in 16 of the 42 cases, among which 10 showed normal EEG background, and six showed nonspecific slow waves. These findings suggest that late-onset LGS mostly shows no positive neurological signs or special abnormalities in the EEG background, as observed in this case.

Among the 42 cases, MRI findings were negative in 17, nonspecific or subcortical changes were found in 12, local cortical lesions were found in 5, and MRI findings were not mentioned in the remaining 8, suggesting that the cortical

TABLE 1 | Clinical characteristics, EEG and imaging findings, and other case details in 42 cases of late-onset Lennox-Gastaut Syndrome (LGS).

NO.	Sex	Seizure onset (age, y)	Diagnosis (age, y)	Seizure types	Cognition	Living independently	Neurologic exam	EEG background	EEG epileptiform discharges	Imaging	Etiology	AEDS(≥3)	VNS	Prognosis
1	М	14	22	T, AA, GTC	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	GPFA, SSWs	Ν	/	Y	N	/
2	М	12	17	T, AA, P	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	GPFA, SSWs, MS	Ν	/	Y	Ν	/
3	М	17	46	T, P	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	GPFA, SSWs, MS	Ν	/	Υ	Ν	/
4	М	6w	8	A, AA, T	AB	AB	VI	/	GPFA, SSWs, MS	/	Infection	Υ	Ν	/
5	М	18m	8	Α, Τ	AB	AB	/	/	GPFA, SSWs, MS	/	/	Y	Ν	Mostly controlled
6	F	9	19	A, GTC	mild	AB	/	Slow	SSWs	/	/	Y	Y	Mostly controlled
7	F	28	28	AA, GTC	mild	AB	LH	Slow	SSWs	Right hemispheric stroke	Stroke	Y	Y	/
8	F	7	32	A, P, SI	AB	AB	/	Slow	SSWs	/	/	Y	Υ	/
9	F	13	27	A, T, AA, GTC	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	GPFA, SSWs, GS	Ν	/	Y	Ν	/
10	F	12	49	T, AA, A, GTC	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	GPFA, SSWs, GS	Ν	/	Υ	Ν	/
11	М	17	61	T, AA, M, GTC	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	GPFA, SSWs, GS	Ν	/	Y	Ν	/
12	F	12	44	T, AA, A, GTC	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	GPFA, SSWs, GS	Ν	/	Υ	Ν	/
13	F	16	41	T, A, M, GTC	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	GPFA, SSWs, GS	Ν	/	Υ	Ν	/
14	М	11	40	T, AA, A, GTC	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	GPFA, SSWs, GS	Ν	/	Y	Ν	/
15	F	17	22	T, AA, A, GTC	Ν	Ν	Ν	Slow	GPFA, SSWs, GS	Ν	/	Υ	Ν	/
16	М	13	26	T, AA, A, GTC	Ν	Ν	Ν	Slow	GPFA, SSWs, GS	Ν	/	Υ	Ν	/
17	/	20	20	T, AA, A, M, GTC	AB	/	/	/	GPFA, SSWs, MS	Ν	Brain injury	Y	Ν	/
18	F	16	16	T, A, GTC	Ν	/	Ν	/	GPFA, SSWs, GS	Low-lying cerebellar tonsils just below the foramen magnum level	/	Y	Y	Encephalopath DS
19	Μ	5	32	T, AA, A, GTC	Ν	/	Ν	/	GPFA, SSWs, GS	Small probable arachnoid cyst in the left frontal region	/	Y	Y	DS
20	F	9	14	T, AA, A, M, GTC	AB	/	Ν	/	GPFA, SSWs, GS	Modest ventricular dilatation	ALL with MTX	Y	Ν	Encephalopath DS
21	F	15	26	T, AA, A, M, GTC	Ν	/	Ν	/	GPFA, SSWs, GS	Ν	/	Y	Y	Encephalopath DS, SUDEP
22	М	19	19	T, A, GTC	AB	/	Ν	/	GPFA, SSWs, GS	Ν	Infection	Y	Ν	DS
23	F	15	15	T, AA, A, GTC	AB	/	Ν	/	GPFA, SSWs, GS	Single non-enhancing 6 mm focus in the paramedian inferior left cerebellum	/	Y	Y	VNS partially effective, DS
24	F	11	11	T, AA, A, GTC	Ν	/	Ν	/	GPFA, SSWs, GS	Gray matter of heterotopia with transmantle dysplasia	ALL with MTX; MCD	Y	Y	Encephalopath DS

Late Onset LGS and Treatment

Li et al.

TABLE 1 | Continued

NO.	Sex	Seizure onset (age, y)	Diagnosis (age, y)	Seizure types	Cognition	Living independently	Neurologic exam	EEG background	EEG epileptiform discharges	Imaging	Etiology	AEDS(≥3)	VNS	Prognosis
25	F	11	11	T, AA, A, GTC	Ν	/	Ν	/	GPFA, SSWs, GS	Cerebellar atrophy	/	Y	Y	Encephalopathy DS
26	F	11	11	T, A, GTC	AB	/	Ν	/	GPFA, SSWs, GS	Pachygyria, diffuse bilateral lissencephaly and band heterotopia	MCD	Y	Y	DS
27	F	10	10	T, AA, A, M, GTC	AB	/	Ν	/	GPFA, SSWs, GS	Mild cerebellar and cortical cerebral atrophy	/	Y	Ν	DS
28	F	14	64	AA, GTC, A	Ν	/	Ν	Ν	GPFA, SSWs, MS	Ν	/	Y	Ν	/
29	F	9	27	T, AA	AB	/	Ν	/	GPFA, SSWs	Moderate diffuse atrophy	trisomy 21	Y	Ν	Weekly seizures, SUDEP
30	F	8	12	T, AA, A	AB	/	Ν	/	GPFA, SSWs	/	trisomy 21	Y	Ν	DS
31	Μ	11	14	T, AA, A	AB	/	Ν	/	GPFA, SSWs	Multiple small subcortical calcification	trisomy 21	Υ	Ν	DS
32	F	12	30	T, AA	AB	/	Ν	/	GPFA, SSWs	Ν	trisomy 21	Y	Ν	Seizures decreased
33	F	8	33	AA, A	AB	/	Ν	/	GPFA, SSWs	/	trisomy 21	Y	Ν	Weekly seizures, SUDEP
34	Μ	5	30	T, GTC	AB	/	LH	/	GPFA, SSWs	/	trisomy 21	Y	Ν	DS
35	Μ	12	17	T, AA	AB	/	Ν	/	GPFA, SSWs	Mild diffuse atrophy	trisomy 21	Y	Ν	DS
36	Μ	6	36	T, AA, P, GTC	AB	/	Ν	/	GPFA, SSWs	/	trisomy 21	Υ	Ν	DS
37	Μ	16	23	T, AA, GTC	AB	/	Ν	/	GPFA, SSWs	Moderate diffuse atrophy	trisomy 21	Y	Ν	DS
38	Μ	11	12	T, M, P	AB	/	Ν	/	GPFA, SSWs	Mild diffuse atrophy	trisomy 21	Y	Ν	DS
39	Μ	7	11	T, AA, A, GTC	AB	/	Ν	/	GPFA, SSWs	Ν	trisomy 21	Y	Ν	Weekly or monthly seizures
40	М	10	43	Т	AB	/	Ν	/	GPFA, SSWs, MS	Dilation cortical sulci, calcification globus pallidus	trisomy 21	Y	Ν	DS
41	Μ	7	34	T, AA	AB	/	Ν	/	GPFA, SSWs	Mild diffuse atrophy	trisomy 21	Υ	Ν	DS
42	М	9	30	T, AA, GTC	AB	/	slight cerebellar sign	Slow	GPFA, SSWs, MS	Asymmetrical cystic lesions in bilateral parietooccipital regions	Perinatal injury	/	/	/

/, information not available; M, male; F, female; y, year; w, week; m, month; N, normal; AB, abnormal; A, atonic; AA, atypical absence; T, tonic; IS, infantile spasm; GTC, generalized tonic-clonic; P, partial; SI, startle induced; M, myoclonic; VI, visual impairment; LH, left hemiparesis; GPFA, generalized paroxysmal fast activity; SSWs, slow spike waves; MS, multifocal spikes; GS, generalized spike; ALL, acute lymphoblastic leukemia; MTX, methotrexate; MCD, malformations of cortical development; AEDs, antiepileptic drugs; VNS, vagal nerve stimulation; Y, yes, N, none; SUDEP, sudden unexpected death in epilepsy; DS, daily seizures.

Li et al.

structure in late-onset LGS mostly showed no specific changes. However, this substantially differs from previous reports on classical LGS, which indicate that more than 2/3 of patients show cortical structural lesions on MRI (3, 16), including focal, multifocal, and diffuse abnormalities, with static pathological lesions predominating (e.g., focal cortical dysplasia), while progressive or metabolic lesions are relatively rare (17, 18). This may reflect a difference between early- and late-onset LGS, but it may also be related to a case inclusion bias and skill in image reading; thus, this potential distinction needs to be confirmed by accumulating more cases. However, the progression of neuroimaging technology and the quality of MRI scans may also contribute to focal structural lesion identification. In this case, nothing was found in the initial clinical work-up, and the epileptic focus was found during the re-evaluation process by high-resolution structural MRI and later confirmed by SEEG and RFTC, indicating the important role of high-resolution structural MRI in the etiological diagnosis and treatment of late-onset LGS. Routine MRI should include three-dimensional T1, T2 FLAIR, and coronal thin-layer scanning of the long axis of the vertical hippocampus (3).

In the 29 cases without chromosome variations, the prognosis was not mentioned in 6 cases, 11 cases had independent viability, 2 cases had well-controlled seizures, and the remaining 10 cases had a poor prognosis, including frequent seizures, encephalopathy, sudden unexpected death in epilepsy, etc. This indicates that the prognosis of late-onset patients is relatively good. Furthermore, although most of the 42 identified cases had tried more than three antiepileptic drugs, none underwent surgery, which may be related to an unclear etiology. In total, 10 cases had tried VNS, which was clearly mentioned as effective in only 1 case, suggesting that VNS has a poor effect on late-onset LGS, as observed in this case, which showed obvious improvement after surgery, suggesting the effectiveness and necessity of early surgery for patients with late-onset LGS with definite focal lesions (15, 18).

For 1 year after the RFTC, not only were the patient's seizures well controlled, but his cognition improved and the EEG spikes "calmed down" gradually for 2 years. Such changes were first mentioned in 1979 (19). These observations not only suggest that electroclinical changes in late-onset LGS are the result of secondary alterations in brain networks (20), but also confirm the efficacy of RFTC. However, his seizure recurred and he eventually underwent left occipital resection and has been seizure free until now. This indicated the limited efficacy and scope of RFTC

REFERENCES

- Piao YS, Lu DH, Chen L, Liu J, Wang W, Liu L, et al. Neuropathological findings in intractable epilepsy: 435 Chinese cases. *Brain Pathol.* (2010) 20:902–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1750-3639.2010.00386.x
- Blumcke I, Spreafico R, Haaker G, Coras R. Histopathological findings in brain tissue obtained during epilepsy surgery. *N Engl J Med.* (2017) 377:1648– 56. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1703784

compared to craniotomy in lesion damage and pathological network disconnection in some cases with accurate lesion targets, which may be the main reason explaining the low rate of seizurefree cases with RFTC (21). However, the improvement of clinical outcomes after RFTC may further suggest the correct location of epileptic foci and good prognosis after craniotomy, as in this case. Nevertheless, RFTC is superior in some small foci that can be located precisely and destroyed completely but are inaccessible by surgery, and has the advantages of less damage to brain function, fewer complications, and faster postoperative recovery (22, 23).

In summary, LGS, with onset after 8 years of age known as late-onset LGS, may be caused by focal lesions. Individualized follow-up is necessary. Late-onset LGS and classical LGS have some differences in terms of clinical manifestation, cognitive changes, prognosis, and treatment. MRI is important in determining the etiology of late-onset LGS and is useful for early treatment. Comparing to craniotomy, RFTC is limited and less effective in lesion damage. However, clinical improvement after RFTC would support the appropriate identification of seizure onset zone location indicated by SEEG results and therefore help with surgical plan for cortical resection.

PATIENT PERSPECTIVE

We spent a lot of money and time in the treatment of our son's disease before the second evaluation. After the RFTC, our son's seizures were miraculously controlled and he could go to school again. This was beyond our expectations.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

ETHICS STATEMENT

Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

- Bourgeois BF, Douglass LM, Sankar R. Lennox-Gastaut syndrome: a consensus approach to differential diagnosis. Epilepsia. (2014) 55 (Suppl 4):4–9. doi: 10.1111/epi.12567
- Goldsmith IL, Zupanc ML, Buchhalter JR. Long-term seizure outcome in 74 patients with Lennox-Gastaut syndrome: effects of incorporating MRI head imaging in defining the cryptogenic subgroup. *Epilepsia*. (2000) 41:395–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1157.2000.tb00 179.x

- Asadi-Pooya AA, Sharifzade M. Lennox-Gastaut syndrome in south Iran: electro-clinical manifestations. *Seizure*. (2012) 21:760–3. doi: 10.1016/j.seizure.2012.08.003
- Park KM, Hur YJ, Kim SE. Brainstem dysfunction in patients with lateonset Lennox-Gastaut syndrome: voxel-based morphometry and tractbased spatial statistics study. *Ann Indian Acad Neurol.* (2016) 19:518– 22. doi: 10.4103/0972-2327.194462
- Piña-Garza JE, Chung S, Montouris GD, Radtke RA, Resnick T, Wechsler RT. Challenges in identifying Lennox-Gastaut syndrome in adults: a case series illustrating its changing nature. *Epilepsy Behav Case Rep.* (2016) 5:38– 43. doi: 10.1016/j.ebcr.2016.01.004
- Chourasia N, Maheshwari A, Kalamangalam G. Cognitive and functional status in late-onset Lennox-Gastaut syndrome: variation on a classic phenotype. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2020) 102:106660. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2019.106660
- Trevisol-Bittencourt PC, Sander JW. [Lennox-Gastaut syndrome of late onset? Report of a case] Arq Neuropsiquiatr. (1990) 48:520-4. doi: 10.1590/S0004-282X1990000400020
- Smith KM, Britton JW, Cascino GD. Late-onset Lennox-Gastaut syndrome: diagnostic evaluation and outcome. *Neurol Clin Pract.* (2018) 8:397– 402. doi: 10.1212/CPJ.00000000000527
- Benbadis SR, Dinner DS. Lennox-Gastaut syndrome in the elderly? Clin Electroencephalogr. (1994) 25:142–7. doi: 10.1177/155005949402500406
- Ferlazzo E, Adjien CK, Guerrini R, Calarese T, Crespel A, Elia M, et al. Lennox-Gastaut syndrome with late-onset and prominent reflex seizures in trisomy 21 patients. *Epilepsia*. (2009) 50:1587–95. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2008.01944.x
- Ono T, Ishii T. Multicystic encephalomalacia in an adult case of Lennox-Gastaut syndrome: a case report. *Jpn J Psychiatry Neurol.* (1991) 45:435–6. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1819.1991.tb02513.x
- 14. Al-Banji MH, Zahr DK, Jan MM. Lennox-Gastaut syndrome. *BMC Neurosci.* (2015) 20:207–12. doi: 10.17712/nsj.2015.3.20140677
- Resnick T, Sheth RD. Early diagnosis and treatment of Lennox-Gastaut Syndrome. J Child Neurol. (2017) 32:947–55. doi: 10.1177/0883073817714394
- 16. Panayiotopoulos CP. *The Epilepsies: Seizures, Syndromes and Management.* Oxfordshire: Bladon Medical Publishing (2005).
- 17. Blume WT. Pathogenesis of Lennox-Gastaut syndrome: considerations and hypotheses. *Epileptic Disord*. (2001) 3:183–96.

- Asadi-Pooya AA. Lennox-Gastaut syndrome: a comprehensive review. Neurol Sci. (2018) 39:403–14. doi: 10.1007/s10072-017-3188-y
- Angelini L, Broggi G, Riva D, Lazzaro Solero C, A case of Lennox-Gastaut syndrome successfully treated by removal of a parietotemporal astrocytoma. *Epilsia.* (1979) 20:665–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1157.1979.tb04850.x
- Archer JS, Warren AE, Stagnitti MR, Masterton RA, Abbott DF, Jackson GD. Lennox-Gastaut syndrome and phenotype: secondary network epilepsies. *Epilepsia*. (2014) 55:1245–54. doi: 10.1111/epi.12682
- Bourdillon P, Cucherat M, Isnard J, Ostrowsky-Coste K, Catenoix H, Guénot M, et al. Stereo-electroencephalography-guided radiofrequency thermocoagulation in patients with focal epilepsy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Epilepsia*. (2018) 59:2296–304. doi: 10.1111/epi.14584
- Cossu M, Cardinale F, Casaceli G, Castana L, Consales A, D'Orio P, et al. Stereo-EEG-guided radiofrequency thermocoagulations. *Epilepsia*. (2017) 58 (Suppl 1):66–72. doi: 10.1111/epi.13687
- Youngerman BE, Khan FA, McKhann GM. Stereoelectroencephalography in epilepsy, cognitive neurophysiology, and psychiatric disease: safety, efficacy, and place in therapy. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat.* (2019) 15:1701– 16. doi: 10.2147/NDT.S177804

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Li, Cai, Yao, Wang, Xiao, Yang, Yao and Chen. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Seizures and Consciousness Disorder Secondary to Intracranial Hypotension After Spinal Surgery: A Case Report and Literature Review

Yuqing Lv¹ and Hui Xiang^{2*}

¹ Department of Gastroenterology, Zhongnan Hospital of Wuhan University, Wuhan, China, ² Department of Critical Care Medicine, Zhongnan Hospital of Wuhan University, Wuhan, China

Rationale: Cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) leakage is a common condition after spinal surgery and is also the most common cause of intracranial hypotension. Intracranial hypotension (IH) is typically characterized by an orthostatic headache with associated nausea, vomiting, tinnitus, vertigo, hypoacusis, neck stiffness, and photophobia. There have been limited case reports describing surgery-associated IH presenting with seizures and disorder of consciousness. Due to the atypia of symptoms, these clinical manifestations are usually ignored or even misdiagnosed. As a result, clinicians face a significant challenge in detecting IH early and understanding its various clinical presentations. Meanwhile, we summarize the cases of IH presenting as seizures in recent years, including its clinical characteristics and effective treatment, which will be very helpful for the early diagnosis of IH.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Rani Sarkis, Brigham and Women's Hospital and Harvard Medical School, United States

Reviewed by:

Farzad Fateĥi, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Iran Sandipan Pati, University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston, United States

> *Correspondence: Hui Xiang xianghuisky@163.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Epilepsy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 19 April 2022 Accepted: 02 June 2022 Published: 27 June 2022

Citation:

Lv Y and Xiang H (2022) Seizures and Consciousness Disorder Secondary to Intracranial Hypotension After Spinal Surgery: A Case Report and Literature Review. Front. Neurol. 13:923529. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2022.923529 **Patient concerns:** A 72-year-old Chinese male patient developed status epilepticus, a disorder of consciousness, and quadriplegia when he finished spinal surgery, although he had no previous seizures or any seizure risk factors.

Diagnosis: After MRI and CT examination, subdural hygromas were found under both sides of the skull, and combined with the clinical manifestations of the patient, intracranial hypotension due to cerebrospinal fluid leakage was diagnosed.

Interventions: In the early stage, we carried out strict perioperative critical care for the patient. Trendelenburg position was conducted to relieve intracranial hypotension. The dural repair surgery was performed after the diagnosis of CSF leakage.

Outcomes: Seizures in the patient were resolved. Three months after discharge, he was gradually returning to normal life.

Lessons: One possible cause of unexplained seizures and disorder of consciousness after spinal surgery is cerebrospinal fluid leakage associated with intracranial hypotension syndrome. Trendelenburg position and dural repair surgery are effective ways to relieve intracranial hypotension and associated symptoms. Better awareness of the association between IH (intracranial hypotension) and seizures may help us improve early recognition of the syndrome.

Keywords: seizure, intracranial hypotension, status epilepticus, cerebrospinal fluid leakage, spinal surgery, critical care

INTRODUCTION

The syndrome of intracranial hypotension has been increasingly diagnosed since the introduction of magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), and its incidence is now about 5 per 1,00,000 of the population (1). Cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) leakage is the most common cause of intracranial hypotension. Defects along the dura (including tears and fistulas), leading to CSF leakage, can be congenital and traumatic in etiology (2), with surgery being the most common traumatic cause. Intracranial hypotension (IH) typically presents with a postural headache with associated nausea, vomiting, tinnitus, vertigo, hypoacusis, neck stiffness, and photophobia (2–5), while seizures and the disorder of consciousness are rare. Therefore, the disorder of consciousness and seizures after spinal surgery are of concern because they may be associated with intracranial hypotension caused by cerebrospinal fluid leakage.

ETHICS STATEMENTS

Informed written consent was obtained from the patient's son after the nature of the study had been fully explained to them. The patient's son provided informed consent for the publication of the case.

CASE PRESENTATION

A 72-year-old Chinese male patient developed seizures, disorder of consciousness, and quadriplegia when he finished spinal surgery. Due to 3 years of pain and numbness in both lower limbs, he underwent spinal surgery, including L3/4/5 posterior decompression, interbody fusion, and internal fixation, plus L2/3 left lamina decompression. His medical history was significant hypertension for about 8 years and he usually took amlodipine, an oral antihypertensive drug. Therefore, his blood pressure was well-controlled. He had no previous seizures or any seizure risk factors.

The operation went smoothly and the patient soon regained consciousness. Then, the endotracheal tube was safely removed. In the surgical resuscitation room, the patient complained of itchy skin and generalized clonic seizures, which became progressively worse, characterized by bilateral clonic movements in the upper and lower limbs. Profound tachycardia and hypertension accompanied the spell. Therefore, the patient was transferred to the intensive care unit (ICU) immediately and tracheal intubation was performed instantly. Subsequently, consciousness disturbance occurred with blood oxygen saturation declining, and the ECG (electrocardiograph) monitor displayed that there was an atrial fibrillation rhythm and it quickly developed into ventricular fibrillation. He was given timely shock defibrillation, after which sinus rhythm was regained, with Norepinephrine maintaining blood pressure. Meanwhile, the emergency blood gas analysis suggested a pH of 6.9 and a pCO_2 of 95 mmHg. For emergency seizure control, intravenous midazolam was given. In addition, an extremely high level of creatine kinase and myohemoglobin was found in his blood test, which was thought to be the result of a violent convulsion. We gave the patient rocuronium bromide, a muscle relaxant, to prevent further muscle damage.

An emergency brain CT (computerized tomography) was conducted, suggesting that the space under the inner plate of the skull was widened on both sides, which was considered a subdural effusion (Figure 1). No obvious signs of cerebral hemorrhage and cerebral infarction were found. After first aid, we conducted target temperature management for the patient and implemented a hypothermia strategy to maintain its core temperature between 32 and 34°C. Levetiracetam and midazolam were added to abort seizures as the disorder of consciousness and seizures persisted. Norepinephrine and dopamine were used to achieve a mean arterial pressure >65 mmHg, with a maximum of 1 μ g/kg/min for norepinephrine and 15 μ g/kg/min for dopamine. Blood oxygen saturation fluctuated around 85% at pure oxygen concentration due to the presence of refractory hypoxemia. On the second day of ICU admission, he was given a tracheostomy and ventilator-assisted ventilation to maintain oxygen saturation >94% and pCO₂ between 35 and 45 mmHg. Given his lack of gastrointestinal hemorrhage and intestinal dysfunction, enteral nutrition was administered within 48 h, along with insulin to keep his blood sugar at 8-10 mmol/L.

Three days after the symptom onset, the use of vasoactive agents and sedatives such as midazolam were suspended, and a significant improvement in convulsions was observed, as well as blood oxygen saturation was maintained above 94% at 35 oxygen concentration, which was an indication that respiration and epilepsy were getting better. Simultaneously, blood pressure also returned to normal, at around 140/60 mmHg, thus the use of epinephrine was interrupted. As the patient's condition stabilized, we performed an EEG for 24 h, which revealed a diffuse slow waves background with a large number of fast waves, but we did not pick up the epileptic waves. Whereas, we observed that more than 350 ml of hemorrhagic fluid could be drained from the drainage tube of the patient's waist wound every day, and he was still in a comatose state without an obvious response to pain stimuli. We reviewed the blood concentration of valproate and it was in the normal range. A CT scan of the brain was also reviewed, indicating there was mild cerebral edema and ventricular shrinkage. The existence of cerebrospinal fluid leakage was highly suspected and it was considered that the patient's consciousness disturbance and epileptic seizure might be related to it because it can lead to intracranial hypotension. We adopted a Trendelenburg position to prevent the excessive outflow of cerebrospinal fluid. Sure enough, after changing the patient's position, his disturbance of consciousness improved. Simultaneously, he was able to respond to verbal stimuli and partially follow movements. Over the next few days, his cerebrospinal fluid drainage gradually decreased to about 200 ml per day.

Abbreviations: IH, intracranial hypotension; CSF, cerebrospinal fluid; SE, status epilepticus; ECG, electrocardiograph; PH, pondus hydrogenii; PCO₂, partial pressure of carbon dioxide; MRI, magnetic resonance imaging; MR, magnetic resonance; ICU, intensive care unit; CT, computerized tomography; ICP, intracranial pressure; PRES, posterior reversible encephalopathy syndrome.





On day 10, the patient was successfully removed from the ventilator, so he underwent MRI and enhanced MRI of his brain and spinal cord, revealing evidence of bilateral subdural effusion and mild inferior hernia of the bilateral cerebellar tonsil, bilateral ventricles narrowing, pachymeningeal enhancement, which is consistent with intracranial hypotension. Several tiny hemorrhagic foci were also in the left cerebellar hemisphere and right temporal lobe. Spinal MRI demonstrated postoperative changes of the lumbar spine, lumbosacral fascia edema, and fluid collection between the intrathecal site and the soft tissue; however it did not identify the site of cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) leakage (Figure 2). These changes in the brain were indicative of typical intracranial hypotension, such as subdural effusion, mild inferior hernia of the bilateral cerebellar tonsil, ventricular narrowing, and pachymeningeal enhancement which could be caused by cerebrospinal fluid leakage.

Taking all the evidence together, we strongly suspected that he had a cerebrospinal fluid leak. Therefore, we contacted an orthopedic surgeon for dural repair and wound debridement and a drainage tube was placed in the operation area. During the operation, CSF leakage was proved to be present. Thus, intracranial hypotension due to cerebrospinal fluid leakage secondary to intraoperative dural tear was diagnosed.

After surgery, we still kept the Trendelenburg position. On the other hand, a neuro-rehabilitation doctor was brought in for muscle massage and acupuncture. Over the next few days, he gradually regained consciousness and was able to follow instructions better, accompanied by a gradual reduction of clear to bloody spinal drainage fluid. At the same time, his upper body strength was gradually recovering to level 2. The drainage tube was removed when the drainage fluid was <50 ml for more than 2 days. As the condition gradually improved, the patient's family requested that he be transferred back to the local hospital





for further rehabilitation. We followed him up for 3 months. A month after discharge, with his independent diet and defecation, we learned that he had complete sensation in his limbs and level 3 strength in his lower extremities and that his trachea incision had been fully healed and closed. The only problem was the gastrointestinal disturbance, with bloating and constipation, which may be related to the neurotic disorder caused by the operation. Three months after discharge, his gastrointestinal function recovered well and he could walk about 50 m on a flat ground alone.

DISCUSSION

The syndrome of intracranial hypotension (IH) is caused by the leakage of CSF (cerebrospinal fluid) from the thecal sac within or along the spinal canal (3, 4). It is typically manifested by orthostatic headaches that may be associated with one or more of several other symptoms, including pain or stiffness of the neck, nausea, emesis, horizontal diplopia, dizziness, changes in hearing, visual blurring or visual field cuts, photophobia, interscapular pain, and occasionally face numbness or weakness or radicular upper-limb symptoms (5). Seizures caused by IH have also been observed in some rare clinical cases (6, 7). If the leakage can be arrested, it is potentially curable (3, 4, 8).

The most characteristic features of IH on intracranial MR (magnetic resonance) imaging include diffuse pachymeningeal enhancement and "brain sag" (9, 10). Sagging of the brain can cause a subdural hematoma or hygroma, kinking of the midbrain and pons toward the clivus, lessening of the distance (e.g.,) from the optic chiasm to the pituitary gland, and tension on the cranial nerves (3). Other features include dural contrast enhancement and enlargement of the pituitary gland. Homogenous contrast enhancement of the dura mater is the most sensitive sign (3).

Intracranial hypotension is usually treated with a progressive approach. Typically, headaches can be resolved with conservative management, which includes hydration and strict bed rest, allowing for relief of CSF pressure at the site of leakage and thus healing the underlying defect. Caffeine administered intravenously or orally is also effective for post-lumbar puncture IH. If a conservative approach is not effective, epidural blood patches, epidural saline infusion, and surgical correction should be considered (3, 4, 11). However, blood patches are more controversial when used for surgery-related dural leaks, although suggested to be safe in a case series because they can cause seizures and respiratory distress, or other related complications (12). Although the specific mechanism by which IH may cause seizure development and convulsive SE has not been fully elucidated, it has been proposed that IH may cause meningeal irritation or traction on cortical structures of the brain, and finally, result in seizures (6, 13). In addition, the alterations of intracranial pressure (ICP) may result in acute changes in cerebral blood flow, leading to seizure generation (14).

Intracranial hypotension presents in a variety of ways; however, reports of seizures secondary to IH are rare. We summarize the cases of IH presenting as seizures in recent years, including its clinical characteristics and effective treatment (Table 1). Gilmour et al. (7) describe a 71-year-old woman with chronic back pain who developed convulsive status epilepticus immediately after scoliosis surgery. MRI was consistent with IH, there was no cortical vein thrombosis, presumably due to an intraoperative dural tear causing status epilepticus, and the seizure terminated after bed rest. Lin et al. (13) describe an individual who had multiple seizures after a thoracic laminectomy and had imaging findings consistent with IH. A thoracic laminotomy was performed on this patient and a dural tear was found and repaired. Chaudhary et al. (6) describe cases of spontaneous intracranial hypotension causing focal onset seizures and impairment of awareness. Other two reports describe patients with hydrocephalus and ventriculoperitoneal shunts who had intractable epilepsy caused by overdrainage (14, 15). Delgado-López et al. (16) present a case of posterior reversible encephalopathy syndrome (PRES) following laminectomy and fixation for L4-5 lumbar stenosis and spondylolisthesis, characterized by status epilepticus, which TABLE 1 | Summary of some reported cases of seizures secondary to intracranial hypotension (IH).

Article	Patient presentation	Seizure description	The cause of IH	Treatment
Gilmour et al. (7)	A 71-year-old woman with chronic back pain developed convulsive status epilepticus immediately after scoliosis surgery	It was characterized by bilateral clonic movements of her upper and lower extremities, with eyes open and a vertical upward tonic gaze deviation	An intraoperative dural tear secondary to elective redo-scoliosis surgery	Keep on strict bed rest
Lin et al. (13)	A 37-yr-old man with acute spinal cord compression at T9-10 because of pseudoarthritis developed generalized seizure after surgery	30 min postoperative generalized seizures lasting 15 s occurring every 10–15 min	Dural tear after laminectomy	Treated with midazolam, phenytoin, and dural tear repair
Chaudhary et al. (6)	A 60-year-old man who presented with a decreased level of consciousness developed a complex partial seizure involving left-sided facial twitching after the presentation	Focal motor-impaired awareness seizure with left-sided facial twitching	Small bilateral subdural hygromas	Treatment with a 20 cc blood patch in the lumbar spine
	A 37-year-old man who presented with a right-sided acute on chronic SDH which reaccumulated despite burr hole drainage, presenting with decreased level of consciousness	Focal impaired awareness and complex partial seizures	Chiropractic neck manipulation and trivial head trauma, potentially resulting in thoracic dural tear	A 20 cc autologous epidural blood patch was placed at the T12-L1 level
Delgado-López et al. (16)	An 82-year-old woman presented with a generalized tonic-clonic seizure after L4-5 laminectomy and decompression of the dural sac and origin of roots bilaterally	She developed transient hypotension for <1 min presented with a generalized tonic-clonic seizure that lasted 5 days	An unnoticed cerebrospinal fluid leakage secondary to surgery	Antiepileptic drugs, ventilators and other symptomatic support treatment
Pugliese et al. (17)	A 41-year-old woman presented a worsening of the headache and tonico-clonic seizures 7 days after epidural analgesia for a cesarean section	A worsening of the headache which had a gradual onset, was bilateral, pressure-like, with a postural component and tonico-clonic seizures with the left motor syndrome, mild right anisocoria, and rapid deterioration of the mental status	Inadvertent dural puncture during the epidural anesthesia	Treatment with support therapy followed by blood patch
Our report	A 72-year-old Chinese male patient developed seizures, disorder of consciousness, and quadriplegia when he finished spinal surgery	He developed itchy skin and generalized clonic seizures, characterized by bilateral clonic movements in the upper and lower limbs	Cerebrospinal fluid leakage secondary to the spinal surgery of L3/4/5 posterior decompression, interbody fusion, and internal fixation, plus L2/3 left lamina decompression	Treatment with support therapy, trendelenburg position, dural repair surgery, and traditional Chinese acupuncture and massage therapy

IH, intracranial hypotension; SDH, subdural hematomas.

is hypothesized by vasoconstriction, brain hypoperfusion, and cerebrospinal fluid. Pugliese et al. (17) report a case of a woman presenting headache and tonico-clonic seizures 7 days after epidural analgesia for a cesarean section. MRI showed alterations suggestive of the presence of intracranial hypotension (IH), as well as evidence of posterior reversible encephalopathy syndrome (PRES). They suggest that venous stagnation and hydrostatic edema, secondary to intracranial hypotension, probably played a crucial role in the pathogenesis of PRES. In our case, the patient developed seizures after spinal surgery, with imaging revealed bilateral subdural hygromas, which were thought to be related to intracranial hypotension syndrome. It is speculated that the existence of subdural hygromas may lead to the formation of hemorrhagic foci in brain, which felt to be acute, because of the pulling on the brain tissue. This may have caused the seizure due to the highly epileptogenic effect of blood. In addition, during the perioperative period, patients were given a large number of sedative drugs, such as midazolam, and whether these drugs are involved in the seizure is also a thoughtprovoking question.

Meanwhile, the patient did not develop typical postural headache symptoms but instead presented with a convulsive status epilepticus characterized by impaired limb movement and sensory function as well as impaired consciousness, which was also rare in previous reports. We adopted the Trendelenburg position treatment and a dural repair surgery, which proved to be very therapeutic. Gastrointestinal dysfunction occurred during the patient's subsequent recovery, and it is reasonable to speculate that this may be related to autonomic nervous dysfunction caused by the persistent epileptic state.

CONCLUSION

Unexplained seizures and disorder of consciousness after spinal surgery may be associated with cerebrospinal fluid leakage associated with intracranial hypotension syndrome. Trendelenburg position and dural repair surgery are effective ways to relieve intracranial hypotension and associated symptoms. Better awareness of the association between IH and seizures may help us improve early recognition of the syndrome.

REFERENCES

- Gordon N. Spontaneous intracranial hypotension. Dev Med Child Neurol. (2009) 51:932–5. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8749.2009.03514.x
- 2. Upadhyaya P, Ailani J. A review of spontaneous intracranial hypotension. *Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep.* (2019) 19:22. doi: 10.1007/s11910-019-0938-7
- Chan SM, Chodakiewitz YG, Maya MM, Schievink WI, Moser FG. Intracranial hypotension and cerebrospinal fluid leak. *Neuroimaging Clin N Am.* (2019) 29:213–26. doi: 10.1016/j.nic.2019.01.002
- Farb RI, Nicholson PJ, Peng PW, Massicotte EM, Lay C, Krings T, et al. Spontaneous intracranial hypotension: a systematic imaging approach for CSF leak localization and management based on MRI and digital subtraction myelography. *Am J Neuroradiol.* (2019) 40:745–53. doi: 10.3174/ajnr.A6016
- Mokri B. Spontaneous intracranial hypotension. Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep. (2001) 1:109–17. doi: 10.1007/s11910-001-0005-y
- Chaudhary N, Cooper P, Lownie SP, Ng W, Duggal N. Spontaneous intracranial hypotension: case series of rare clinical presentations. *Can J Neurol Sci.* (2011) 38:54–8. doi: 10.1017/S0317167100011070
- Gilmour GS, Scott J, Couillard P. Leaking the diagnosis: a case of convulsive status epilepticus due to intracranial hypotension. *Neurocrit Care.* (2019) 31:562–6. doi: 10.1007/s12028-019-00788-3
- Kranz PG, Malinzak MD, Amrhein TJ, Gray L. Update on the diagnosis and treatment of spontaneous intracranial hypotension. *Curr Pain Headache Rep.* (2017) 21:37. doi: 10.1007/s11916-017-0639-3
- Bond KM, Benson JC, Cutsforth-Gregory JK, Kim DK, Diehn FE, Carr CM. Spontaneous intracranial hypotension: atypical radiologic appearances, imaging mimickers, and clinical look-alikes. *Am J Neuroradiol.* (2020) 41:1339–47. doi: 10.3174/ajnr.A6637
- Rahman M, Bidari SS, Quisling RG, Friedman WA. Spontaneous intracranial hypotension: dilemmas in diagnosis. *Neurosurgery*. (2011) 69:4–14; discussion. doi: 10.1227/NEU.0b013e3182134399
- Paldino M, Mogilner AY, Tenner MS. Intracranial hypotension syndrome: a comprehensive review. *Neurosurg Focus.* (2003) 15:Ecp2. doi: 10.3171/foc.2003.15.6.8
- Seemiller J, Challagundla S, Taylor T, Zand R. Intrathecal blood injection: a case report of a rare complication of an epidural blood patch. *BMC Neurol.* (2020) 20:187. doi: 10.1186/s12883-020-01763-8

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

ETHICS STATEMENT

Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

YL wrote the manuscript. HX revised the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

- Lin SM, Tsou MY, Chan KH, Yin YC, Hsin ST, Liao WW, et al. Myoclonic seizure in the postanesthesia care unit after thoracic laminectomy. *Anesth Analg.* (2002) 95:777–9, table of contents. doi: 10.1213/00000539-200209000-00046
- Uchida D, Fujimoto A, Yamazoe T, Yamamoto T, Enoki H. Seizure frequency can be reduced by changing intracranial pressure: a case report in drug-resistant epilepsy. *Epilepsy Behav Case Rep.* (2018) 10:14– 7. doi: 10.1016/j.ebcr.2017.12.005
- Agrawal D, Durity FA. Seizure as a manifestation of intracranial hypotension in a shunted patient. *Pediatr Neurosurg.* (2006) 42:165-7. doi: 10.1159/000091860
- Delgado-López PD, Garcés-Pérez G, García-Carrasco J, Alonso-García E, Gómez-Menéndez AI, Martín-Alonso J. Posterior reversible encephalopathy syndrome with status epilepticus following surgery for lumbar stenosis and spondylolisthesis. *World Neurosurg.* (2018) 116:309–15. doi: 10.1016/j.wneu.2018.05.174
- Pugliese S, Finocchi V, Borgia ML, Nania C, Della Vella B, Pierallini A, et al. Intracranial hypotension and PRES: case report. *J Headache Pain*. (2010) 11:437–40. doi: 10.1007/s10194-010-0226-z

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Lv and Xiang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.


Case Report: Cognitive Assessment Before an Amnesic Seizure in Transient Epileptic Amnesia Syndrome

Coline Bouyer^{1*} and Bertrand de Toffol^{1,2}

¹ Service de neurologie Centre Hospitalier de Cayenne, Cayenne, France, ² CIC Inserm 1424 CH Cayenne, Cayenne, France

A patient with transient epileptic amnesia syndrome presented a clinically observable amnesic seizure immediately after a neuropsychological assessment. An hour and a half before the onset of the seizure, the patient progressively developed an isolated alteration of episodic memory. These data question the ictal/interictal distinction in this syndrome as well as the speed of propagation of an epileptic activity.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Fernando Cendes, State University of Campinas, Brazil

Reviewed by:

Christopher Butler, Imperial College London, United Kingdom Taha Gholipour, George Washington University, United States

*Correspondence: Coline Bouyer coline.bouyer@ch-cayenne.fr

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Epilepsy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 13 April 2022 Accepted: 09 June 2022 Published: 04 July 2022

Citation:

Bouyer C and de Toffol B (2022) Case Report: Cognitive Assessment Before an Amnesic Seizure in Transient Epileptic Amnesia Syndrome. Front. Neurol. 13:919706. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2022.919706 Keywords: epilepsy, memory, neuropsychology, transient epileptic amnesia (TEA), amnesic seizure

INTRODUCTION

Transient epileptic amnesia (TEA) is a mesial temporal epileptic syndrome for which the diagnostic criteria, defined by Zeman et al. (1), are: (1) A history of recurrent witnessed episodes of transient amnesia; (2) Cognitive functions other than memory judged to be intact during typical episodes by a reliable witness; (3) Evidence for a diagnosis of epilepsy based on one or more of the following: (a) Epileptiform abnormalities on electroencephalography; (b) The concurrent onset of other clinical features of epilepsy (e.g., lip-smacking, olfactory hallucinations); (c) A clear-cut response to anticonvulsant therapy.

A recent general review (2), based on a substantial patient cohort, concluded that TEA is a distinctive form of late-onset limbic epilepsy. Patients have recurrent episodes of transient amnesia, typically lasting for around 30 min, often when waking, frequently occurring at intervals of around 1 month. Other symptoms can occur, such as olfactory hallucinations (43% of the patients), repetitive questioning (57%) or motor automatisms (41%) (2). During the amnesic attacks, patients remain able to carry on a conversation and act appropriately (3), which suggests the preservation of cognitive functions (other than memory) such as attention, perception, language, and executive functions. Standard interictal neuropsychological assessments (NPA), which evaluate episodic memory on a short temporality, generally show normal performance (3, 4). The majority of patients report interictal memory impairment, specifically an accelerated long-term forgetting (ALF) and autobiographical amnesia (AbA). Thirty % of the patients mention a distinctive form of emotional lability (2). Specific NPA objectify patients' subjective complaint. They evaluate the ALF with a 1 h-delayed recall (5–7), a 24 h-delayed recall (8), a 1 week (or more) delayed recall (4, 9, 10). They test AbA with semi-structured interviews (11, 12). The condition of TEA syndrome is most often of unknown etiology and has a benign prognosis.

36

We report here the exceptional case of a well-characterized TEA patient who presented an amnesic attack in the immediate aftermath of an NPA. We can thus detail the appearance and



FIGURE 1 | 18 FDG PET scan coronal cut showing bilateral mesial temporal hypometabolism more pronounced on the left temporal lobe.

progression of subtle cognitive impairments 1 h and a half before the clinical seizure.

CASE DESCRIPTION

We report the case of a man who was 60 years old at the time of the diagnosis. He had been retired for 7 months and was house painter.

The patient came to see a neurologist for recurrent attacks:

- The first one happened four months before his retirement, during a period of overwork. While he was working, he suddenly felt disorientated, didn't know what he was doing.
- Two months later, he had a second attack when waking up. The patient describes the sensation of having a gray veil in front of his face. He felt lost, didn't know what he had to do or where he wanted to go.
- One month later, also while waking up, he had a third attack. Once again, he felt like having a gray veil in front of him and didn't know what he had to do. During the morning, while he was driving, his wife observed that he seemed haggard without any loss of contact or difficulty for driving.
- The next month, when waking up the day after Christmas, the patient felt disorientated and couldn't remember what had happened the day before.

FF	2-AVG Marine Marine Males all marine and a second s
F4	-AVG Independences and a second and a second and a second and a second a second a second a second a second a second
	LAVG
	AVG
02	AVG
Fa	AVG
14	ave
TO	AVG /www.uhawWyfallwyhwyfallyfallyfallyfallyfallyfallyfallyfal
Fp	1-AVG
	AVG
93-	AVG เป็นขึ้นปฏิภาพสุดขณะบาทการสารสารสารสารสารสารสารสารสารสารสารสารสา
P3	AVG
-7-A -400 T3-	I-AVG Wayneysynddyllan allen Ynnwyryn yn yn arnan yn arnan yn yn arnen yn arnen yn arnen yn arnen yn arnen arnen yn a VG AVG AVG Jarlan yn yn yn arnen yn derhyll yf alein annar arnen yn arnen yn arnen arnen yn arnen yn arnen arnen arnen AVG AVG
	persented with the second of the
Cz	๛๚๚๚๛๛๚๛๚๚๚๚๚๚๚๚๚๚๚๚๚๚๚๚๚๚๚๚๚๚๚๚๚๚๚๚๚
Pz	AVG
ECO	
FIGURE 2	EEG showing slow wave focus associated with spikes on the left temporal lobe.

TABLE 1 | Neuropsychological assessments.

		NPA 1	NPA 2	NPA 3	Cut of
		Score	Score	Score	
fental status					
MMSE (13)		29/30	28/30	30/30	27
Viemory					
Norking memory					
Digit Span Recall (WAIS IV) (19)	Total	11/19	14/19	13/19	5
Anterograde memory					
Verbal memory					
RL/RI-16 (15)		List A	List B	List C	
	Immediate Recall	16/16	16/16	16/16	13
	1st Free Recall	6/16	4/16**	8/16	5.16
	2 nd Free Recall	6/16*	7/16	6/16*	6.42
	3rd Free Recall	8/16	3/16**	10/16	7.93
	1st Total Recall	12/16*	8/16**	12/16*	12
	2 nd Total Recall	15/16	9/16**	13/16*	13
	3rd Total Recall	15/16	11/16**	14/16*	14
	Recognition	16/16	13/16*	16/16	
	20' delayed Free Recall	9/16	6/16**	8/16*	8.16
	20' delayed Total Recall	16/16	10/16**	15/16	14
	1 week DFR	0/16		2/16	
	1 week DTR	7/16		5/16	
	FR	0	0	0	
	Intrusions	free recall: 0 induced recall: 2	free recall: 5 induced recall: 14	free recall: 2 Induced recall: 5	
	Intrusions at 1 week	free recall: 0 induced recall: 7		free recall: 2 induced recall: 2	
ogical memory (MEM III) (14)	Immediate recall	7/19	1/19**	7/19	5
	Delayed recall	4/19*	1/19**	3/19**	5
	Recognition	22/30	19/30	15/30	C5
		C17-C25	C3-C9	≤C2	
Visual memory					
0/36 (18)	Total immediate recalls	24/30	15/30	22/30	9
	Delayed recall	9/10	3/10*	8/10	3
ace recognition (MEM III) (14)	Immediate recognition	9/19			5
	Delayed recognition	10/19			5
ey complex figure		9/36*	7/36*	12/36*	15
utobiographical memory					
EMPau (12, 23)					
pisodic Score	0–17 years old	4			0
	18–30 years old	0**			1.69
	Over 30 years old	0*			0.15
	5 last years	0*			0.19
	12 last months	4			2.29
obal Score	0-17 years old	7**			9.09
	18–30 years old	7**			9.11
	Over 30 years old	9*			8.275
	5 last years	6**			7.09
	12 last months	11			9.88
anguage					
enomination (21)	DO 80	80/80	79/80	80/80	

(Continued)

TABLE 1 | Continued

		NPA 1	NPA 2	NPA 3	Cut off
		Score	Score	Score	
Executive functions					
GREFEX Version (20)					
Fluency	Animals (2/)	32	25	33	18
	Letter P (2/)	23	26	23	10
Stroop	Interference — Denomination (sec)	95	60	47	90
TMT	B-A (sec)	34	26	17	120
Visuoconstruction					
Rey complex figure (17)	Туре	I	IV	IV	
	Score	27/36*	26/36*	30/36	29
Emotional state					
HADS (22)	Anxiety	8/21*	3/21	11/21*	8–10
	Depression	1/21	7/21	4/21	8–10

*Score below the pathological threshold or below -1.65 standard deviation; **score below -2 standard deviation.

NPA, Neuropsychological Assessment; MMSE, Mini Mental State Examination; RL/RI-16, Rappel libre/rappel indicé à 16 items; DFR, Delayed Free Recall; DTR, Delayed Total Recall; FR, False Recognition; C, Centile; TMT, Trail Making Test; HADS, Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale.

- A fifth episode happened 2 months later, he was shopping with his wife when he felt disorientated and didn't know what he had to do.

Three attacks appeared when the patient was waking up. During the attacks, the patient systematically had a confused look, as if he was lost, iterative questioned the people around him, but he was able to perform motor acts without error. There were no other temporal lobe epilepsy symptoms (such as olfactory hallucinations or motor automatisms) described by the patient or his wife. All these episodes lasted around 5 min with a post critical phase which could last from a few minutes to 1 h. During the post critical phase, the patient had memory impairment which seemed both retrograde-for example, after the acute phase of the first attack, he didn't remember if he had called his client the day before or not-and anterograde - his wife noted that he didn't correctly memorize information at post critical phase but she didn't notice any element of aphasia. The patient could remember that he had had a seizure because he did not feel well but he could not describe what he had done or said. Between the attacks, his wife observed some disturbance of autobiographical memory and an unusual emotionality. The patient had no more complaint.

Brain MRI, TEP-scan, video-EEG, spinal tap and NPA were performed. Clinical seizures were controlled with 100 mg lamotrigine per day.

Brain MRI was normal. PET scan showed bilateral hippocampal and parahippocampal hypometabolism (**Figure 1**) and video-EEG showed a slow wave focus associated with spikes under the left anterior and middle temporal electrodes especially during sleep (**Figure 2**). The spinal tap was normal. All known autoimmune antibodies were negative.

NEUROPSYCHOLOGICAL ASSESSMENTS

During each NPA, we evaluated the global cognitive efficiency with the MMSE (13). Anterograde verbal memory was evaluated using the logical memory from Weschler Memory Scale III (WMS-III, immediate and 30-min delayed recall, and recognition) (14) and the RL/RI-16 (immediate and 20-min delayed recall) (15). For logical memory subtest, the same two stories were presented to the patient for each NPA but we used three different lists of words to assess the RL/RI-16. These three lists are validated and considered as comparable (15, 16). Anterograde visual memory was assessed with the recall of the Rey-Osterrieth Complex Figure (17), the 10/36 spatial recall test (18) and the faces recognition test from the WMS-III. Verbal working memory was tested with the WAIS-IV digit span subtest (19). Executive functions were tested with Subtests from GREFEX battery (20). Visuoconstruction was assessed with the copy of Rey-Osterrieth Complex Figure. Language was evaluated with the DO 80 denomination test (21). Emotional state was controlled with the HADS (22). In addition, we assessed the Autobiographical memory with the TEMPau task (12, 23) during a second appointment for the first NPA. We also examined long-term consolidation with asking a 1-week delayed recall of the RL/RI-16 list of words to research an ALF. This evaluation is only a clinical observation because there are no norms for this task. We did not ask a 1-week delayed-recall for Logical Memory because of the impaired performance on 20-min delayed recall.

Three NPA were performed (summarized in **Table 1**). The tests were proposed in the same order during the three NPA (**Table 2**).

1. First NPA

The first NPA revealed a global preservation of cognitive functions on the standard evaluation, as it has been described in literature except for episodic memory. The RL/RI-16 showed an encoding impairment on the first total recall, and a slight retrieval difficulty but the middle term storage appeared normal. Delayed recall of the logical memory subtest, which requires recalling two stories presented only once, was impaired but delayed recognition remained normal. The patient said that this type of exercise had always been difficult for him. Visual memory appeared efficient except when the test required incident learning.

Furthermore, according to his complaint, the results suggest an ALF: the patient could not spontaneously recall any item of the RL/RI-16 list of words after 1 week, retrieved seven with help and proposed seven intrusions. The patient also presented an AbA. The impairment was more important for episodic memories which aligns with the literature data. We observed a U-distribution with a better performance for childhood episodic memories and for the past year (**Figure 3**). The detailed study of the profile showed that the past year episodic memories evoked by the patient concerned the last months and the last days before the evaluation. The patient could not report any episodic memory for the three interim periods (**Table 1**).

The score of Rey-Orsterrieth Complex Figure was impaired by slight disproportions and one omission but it did not constitute real visuoconstruction impairment.

Emotional state evaluation indicated anxiety manifestations.

In the end, we asked the patient to come again a year later for a new NPA.

2. Second NPA: during an acute phase

As agreed, the patient came 1 year later. He was still taking 100mg of lamotrigine per day. He only had one seizure since the first NPA. It had occurred 2 months before the second NPA, when waking up, and his wife observed the same disorientation and iterative questioning associated with some iterative deglutition movements.

During the interview, the patient was perfectly coherent and gave an informative speech. He did not mention any new complaint. He still reported an unusual emotionality and an AbA. These features did not disturb his daily functioning. There was no autonomy loss and he still managed his rental houses without difficulty. His wife agreed with this information.

The assessment revealed a preservation of global cognitive efficiency. Language, executive functions and working memory were maintained. In contrast, verbal episodic memory was significantly impaired on the RL/RI-16, more than during the first NPA: all the scores were impaired and below two standard deviations. The repetition of immediate recalls, during which the missing items are recalled by the examiner, didn't significantly improve the scores so we could notice an encoding impairment. Furthermore, the patient gave 19 intrusions. Immediate recognition was also impaired. Immediate recall of logical memory subtest was substantially impaired whereas
 TABLE 2 | Order of tests administration.

Order	Test	Estimated duration (minutes)
1.	MMSE	10
2.	RL/RI-16: - Immédiate recall - 1st, 2nd, and 3rd recall - Immediate recognition	25
3.	Rey-osterrieth complex figure: - Copy	3
4.	Digit span subtest (WAIS-IV)	12
5.	Rey-osterrieth complex figure: - Recall	5
6.	RL/RI-16: - 20 min delayed recall	5
7.	Logical memory - Immediate recall	10
8.	10/36: - 1st, 2nd, and 3rd recall	10
9.	TMT	5
10.	Stroop	5
11.	10/36: - Delayed recall	5
12.	Logical memory: - Delayed recall - Recognition	10
13.	Fluency	5
14.	DO 80	5
15.	HADS	10



it was normal during the first NPA. Visual episodic memory evaluation objectified an encoding difficulty and a storage impairment of visuospatial information during the 10/36 task. This time visuoconstruction was impaired by deformations and a planning trouble that was not present during the first NPA. However, the HADS did not show anxiety or depression symptoms.

We therefore observed, from this second NPA, an isolated encoding and storage impairment in verbal and visual episodic



memory with only an associated visuoconstruction difficulty and a diminution of anxiety.

During the last part of the examination, the patient began to justify his results, saying that he had never been good for memory tasks. At the end of the tests assessment, the psychologist took some time to discuss the results. That is when the patient began to give unclear answers during the conversation. He gave repetitive justifications. When the psychologist asked questions about the daily life, he gave irrelevant responses. When the psychologist said that the NPA was complete and that he was going to call his wife, the patient had a clinically observable seizure with pallor of the face, repetitive swallowing movements, disorientation and comprehension disorder. He repeated "I don't understand what you are saying". He then repeated what the psychologist said by echolalia. The episode lasted 5 min then the patient could speak normally and said that he didn't feel well during the seizure but did not remember that he was repeating the same sentences. Figure 4 sums up the unfolding facts.

Thus, more than an hour and a half before the observation of a clinical seizure, a significant and isolated impairment of verbal and visual episodic memory encoding and storage was measured, followed by some degree of anosognosia (patient attempted to justify the difficulties). Anxiety was reduced on the mood selfassessment questionnaire. Given the occurrence of an amnesic seizure at the end of the second NPA, the patient was asked to come back 1 month later to reassess the tests.

The appointment was set up during the afternoon, to avoid stressing the patient on awakening.

3. Third NPA

When the patient came back 1 month later, he had not had any seizure. His complaint was still the same. He remembered that he came for the NPA 2 one month before and that he had a seizure.

The third NPA revealed a preservation of global cognitive efficiency, language, executive functions and working memory. Visuoconstruction was normalized. The assessment of verbal episodic memory showed an encoding and consolidation difficulty but the 20-min delayed recall showed a normal storage. As on the first NPA, logical memory subtest showed impaired delayed recall, and the recognition was also impaired. Emotional state evaluation indicated anxiety manifestations.

An ALF was observed 1 week later: only two words of the RL/RI-16 list were spontaneously recalled and three more with the indication of the category, with four intrusions.

Overall, the third NPA showed substantially the same clinical profile than during the first NPA (**Table 1**). One year after the first evaluation, the cognitive profile was stable; the patient was still independent in daily life and managed his finances without any difficulty.

COMMENTS

This patient with TEA syndrome, characterized by amnesic episodes subjectively controlled by 100 mg lamotrigine, had a normal standard neuropsychological assessment on two occasions (NPA 1 and 3) but showed an accelerated forgetting and autobiographical memory impairment, as described in literature (2). The progressive occurrence of an encoding impairment an hour and a half before a clinical seizure requires reconsideration of the classical ictal/interictal distinction on the one hand and the speed of propagation of an epileptic discharge on the other. A clinically observable seizure is only "the tip of the iceberg". Subtle cognitive symptoms can set in within several minutes. Our observation shows that, in an apparently asymptomatic subject, there may be a reversible prolonged encoding impairment of epileptic origin. Ten cases of surface EEG recording during an amnesic seizure were reported; 8/10 cases showed bilateral temporal seizure activity, and the others had unilateral temporal seizure activity (one left sided and one right sided). Amnesia was observed as an ictal phenomenon in

six cases and as postictal in four cases (24). The precise temporal relationship between seizure onset and offset and the associated amnesia is, however, uncertain in the majority of cases of TEA (2). Epileptiform abnormalities on the EEG are rarely seen on a standard waking EEG but often on a nocturnal prolonged sleep EEG (25). Hippocampal interictal spikes recorded on S-EEG during sleep have been shown to disrupt consolidation due to transfer interference between the hippocampus and neocortex (26). It can be suggested that accelerated forgetting and impaired autobiographical memory are the consequence of insufficiently controlled epileptic activity. Some authors consider that ALF results from a consolidation and/or reconsolidation disorder and is consistent with a mesial temporal dysfunction. Encoding process remains preserved (7, 10). ALF could result from a subclinical epileptic activity, impacting the memoryrelated brain areas (3), which would disturb a long-term stabilization (27).

Our case report raises an important practical question: Should treatment be given to suppress observable seizures or should treatment be enhanced to reduce interictal memory impairment? Should one try to suppress the spikes seen on the sleep EEG in TEA syndrome?

REFERENCES

- Zeman AZJ, Boniface SJ, Hodges JR. Transient epileptic amnesia: a description of the clinical and neuropsychological features in 10 cases and a review of the literature. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. (1998) 64:435– 43. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.64.4.435
- Baker J, Savage S, Milton F, Butler C, Kapur N, Hodges J, et al. The syndrome of transient epileptic amnesia: a combined series of 115 cases and literature review. *Brain Commun.* (2021) 3:fcab038. doi: 10.1093/braincomms/fcab038
- Butler C, Zeman A. Syndromes of Transient Amnesia. In: *The Neurology of Conciousness*. (Amsterdam, Netherlands: Elsevier) (2016). p. 365–78.
- Mosbah A, Tramoni E, Guedj E, Aubert S, Daquin G, Ceccaldi M, et al. Clinical, neuropsychological, and metabolic characteristics of transient epileptic amnesia syndrome. *Epilepsia*. (2014) 55:699–706. doi: 10.1111/epi.12565
- Atherton KE, Nobre AC, Zeman AZ, Butler CR. Sleep-dependent memory consolidation and accelerated forgetting. *Cortex.* (2014) 54:92–105. doi: 10.1016/j.cortex.2014.02.009
- Hoefeijzers S, Dewar M, Della Sala S, Butler C, Zeman A. Accelerated longterm forgetting can become apparent within 3–8 hours of wakefulness in patients with transient epileptic amnesia. *Neuropsychology*. (2015) 29:117– 25. doi: 10.1037/neu0000114
- Jansari AS, Davis K, McGibbon T, Firminger S, Kapur N. When "longterm memory" no longer means "forever": analysis of accelerated long-term forgetting in a patient with temporal lobe epilepsy. *Neuropsychologia.* (2010) 48:1707–15. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2010.02.018
- Martin RC, Loring D, Meador KJ, Lee GP, Thrash N, Arena JG. Impaires longterm retention despite normal verbal learning in patients with temporal lobe dysfunction. *Neuropsychology*. (1991) 5:3–12. doi: 10.1037/0894-4105.5.1.3
- Muhlert N, Milton F, Butler CR, Kapur N, Zeman AZ. Accelerated forgetting of real-life events in Transient Epileptic Amnesia. *Neuropsychologia*. (2010) 48:3235–44. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2010. 07.001
- Tramoni E, Felician O, Barbeau EJ, Guedj E, Guye M, Bartolomei F, et al. Long-term consolidation of declarative memory: insight from temporal lobe epilepsy. *Brain.* (2011) 134:816–31. doi: 10.1093/brain/awr002
- 11. Kopelman MD, Wilson BA, Baddeley AD. The autobiographical memory interview: a new assessment of autobiographical and personal semantic

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

Ethical review and approval was not required for the study on human participants in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CB performed the neuropsychological assessment and drafted the paper. BT shared his theoretical knowledge and drafted the paper. Both authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Dr. Stal, Dr. Julian, and Prof. Nacher.

memory in amnesic patients. J Clin Exp Neuropsychol. (1989) 11:724-44. doi: 10.1080/01688638908400928

- 12. Piolino P, Desgranges B, Eustache F. La mémoire autobiographique: théorie et pratique. *Marseille: Solal.* (2000).
- Derouesne C, Poitreneau J, Hugonot L, Kalafat M, Dubois B, Laurent B. Minimental state examination: a useful method for the evaluation of the cognitive status of patients by the clinician. Consensual French version. *Presse Medicale Paris Fr 1983.* (1999) 28:1141–8.
- 14. Wechsler D. MEM-III, Echelle clinique de mémoire, 3ème édition. *ECPA*. (2001).
- Van der Linden M. L'évaluation des troubles de la mémoire: présentation de quatre tests de mémoire épisodique (avec leur étalonnage). Marseille: SOLAL. (2004).
- Stoykova R, Matharan F, Raoux N, Amieva H. An alternative word-list for the Free and cued selective reminding test (FCSRT): list presentation and reliability study. *Gériatrie Psychol Neuropsychiatr Viellissement*. (2013) 11:317–22. doi: 10.1684/pnv.2013.0416
- 17. Rey A. Manuel du Test de copie et de reproduction de mémoire de figure géométriques complexes. Paris: ECPA (1959).
- Bever C, Grattan L, Panitch H, Johnson K. The brief repeatable battery of neuropsychological tests for multiple sclerosis: a preliminary serial study. *Mult Scler J.* (1995) 1:165–9. doi: 10.1177/135245859500100306
- 19. Wechsler D. WAIS-IV, Echelle d'Intelligence de Wechsler pour Adultes, 4ème édition. Paris: ECPA (2011).
- 20. Godefroy O. Fonctions exécutives et pathologies neurologiques et psychia: évaluation en pratique clinique. Marseille: Ed Solal (2008).
- 21. Deloche G, Metz-Lutz MM, Kremin H, Hannequin D, Ferrand L, Perrier D, et al. *Test de dénomination orale de 80 images : DO 80.* Paris: ECPA (1989).
- 22. Zigmond AS, Snaith RP. The Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale. *Acta Psychiatr Scand.* (1983) 67:361–70. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0447.1983.tb09716.x
- 23. Piolino, P. La mémoire autobiographique : théorie et pratique en neuropsychologie. *Revue Québécoise de Psychologie*. (2006) 3:1–20.
- Butler CR, Zeman AZ. Recent insights into the impairment of memory in epilepsy: transient epileptic amnesia, accelerated longterm forgetting and remote memory impairment. *Brain.* (2008) 131:2243–63. doi: 10.1093/brain/awn127
- 25. Ramanan VK, Morris KA, Graff-Radford J, Jones DT, Burkholder DB, Britton JW, et al. Transient Epileptic Amnesia: A Treatable Cause of

Spells Associated With Persistent Cognitive Symptoms. *Front Neurol.* (2019) 10:939. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2019.00939

- Lambert I, Tramoni-Negre E, Lagarde S, Roehri N, Giusiano B, Trebuchon-Da Fonseca A, et al. Hippocampal Interictal Spikes during Sleep Impact Long-Term Memory Consolidation. *Ann Neurol.* (2020) 87:976–87. doi: 10.1002/ana.25744
- McGaugh JL. Memory—A century of consolidation. Science. (2000) 287:248– 51. doi: 10.1126/science.287.5451.248

Conflict of Interest: BT was employed by CIC.

The remaining author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest. **Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Bouyer and de Toffol. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Fernando Cendes, State University of Campinas, Brazil

REVIEWED BY Pedro Kowacs, Instituto de Neurologia de Curitiba, Brazil Pasquale Parisi, Sapienza University of Rome, Italy

*CORRESPONDENCE Anam Hareem anam hareem@hotmail.com

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Epilepsy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

RECEIVED 25 May 2022 ACCEPTED 21 July 2022 PUBLISHED 11 August 2022

CITATION

Hareem A, Pahlavanzadeh M, Calvo NE, Monjazeb S and Anyanwu C (2022) Case report: An EEG captured case of migralepsy/migraine aura-triggered seizures. *Front. Neurol.* 13:953224. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2022.953224

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Hareem, Pahlavanzadeh, Calvo, Monjazeb and Anyanwu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction

in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Case report: An EEG captured case of migralepsy/migraine aura-triggered seizures

Anam Hareem^{1*}, Mahsa Pahlavanzadeh², Nicholas E. Calvo³, Sanaz Monjazeb⁴ and Chinekwu Anyanwu⁵

¹Atrium Health Wake Forest Baptist Medical Center, Winston-Salem, NC, United States, ²Department of Neurology, Carilion Clinic, Roanoke, VA, United States, ³Department of Neurology, The University of Utah, Salt Lake City, UT, United States, ⁴Department of Neurology, University of Southern California, Los Angeles, CA, United States, ⁵Department of Neurology, Virginia Tech Carilion, Roanoke, VA, United States

Introduction: Migraine and epilepsy are common chronic neurological disorders presenting with paroxysmal attacks of transient cerebral dysfunction, followed by subsequent return to baseline between episodes. The term "migralepsy" has been proposed to define migraine-triggered epileptic seizures classified by the ICHD-III as a complication of migraine with an aura.

Case: A 55-year-old man with a 30-year history of migraine without aura presented with a new onset left parietal pain accompanied by visual disturbances occurring up to 20 times per day. His visual distortions included kaleidoscopic vision, flashes of shadows, and a right superior quadrantanopia lasting 20 min. He described discrete 2-min episodes of scintillating scotomas in his right visual field. Ictal EEG demonstrated a left occipital onset focal aware seizure with his clinical symptoms. The patient was started on valproic Acid and has remained asymptomatic.

Discussion: The diagnostic criteria as set out by the ICHD-III for migralepsy and other syndromes with migrainous and ictal features remain confusing for practitioners as there is much overlap in clinical manifestations of these entities. EEG should be obtained when ictal features are noted among patients presenting with headache.

KEYWORDS

migralepsy, visual aura, ictal headache, homonymous hemianopsia, visual hallucinations

Introduction

Epilepsy and migraine are the most encountered chronic neurologic disorders associated with paroxysmal attacks of transient cerebral dysfunction, followed by subsequent return to baseline between episodes. Migraine and epilepsy both share a heritable component, demonstrate high rates of comorbidity, have similar underlying pathophysiological mechanisms, and overlap in symptomatology. In these conditions, we see excessive neuronal excitability characterized by visual and sensory disturbances, autonomic symptoms, and, at times, alterations in the content and level of consciousness (1-3). Although studies vary, individuals with either migraine or epilepsy are more than twice as likely to have the other disorder. The prevalence of migraine in the

epileptic population ranges between 8.4 and 23% (4) while the prevalence of epilepsy in people with migraine varies from 1 to 17% (5). The lack of published data highlights the inadequacy of the current definitions of ICHD-III about temporal and/or clinical association and overlap between migraine and epilepsy. Herein we present a case in which symptoms of the usual migraine aura developed into a focal aware seizure of occipital origin.

Case

A 55-year-old man with a known history of migraine headaches without aura, hypertension, hyperlipidemia, obesity, and newly diagnosed type 2 diabetes mellitus II was referred to the Emergency Department (ED) by his ophthalmologist. The patient had a 5-day history of visual disturbances and a severe left parietal headache. He described the quality of his headache as lancinating, continuous, and pulsatile. He described his visual distortions as having a "wavy quality" with associated kaleidoscopic patterns, flashes of shadows, and scintillating scotomas (red and green circles), occurring every 15–20 min and lasting 2 min each. His visual field was also obscured in the right hemifield, more so in his right superior quadrant.

The onset of his symptoms was associated with nausea, vomiting, and intermittent sensitivity to light. He reportedly received chiropractic manipulation hours earlier in the day prior to the onset of his symptoms. He denied sensitivity to sound or smell, or other neurologic deficits including slurred speech, double vision, focal weakness, numbness, lacrimation, painful eye movements, or nuchal rigidity. The frequency of his typical migraine headaches occurred one to two times per year.

His neurologic exam showed a right superior homonymous quadrantanopia with 20/25 visual acuity in both eyes, full ocular motility, and unremarkable funduscopy. The initial work up included computed tomographic angiography (CTA) of the head and neck, contrast-enhanced magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) of the brain and orbit with and without contrast, and blood work including erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR), Creactive protein (CRP), and complete blood count (CBC), which were all normal. The patient was discharged from the ED with resolution of his headache and visual symptoms. He was advised to obtain an contrast enhanced MRI Orbit with and without contrast and follow up at the in ophthalmology and neurology clinics in 1 week.

He returned to the hospital 5 days later due to more frequent episodes of visual distortion. He reported that the headache was no longer prominent compared to his initial presentation a week prior and the visual field deficit had resolved. Electroencephlogram (EEG) was suggested given the unremarkable results of the previous workup and his persistent visual symptoms. An initial short-term EEG was normal. A typical event was captured during the long-term recording. Ictal EEG demonstrated a left occipital-onset focal seizure with right hemispheric involvement as it evolved (Figure 1). This correlated with the patient reporting "flashing fireworks and broken red lights mirrors" in the right eye.

He was loaded with levetiracetam 2000 mg intravenously with a daily maintenance oral dose of levetiracetam 750 mg twice daily. On this regimen, he continued to report several episodes of the visual disturbance the following next day. He was switched to valproic acid (loading dose of 2000 mg and maintenance dose of 500 mg twice daily). A repeat routine EEG the following day was normal. Upon his 2-month follow up with neurology, he reported resolution of the headaches and visual disturbances.

Discussion

The term migralepsy was first coined in 1960 by Lennox and Lennox to describe a condition wherein "ophthalmic migraine with perhaps nausea and vomiting was followed by symptoms characteristic of epilepsy" (6). The International Classification of Headache Disorders-III (ICHD-III) has refined the definition of migralepsy to denote an attack of migraine with aura attack that is complicated, by an epileptic seizure within an hour of migraine onset (7). Currently, it is better known as migraine-triggered seizure and is a rare phenomenon. Within the same family of conditions, other rare neurological disorders with migrainous and ictal components include including ictal epileptic headaches (IEH) and hemicrania epileptica. The ICHD-III refers to IEHs as secondary headache disorders to a primary epileptic condition and occurs in 3-5% of cases (8, 9). The headache can be ipsilateral or contralateral with epileptiform EEG discharges. The original diagnostic criteria for ictal epileptic hedaache as proposed by Parisi et al. also includes a prompt response to antiepileptic drugs (10). Hemicrania epileptica is recognized as an ipsilateral "ictal headache" that occurs "synchronously" with a partial seizure. To complicate matters further, there have been reports of ictal epileptic headaches that present as the sole manifestation of an epileptic event, thus making the differentiation of migraine with aura from epileptic seizures difficult (11–13).

Our case demonstrates yet another example of the complex relationship between migraine and epilepsy. Identifying the correct underlying etiology of the patient's symptoms was difficult because of the fluctuating nature of his complaints and deficits seen on neurologic exam. In this case, migraine-like symptoms appeared first followed by his visual disturbances. However, as his symptoms persisted, the visual disturbances became more prominent and were suspicious for occipital onset seizures. By ICHDIII criteria, this patient would qualify for diagnosis of migraine-triggered seizure/migralepsy because the initial migraine headaches triggered his focal aware left occipital lobe seizures. However, over the course of the patient's disease, the visual disturbances associated with his seizures became



The signals from the left hemisphere is shown in blue and right hemisphere in red. Twenty sec epochs of electroencephalography (EEG) (average montage) demonstrate that the onset is from the left occipital region (a) with evolution and progression ($\mathbf{b}-\mathbf{f}$) to involve the right side. The patient's seizure correlated with the visual sensation of "flashing fireworks and broken red lights mirrors" in the patient's right visual hemifield.

the prominent feature and the headaches had resolved, thus obscuring the picture further.

Among 50 potential migralepsy cases identified in the literature, only two were found to meet ICHD criteria. Most diagnoses remaining uncertain and often questionable due to insufficient data collected at the time of diagnosis, including diagnostic EEG studies during the event (14). In the questionable cases, the description of the episode combined with EEG and brain imaging were highly suggestive of epileptic seizures particularly in the occipital lobe (15). Our patient case was fortunate because an epileptic event was documented when EEG was recorded. Notably, apart from the seizure captured on EEG, there were no focal abnormalities or interictal epileptiform discharges seen within the recording or on a follow-up EEG (obtained 2 days after initiating proper treatment)

to suggest a focal predisposition to seizure in that region. To complicate differentiating the diagnosis patients with epileptic visual symptoms may show similar EEG abnormalities to those as seen in acute migraine attacks, with posterior predominant theta-delta wave activity (15). In most cases of ictal epileptic headache ictal there is a lack of a specific headache pattern with evidence of non-specific ictal EEG patterns often without corical-topographic correlations (16).

When evaluating attacks suggestive of migralepsy one must consider the characteristics of visual symptoms between migraine visual auras and occipital lobe seizures. A retrospective cohort analysis found that the visual aura was of shorter duration in epilepsy compared to migraine, with a median duration of 56 s vs. 20 min, respectively. Other factors that differentiate the quality of the visual aura in epilepsy vs. migraine

10.3389/fneur.2022.953224

included a restriction of the visual phenomenon to a visual hemifield in epilepsy compared to migraine; and centrifugal or centripetal spread of visual symptoms (phosphenes, scotomas, etc.) occurred in migraine, but not in epilepsy. The patient described visual auras which were a combination of those typical for both migraine and epilepsy making a distinction between them a diagnostic challenge. He described a global visual kaleidoscopic pattern expected in migraine. However, the distinct flashes of shadows and scintillating scotomas described as red and green circles restricted to his right visual field of both eyes, lasting only 2 min, are more typical for epilepsy. Though there are minor differences in the quality and timing of the visual aura, an EEG was required to make a more definitive distinction. Even obtaining long-term EEG monitoring for precise diagnosis may be necessary in resolving diagnostic uncertainty (17-19). Visual auras in migraine and epilepsy are related to transient occipital lobe dysfunction which has been described in the literature as cortical spreading depression and paroxysmal depolarizing shift, respectively (19).

The therapeutic benefit of certain antiepileptic drugs (AEDs) in migraine prevention can be reasonably inferred from this shared pathogenesis with epilepsy (20, 21). The goal of management is to treat migraine and epilepsy. This can be achieved with medications including valproic acid, topiramate, or zonisamide (second line) for patients who are intolerant to topiramate (22). Our patient showed incomplete response to levetiracetam and was thus shifted to valproic acid 500 mg twice daily with complete resolution of visual symptoms and normal repeat EEG.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary

References

1. Rogawski MA. Common pathophysiologic mechanisms in migraine and epilepsy. *Arch Neurol.* (2008) 65:709-14. doi: 10.1001/archneur.65. 6.709

 Papetti L, Nicita F, Parisi P, Spalice A, Villa MP, Kasteleijn-Nolst Trenité DG. "Headache and epilepsy"-how are they connected? *Epilepsy Behav.* (2013) 26:386–93. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2012.0 9.025

3. Haut SR, Bigal ME, Lipton RB. Chronic disorders with episodic manifestations: focus on epilepsy and migraine. *Lancet Neurol.* (2006) 5:148–57. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(06)70348-9

4. Ottman R, Lipton RB. Comorbidity of migraine and epilepsy. *Neurology*. (1994) 44:2105–10. doi: 10.1212/WNL.44.11.2105

5. Caminero A, Manso-Calderón R. Links between headaches and epilepsy: current knowledge and terminology. *Neurologia*. (2014) 29:453–63. doi: 10.1016/j.nrleng.2011.10.015

6. Lenox WG, Lennox MA. *Epilepsy and Related Disorders*. Boston: Little, Brown, and Company. (1960).

material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

Ethics statement

Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

Author contributions

AH contributed to discussion and final proof reading. MP contributed to writing the case and introduction and final proof reading. NC wrote the case section. SM wrote the introduction and abstract. CA contributed to EEG discussion and proof reading. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

7. Headache Classification Committee of the International Headache Society (IHS). The international classification of headache disorders, 3rd edition. *Cephalalgia*. (2018) 38:1–211. doi: 10.1177/033310241773 8202

8. Saitowitz Z, Flamini R, Berenson F. Ictal epileptic headache: a review of current literature and differentiation from migralepsy and other epilepsies. *Headache*. (2014) 54:1534–40. doi: 10.1111/head.12432

9. Piccioli M, Parisi P, Tisei P, Villa MP, Buttinelli C, Kasteleijn-Nolst Trenité DG. Ictal headache and visual sensitivity. *Cephalalgia*. (2009) 29:194– 203. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-2982.2008.01707.x

10. Parisi P, Striano P, Trenité DG, Verrotti A, Martelletti P, Villa MP, et al. 'Ictal epileptic headache': recent concepts for new classifications criteria. *Cephalalgia*. (2012) 32:723-4. doi: 10.1177/0333102412447536

11. Sidra K, Fayyaz A. Migralepsy. Open access. J Neurol Neurosurg. (2018) 8:555736. doi: 10.19080/OAJNN.2018.08.555736

12. Belcastro V, Striano P, Kasteleijn-Nolst Trenité DG, Villa MP, Parisi P. Migralepsy, hemicrania epileptica, post-ictal headache and "ictal epileptic

headache": a proposal for terminology and classification revision. J Headache Pain. (2011) 12:289–94. doi: 10.1007/s10194-011-0318-4

13. Bianchin MM, Londero RG, Lima JE, Bigal ME. Migraine and epilepsy: a focus on overlapping clinical, pathophysiological, molecular, and therapeutic aspects. *Curr Pain Headache Rep.* (2010) 14:276–83. doi: 10.1007/s11916-010-0121-y

14. Sances G, Guaschino E, Perucca P, Allena M, Ghiotto N, Manni R. Migralepsy: a call for a revision of the definition. *Epilepsia*. (2009) 50:2487–96. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2009.02265.x

15. Verrotti A, Coppola G, Di Fonzo A, Tozzi E, Spalice A, Aloisi P, et al. Should "migralepsy" be considered an obsolete concept? A multicenter retrospective clinical/EEG study and review of the literature. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2011) 21:52–9. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2011.03.004

16. Parisi P, Paolino MC, Raucci U, Della Vecchia N, Belcastro V, Villa MP, et al. Ictal epileptic headache: when terminology is not a moot question. *Front Neurol.* (2019) 10:785. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2019.00785 17. Bigal ME, Lipton RB, Cohen J, Silberstein SD. Epilepsy and migraine. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2003) 4:S13-24. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2003.07.003

18. Panayiotopoulos CP. Elementary visual hallucinations in migraine and epilepsy. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. (1994) 57:1371-4. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.57.11.1371

19. Hartl E, Gonzalez-Victores JA, Rémi J, Schankin CJ, Noachtar S. Visual auras in epilepsy and migraine—an analysis of clinical characteristics. *Headache*. (2017) 57:908–16. doi: 10.1111/head.13113

20. Calabresi P, Galletti F, Rossi C, Sarchielli P, Cupini LM. Antiepileptic drugs in migraine: from clinical aspects to cellular mechanisms. *Trends Pharmacol Sci.* (2007) 28:188–95. doi: 10.1016/j.tips.2007.02.005

21. Bagnato F, Good J. The use of antiepileptics in migraine prophylaxis. *Headache.* (2016) 56:603–15. doi: 10.1111/head.12781

22. Shahien R, Beiruti K. Preventive agents for migraine: focus on the antiepileptic drugs. *J Cent Nerv Syst Dis.* (2012) 4:37-49. doi: 10.4137/JCNSD.S9049

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Fernando Cendes, State University of Campinas, Brazil

REVIEWED BY Felipe von Glehn, University of Brasilia, Brazil Lécio Figueira Pinto, University of São Paulo, Brazil

*CORRESPONDENCE Jana Werner iana.werner@usz.ch

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Epilepsy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

RECEIVED 17 May 2022 ACCEPTED 21 July 2022 PUBLISHED 16 August 2022

CITATION

Werner J, Brandi G, Jelcic I and Galovic M (2022) New-onset refractory status epilepticus due to autoimmune encephalitis after vaccination against SARS-CoV-2: First case report. *Front. Neurol.* 13:946644. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2022.946644

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Werner, Brandi, Jelcic and Galovic. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License

(CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

New-onset refractory status epilepticus due to autoimmune encephalitis after vaccination against SARS-CoV-2: First case report

Jana Werner^{1,2*}, Giovanna Brandi¹, Ilijas Jelcic² and Marian Galovic²

¹Department of Intensive Care Medicine, University Hospital Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland, ²Department of Neurology, Clinical Neuroscience Center, University Hospital Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland

Background: Vaccination against SARS-CoV-2 has been conducted frequently to limit the pandemic but may rarely be associated with postvaccinal autoimmune reactions or disorders.

Case presentation: We present a 35-year-old woman who developed fever, skin rash, and headache 2 days after the second SARS-CoV-2 vaccination with BNT162b2 (Pfizer/Biontech). Eight days later, she developed behavioral changes and severe recurrent seizures that led to sedation and intubation. Cerebral magnetic resonance imaging showed swelling in the (para-) hippocampal region predominantly on the left hemisphere and bilateral subcortical subinsular FLAIR hyperintensities. Cerebrospinal fluid analysis revealed a lymphocytic pleocytosis of 7 cells/µl and normal protein and immunoglobulin parameters. Common causes of encephalitis or encephalopathy such as viral infections, autoimmune encephalitis with well-characterized autoantibodies, paraneoplastic diseases, and intoxications were ruled out. We made a diagnosis of new-onset refractory status epilepticus (NORSE) due to seronegative autoimmune encephalitis. The neurological deficits improved after combined antiepileptic therapy and immunomodulatory treatment including high-dose methylprednisolone and plasma exchange.

Conclusions: Although a causal relationship cannot be established, the onset of symptoms shortly after receiving the SARS-CoV-2 vaccine suggests a potential association between the vaccination and NORSE due to antibody-negative autoimmune encephalitis. After ruling out other etiologies, early immunomodulatory treatment may be considered in such cases.

KEYWORDS

new-onset refractory epileptic state, NORSE, SARS-CoV-2 vaccination, BNT162b2, seronegative autoimmune encephalitis, postvaccinal encephalitis

Introduction

Adverse effects of SARS-CoV-2 vaccination with mRNA vaccines are rare and mostly limited to local reactions or slight systemic symptoms (1) including fatigue and headache most commonly. Generally, post-vaccination autoimmune encephalitis is rare (2, 3), but it has been reported to have an association with the adenoviral vector vaccine ChAdOx1 (Oxford-AstraZeneca) (4) as well as the mRNA vaccine (Pfizer/Biontech) for SARS-CoV-2 (3, 5).

А heterogeneous group of sporadic autoimmune encephalitis with cases associated SARS-CoV-2 infection has also been reported (6). Additionally, and autoimmune more more cases have encephalitis linked been to other viral triggers (7).

Here, we describe a case of new-onset refractory status epilepticus (NORSE) due to autoantibody-negative autoimmune encephalitis in close temporal association with the second SARS-CoV-2 vaccination dose of BNT162b2 (Pfizer/Biontech).

Case presentation

A 35-year old woman was referred to our center with recurrent focal to bilateral convulsive seizures after an episode of fever, headache, and skin rash 6 days prior. Two days before the onset of fever, she received the second dose of an mRNA-based SARS-CoV-2 vaccine (BNT162b2, Pfizer/Biontech). The first dose was well-tolerated. The patient's medical history revealed only sporadic but not recent cocaine consumption and mild SARS-CoV-2 infection a year before the vaccination.

The clinical, laboratory, and imaging findings are summarized in Table 1 and are illustrated in Figure 1. On admission, the patient presented with fever of up to 40° C, visual impairment, behavioral changes, recurrent focal to bilateral tonic-clonic seizures, reduced level of consciousness, and choreatic movements. On

admission, moderately elevated TSH, normal free T3 and T4 hormone levels, and slightly elevated liver function tests possibly due to recent overuse of paracetamol were found in the blood test. Drug screening of urine was negative.

The electroencephalogram (EEG) initially showed a generalized rhythmic delta activity with superimposed multifocal interictal epileptic discharges mainly over the frontal and right-sided leads. Frequent brief electrographic seizures were also detected (Figure 2). Initial CT and MRI scans were unremarkable. The MRI on day 5 after admission revealed edema in the left mesial temporal lobe, particularly the hippocampus, which became progressive in size 10 days later. Additionally, FLAIR hyperintensive lesions in the bilateral subinsular regions were detected (Figure 3). The FDG PET showed hypermetabolism of the left amygdala and hippocampus and basal pulmonary hypoventilation. Cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) analysis revealed lymphocytic pleocytosis (7 cells/µl), normal protein, glucose, lactate, and total immunoglobulin parameters, and matched oligoclonal bands in the serum and CSF without signs of intrathecal IgG production (Table 1). The blood and CSF screening for common viral and bacterial infections and autoimmune disorders including vasculitis was negative. The diagnostic criteria for a definite autoantibody-negative autoimmune limbic encephalitis according to established criteria were fullfilled (8). However, testing for common anti-neuronal autoantibodies in serum and CSF was negative, including indirect immunofluorescence staining of mouse brain.

Due to recurrent convulsive seizures without regaining consciousness, a diagnosis of new-onset refractory status epilepticus (NORSE) was made. Levetiracetam up to 4 g/d and lacosamide up to 200 mg/d were started. Under continuous EEG monitoring, phenytoin up to 750 mg/d, midazolam up to 0.57 mg/kg/h, and ketamine up to 4 mg/kg/h were added. Phenytoin was later replaced by phenobarbital. Initially, acyclovir 3×10 mg/kg body weight/day and ceftriaxone were given until the CSF and serum testing for herpes viral and bacterial CNS infections turned negative. Immunomodulatory treatment with high-dose methylprednisolone (5 days of 1,000 mg/d IV) was started 2 days after hospital admission with subsequent slow tapering over 8 weeks. Because of continued seizures, plasma exchange for over 10 days starting on day 7 after the admission was performed.

Subsequently, the patient's condition rapidly improved beginning on day 12 after the admission; she regained full consciousness and had only infrequent seizures. The follow-up MRI 1 month after the hospital admission showed edema reduction in the hippocampal, amygdala, and external capsule. On discharge, she had persisting moderate mnestic deficits and infrequent seizures (2– 3/month). However, after 2 months, the patient was readmitted to our hospital because of deterioration in

Abbreviations: COVID-19, coronavirus disease 2019; CSF, cerebrospinal fluid; CNS, central nervous system; EEG, electroencephalogram; ED, epileptic discharge; FDG-PET, 2-fluor-2-desoxy-D-glucose positron emission tomography; FLAIR, fluid-attenuated inversion recovery; HSV-1/2, herpes simplex virus type 1 or 2; IED, interictal epileptic discharge; MRI, magnetic resonance imaging; NORSE, new onset refractory status epilepticus; PCR, polymerase chain reaction; PD, periodic discharge with sharp morphology; RNA, ribonucleic acid; SARS-CoV-2, severe acute respiratory syndrome virus 2; VZV, varicella zoster virus.

TABLE 1 (A) Symptoms and (B) therapy, (C) imaging, (D) laboratory, (E) CSF, and (F) EEG findings.

(A) Symptoms

SARS-CoV-2 vaccination	Day 0
Fever, headache, change of character,	Day 2–7
skin rash	
Generalized epileptic seizures	Day 7
Hyperkinetic movement disorder	Day 22
APE ² Score	10
Neuropsychological findings	Day 42: severe neuropsychological disorder with fronto-limbic dysfunction

(B) Therapy

Pay 8–16, until negative PCR of VZV and HSV Pay 8–14
hree times a week during high doses steroid treatment
ay 10–14, followed by careful tapering
bay 15, 17, 20, 22, 24
bay 8-9
bay 9–17
bay 17-ongoing
bay 9–11
bay 10-25
bay 11–17
bay 15–21
bay 17–20
Pay 20-ongoing
bay 24-30
bay 12–34 (recurrent treatment)
Pay 25-ongoing

(C) Imaging

Normal
– Normal MRI
- Edematous changes in amygdala, hippocampus, and Parahippocampal gyrus predominantly left side
- Progression of edema in amygdala on both sides, hippocampus, and parahippocampal gyrus predominantly left side, additional
subcortical FLAIR hyperintensities subinsular bilaterally
- Regression of FLAIR hyperintensities in all areas
No signs of metabolically active malignancies. Cerebral hypermetabolism in left amygdala and hippocampal area

(Continued)

TABLE 1 Continued

Anti-neuronal antibodies*	Negative	Negative
TSH level	10.4 mU/l	0.2-4.3 mU/l
fГ3, fГ4	Normal	Normal

(D) Laboratory findings	Result	Normal value
Nasopharyngeal swab or	Negative	Negative
tracheobronchial fluid for SARS-CoV-2		
RNA		
Day 8, 10, 16, 22, 29		
Creatinkinase (µmol/l)	80	45-84
Leukocytecount (10 ⁹ /L)	5.76	3.9–10.2
Thrombocytecount (10 ⁹ /L)	160	150-370
Hemoglobin (g/L)	13.2	12.0-15.4
C-reactive protein (mg/L)	31.9	<5.0
(E) CSF characteristics	Day 7	Normal
CSF cellcount /µl	7	< 5
CSF Lactate (mmol/L) 2.2		1.2–2.1
Glucose (mmol/L)	4.5	2.7- 4.2
Protein (mg/L)	490	< 450

(F) EEG findings		
Oligoclonal bands**	type 4	type 1
	β2-glykoprotein antibodies, ANCA	
	anti-dsDNA antibodies, anti-cardiolipin and	
Serologicaltesting	Negative TBEV-IgG and -IgM, antinuclear antibodies,	negative
Virus PCRs in CSF	negative PCR for HSV-1/2, VZV, TBEV, Enterovirus	negative

Day 8:	- Generalized slowing, convusive seizure presenting on EEG with rhythmic delta activity
Day 9:	- Generalized slowing, bifrontal interictal epileptic discharges (IEDs), polytopictriphasic potentials
Continous EEG day 10-26:	- Periodic discharges with sharp morphology (PD), brief electrographic seizures
Day 34:	- Polytopictriphasic potentials, no ED, slight regression of pathologies
Day 36:	- Single ED predominately left side, no change in encephalopathy
Day 38:	- Single ED predominately left side, no change in encephalopathy
Day 41:	- Single ED predominately left side, no change in encephalopathy

*Anti-neuronal autoantibody sera: GAD65, NMDA, GABAAR, GABABR, IgLON5, AMPAR 1/2, DPPX, LGI1, CASPR2, glycin-receptor, mGluR5, and mGluR1; CSF: GAD65, NDMAR, GABAAR, GABABR , IgLON5, AMPAR 1/2, DPPX, LGI1, CASPR2, glycin-receptor, mGLuR5, and mGLuR1; Neural antibody (immunoblot-IgG) sera: amphiphysin, CV2/CRMP5, Ma2/Ta (PNMA2), Ri, Yo, Hu, Recoverin, Sox1, Titin, Zic4, and DNER/Tr; CSF: amphiphysin, CV2/CRMP5, Ma2/Ta (PNMA2), Ri, Yo, Hu, Recoverin, Sox1, Titin, Zic4, and DNER/Tr. ** OCB type 1 = no oligoclonal bands in the CSF and serum, i.e., no intrathecal IgG production; OCB type 2 = oligoclonal IgG bands only in the CSF, i.e., intrathecal IgG production; OCB type 3 = oligoclonal bands in the CSF and serum with additional bands in the CSF, i.e., intrathecal IgG production; OCB type 4 = identical oligoclonal bands in the CSF and serum, i.e., no intrathecal IgG production; OCB type 5 = monoclonal IgG bands in the CSF and serum.

seizure frequency (2-3 serial seizures) and neuropsychological deficits. She again received high-dose methylprednisolone for 5 days, which led to significant reduction in seizure frequency.

Discussion and conclusions

We report the first case, to our knowledge, of NORSE due to seronegative autoimmune encephalitis 8 days after



Fig. Fill Fill TB FILE continued:

FIGURE 2

Electroencephalogram on day 8 after symptom onset showing a brief focal seizure. The seizure discharge begins with an evolving fast rhythm with onset in the left temporal leads and interspersed epileptic discharges. There is generalized background slowing following the seizure. Bipolar longitudinal montage, gain 70 μV/cm, base time 3 cm/s, high-pass filter. 53 Hz, low-pass filter 80 Hz, and notch filter 50 Hz.

vaccination with the mRNA SARS-CoV-2 vaccine. A causal relationship between vaccination and autoimmune encephalitis with NORSE is not established with certainty. Nevertheless, the onset of neurological symptoms 8 days following the vaccination suggests a potential association as well as the hyperintensities of the claustrum as a common finding in NORSE and autoimmune encephalitis (9, 10).

Given the assumed low incidence of autoimmune reactions and their favorable outcome, benefits of vaccination far outweigh the risk of side effects. Importantly, SARS-CoV-2 infection itself may trigger



Neuroimaging findings. (A) cMRI on day 13: axial FLAIR sequence demonstrating edematous changes in hippocampus and parahippocampal gyrus predominantly on the left side. (B) cMRI on day 23: coronary FLAIR sequence demonstrating progression of edema on both sides, the hippocampus and parahippocampal gyrus, additional subcortical FLAIR hyperintensities subinsular on both sides. (C,D) demonstrate the claustra hyperintensities.

a heterogeneous group of autoimmune encephalitis. Hence, the observation of SARS-CoV-2 vaccine-associated NORSE does not argue against the broad use of SARS-CoV-2 vaccines. Whether the patient's history of SARS-CoV-2 infection approximately 1 year before the encephalitis may have played a role remains unknown. Our findings should encourage clinicians to consider SARS-CoV-2 vaccination or infection as a potential trigger for autoimmune encephalitis.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

Ethical review and approval was not required for the study on human participants in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

Author contributions

JW collected and interpreted the clinical and radiological data and was a major contributor in the writing and revision of the manuscript. IJ collected and interpreted the clinical and laboratory data and revised the manuscript. GB interpreted the clinical findings and revised the manuscript. MG interpreted the clinical and electroencephalographic findings and revised the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final version of the manuscript.

References

1. Thomas SJ, Thomas SJ, Kitchin N, Absalon J, Gurtman A, Lockhart S, et al. Safety and efficacy of the BNT162b2 mRNA Covid-19 vaccine through 6 months. *N Engl J Med.* (2021) 385:1761–73. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2110345

2. Tian M, Yang J, Li L, Li J, Lei W, Shu X. Vaccine-associated neurological adverse events: a case report and literature review. *Curr Pharm Des.* (2020) 25:4570–8. doi: 10.2174/1381612825666191119095132

3. Kaulen LD, Doubrovinskaia S, Mooshage C, Jordan B, Purrucker J, Haubner C, et al. Neurological autoimmune diseases following vaccinations against SARS-CoV-2: a case series. *Eur J Neurol.* (2022) 29:555–63. doi: 10.1111/ene.15147

4. Zuhorn F, Graf T, Klingebiel R, Schäbitz WR, Rogalewski A. Postvaccinal encephalitis after ChAdOx1 nCov-19. *Ann Neurol.* (2021) 90:506–11. doi: 10.1002/ana.26182

5. Zlotnik Y, Gadoth A, Abu-Salameh I, Horev A, Novoa R, Ifergane G. Case report: anti-LGI1 encephalitis following COVID-19 vaccination. *Front Immunol.* (2021) 12:813487. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.813487

Funding

This study was partly supported by the SNF (Grant No: 4078P0_198345, title: Protective and Pathogenic T Cell Immunity During SARS-CoV-2 Infection) and the Loop Zurich, COVID-19 project (Title: SARS-CoV-2-Induced Immune Alterations and their Role in Post-COVID Syndrome).

Acknowledgments

We would like to extend our acknowledgment to Giselle Golby who revised the manuscript for medical English.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

6. Valencia Sanchez C, Theel E, Binnicker M, Toledano M, McKeon A. Autoimmune encephalitis after SARS-CoV-2 infection: case frequency, findings, and outcomes. *Neurology*. (2021) 97:e2262– 8. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000012931

7. Joubert, B, Dalmau J. The role of infections in autoimmune encephalitides. *Rev Neurol (Paris)*. (2019) 175:420–6. doi: 10.1016/j.neurol.2019.07.004

8. Graus F, Titulaer MJ, Balu R, Benseler S, Bien CG, Cellucci T, et al. A clinical approach to diagnosis of autoimmune encephalitis. *Lancet Neurol.* (2016) 15:391-404. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(16)30130-2

9. Meletti S, Giovannini G, d'Orsi G, Toran L, Monti G, Guha R, et al. New-Onset refractory status epilepticus with claustrum damage: definition of the clinical and neuroimaging features. *Front Neurol.* (2017) 8:111. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2017.00111

10. Steriade C, Tang-Wai DF, Krings T, Wennber R. Claustrum hyperintensities: a potential clue to autoimmune epilepsy. *Epilepsia Open.* (2017) 2:476– 80. doi: 10.1002/epi4.12077

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Fernando Cendes, State University of Campinas, Brazil

REVIEWED BY Leticia Pereira De Brito Sampaio, University of São Paulo, Brazil Kathryn Lalor, University of Alabama at Birmingham, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Sanjay M. Sisodiya s.sisodiya@ucl.ac.uk

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Epilepsy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

RECEIVED 14 July 2022 ACCEPTED 25 August 2022 PUBLISHED 13 September 2022

CITATION

Clayton LM, Williams E, Balestrini S and Sisodiya SM (2022) Case report: Dravet syndrome, feeding difficulties and gastrostomy. *Front. Neurol.* 13:993906. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2022.993906

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Clayton, Williams, Balestrini and Sisodiya. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Case report: Dravet syndrome, feeding difficulties and gastrostomy

Lisa M. Clayton^{1,2}, Edwina Williams³, Simona Balestrini^{1,2,4} and Sanjay M. Sisodiya^{1,2*}

¹Department of Clinical and Experimental Epilepsy, UCL Queen Square Institute of Neurology, London, United Kingdom, ²Chalfont Centre for Epilepsy, Buckinghamshire, United Kingdom, ³Dravet Syndrome Parent, London, United Kingdom, ⁴Department of Pediatrics, Meyer Children's University Hospital, Florence, Italy

Dravet syndrome (DS) is a developmental and epileptic encephalopathy associated with variants in the voltage-gated sodium channel alpha 1 subunit (*SCN1A*) gene in around 90% of individuals. The core phenotype is well-recognized, and is characterized by seizure onset in infancy, typically with prolonged febrile seizures, followed by the emergence of multiple seizure types that are frequently drug-resistant, developmental delay, and intellectual disability. Comorbidities are common and include autism spectrum disorder, gait impairment, scoliosis, and sleep disorder. Feeding difficulties and weight loss are frequently reported by DS caregivers, and negatively impact quality of life, yet have received little attention. Here we report an adult with DS who developed reduced food and fluid intake in adolescence, resulting in weight loss and malnutrition. No underlying cause for her feeding difficulties was identified, and she subsequently required insertion of a percutaneous endoscopic gastrostomy. We review the occurrence of feeding difficulties in people with DS and discuss potential mechanisms.

KEYWORDS

 $\label{eq:product} Dravet \ syndrome, \ co-morbidities, \ SCN1A, \ gastrostomy \ (PEG), \ weight \ loss, \ feeding \ and \ swallowing \ trouble$

Introduction

DS is a developmental and epileptic encephalopathy. It is associated with variants in the voltage-gated sodium channel alpha 1 subunit (*SCN1A*) gene in around 90% of individuals (1), and is one of the most common monogenic epilepsies, with an incidence of 1 per 12,200 live births (2). The core phenotype of DS is well-characterized. Symptom onset is at around 6 months, typically with recurrent, prolonged, tonic clonic, or hemiclonic seizures. The initial seizures are characteristically triggered by fever (febrile seizures), and/or vaccination (1, 3). Subsequently, multiple, afebrile seizure types emerge, that are usually resistant to treatment with antiseizure medications (1, 3). Status epilepticus is common (1), and premature mortality is estimated to affect between 10 and 20% of people (4–6), most commonly due to sudden unexplained death in epilepsy (SUDEP) or status (7). Development is initially normal, but begins to slow, plateau, or regress after seizure onset, typically from 2 years of age (1, 3). Most individuals develop moderate to severe intellectual disability (1, 3, 8). In addition to epilepsy, developmental delay, and intellectual disability, other "comorbid" conditions are common in DS, and include autism spectrum disorder (ASD) (9–12), gait impairment (9, 10, 13–16), scoliosis (12, 16), and sleep disorder (9, 16–21).

Difficulties related to feeding, and weight loss/failure to gain weight, are frequently reported in surveys of DS caregivers (9, 12, 16, 17, 22, 23). Reported feeding difficulties include appetite disturbance (9, 12, 16, 17, 22, 23), food fads and fussy/selective eating (22), prolonged meal times (22), inability to feed independently (24), and difficulty with chewing and swallowing (9, 12, 16, 22, 24). In one of the largest surveys of comorbidities in children with DS, 99% of caregivers reported at least one concern relating to feeding, making it the most frequently reported category of concern (22). Despite this, issues related to feeding and weight loss in DS have received little attention. In our single-centre experience of caring for more than 50 adults with DS, feeding difficulties and weight loss are commonly encountered, and 20% of individuals have undergone percutaneous endoscopic gastrostomy (PEG) insertion to manage these issues (Clayton, unpublished).

Here we report an adult with DS, highlighting some of the common but under-recognized issues related to feeding and PEG insertion in this population.

Case description

Taliah was born following an uneventful pregnancy. At 2 months she had a prolonged generalized tonic clonic seizure (GTCS) 12 h after her first immunization. At 3 months, following her second immunization, she had a further prolonged GTCS. Habitual, unprovoked seizures including myoclonic jerks, unclassified unresponsive episodes (possibly absence or atypical absence seizures), and GTCS began shortly after. Seizures were drug-resistant, and she experienced several episodes of status epilepticus. Taliah's early development was normal, but after a severe and prolonged GTCS at 4 years there was developmental regression, and subsequent intellectual disability. At 10 years, Taliah was diagnosed with DS following genetic testing which identified a pathogenic stopgain variant in SCN1A (NM_001353948:c.G3991T:p.E1331*). Now in adulthood, she continues to have clusters of GTCS, occurring every 1-2 months. Taliah has ASD and thoracolumbar scoliosis, which was surgically corrected at 13 years.

During adolescence, Taliah's food and fluid intake began to reduce, and weight loss ensued (Figure 1). There were no clear precipitants. She had been treated with a combination of stiripentol, valproate and clobazam for 4 years prior to symptom onset, with no dose increases, or introduction of new medications, in the preceding 3 years. Assessments and investigations, including by speech and language therapy, ear nose and throat specialists, blood tests (including antiseizure drug levels and ammonia levels), and barium swallow, did not reveal a cause. Over a period of 3 years, Taliah's food intake fluctuated, with episodes lasting for weeks where she would refuse to eat or drink, and where medication compliance could be challenging. Over time, seizure-free periods which occurred between clusters of GTCS, became shorter in duration (Figure 1). The need for a PEG was discussed, but like many caregivers of children/adults with neurological disability, the decision to proceed with PEG insertion was difficult for Taliah's family (25). Overtime, weight loss and signs of malnutrition became evident, and eventually a PEG was inserted to supplement Taliah's nutrition and fluid intake, and to allow for consistent medication administration. Since undergoing the PEG insertion, Taliah's weight has increased, she has more energy and sleeps less during the day. Her overall well-being has improved, and she is more engaged, interactive, and communicative. Taliah receives all fluid, and most nutrition via the PEG, but still eats some food orally for pleasure. Mealtimes are much less stressful for her family, and medication compliance is ensured.

Discussion

The true nature and spectrum of feeding difficulties in people with DS is unknown. Caregiver-reported "loss of appetite" is one of the most common feeding difficulties described in people with DS, yet the factors that lead to reduced food intake and food refusal (observed as "loss of appetite"), are likely to be complex and multifaceted. In children with neurodisability, oropharyngeal dysfunction, dental abnormalities, gastrointestinal disorders (such as gastroesophageal reflux and constipation), pain and behavioral factors [including those related to comorbid ASD (26)], all contribute to difficulties with feeding (27-29). Many of these issues are reported in people with DS, and may contribute to reduced food intake/food refusal, and other feeding difficulties. In addition, some of the most frequently prescribed antiseizure medications in DS, including topiramate (30), stiripentol (31), cannabidiol (32), and fenfluramine (33), are commonly associated with decreased appetite, weight loss and other gastrointestinal symptoms. Feeding difficulties may also be a consequence of the underlying disease biology of DS (Figure 2).

Despite their frequency in DS, issues related to feeding have received little attention, but are important to recognize and address, as they can have a negative impact on the quality of life for both the person with DS and their caregiver (9, 17, 22). Feeding difficulties can result in reduced food intake, leading to malnutrition and its consequences, poor medication compliance, and the risk of morbidity and mortality associated with a deterioration in seizure control. In addition, oropharyngeal dysfunction can put individuals at risk of aspiration pneumonia. We would recommend that

Age:	18 years	19 years	:	20 years		2	1 years	PEG			22 years
Weight:				39kg			42	kg#	45kg	49kg	49kg
Specialist input or investigation:	$\bigstar \bigstar$		[₽□∆☆☆			7	$\overline{\mathbf{x}}$			
Problems:	Stopped eating weak wobbly, dribbling more, lost weight, constipated	Eating more, back to normal self	Stopped eating fo a short period, complaining of pain in her throat	r Eating a very restricted diet and small portions.	Hair loss noted	gaining	Stopped eating. Self inducing vomiting if she does e		and ove	owsy, improv erall well-beir ated, has gair	ng, no longer
Nutritional intake:	Eating 1 meal, and drinking 2-3 "Supermalt" drinks per day	Eating normally. Taking regular supplements/high calorie drinks		Eating soup, not meeting energy & nutritional requirements. New supplement/high calorie drinks started	Only drinking milkshake or eating porridge	2	Only eating few spoon soup and ½ glass of col per day	s of		ome food by riable. No flu	mouth, but ids by mouth
Stiripentol: Valproate: Clobazam:	750mg BD* 600mg ON* 10mg ON*		750mg BD 600mg ON 5/10mg	750mg BD 300mg BD 5/10mg		1000/750mg 300mg BD 10mg BD		/750mg g/400mg ; BD	1000n 300/3 10mg	20mg	
Convulsive seizure frequency:	Clusters every 4-5 months		Seizure free for 3 months	Seizure free for 7 months		Clusters every 1 month	/ Clust 1 mo	ers every onth	Daily seiz	ures	Clusters ever 1-2 months
Drug levels:		STR 9mg/l	-	STR 10mg/L SVA 59mg/L CLB 143µg/L dmCLB 3730µg/L		STR 5mg/L SVA 72mg/L CLB 332µg/L dmCLB 5181µ	SVA	7mg/L 128mg/L	SVA 7 CLB 3	1mg/L 0mg/L 22µg/L В 2602µg/L	
Serum ammonia:		60µmol/L		66µmol/L			29ur	nol/L			

FIGURE 1

Timeline of feeding difficulties and percutaneous endoscopic gastrostomy insertion. Feeding difficulties including reduced food and fluid intake and subsequent weight loss fluctuated over 3 years prior to percutaneous endoscopic gastrostomy (PEG) insertion. # = Body mass index (BMI): 16.4 kg/m²; * = The combination of stiripentol (STR), valproate (SVA), and clobazam (CLB) had been prescribed for 4 years prior to symptom onset at 18 years, with no dose increases, or introduction of new medications, in the preceding 3 years; star = dietician review, cross = speech and language therapy review; square = ear nose and throat specialist review; triangle = barium swallow; Green highlight = time of PEG insertion; BD = twice daily, ON = at night; drug doses separated by a forward slash (e.g., 5/10 mg) refer to a morning and evening dose; serum therapeutic drug level ranges: stripentol 2–22 mg/L; valproate 50–100 mg/L; clobazam 30–300 µg/L; Desmethylclobazam (dmCLB) 300–3,000 µg/L; serum ammonia normal range 11–32 µg/L.

all individuals who experience feeding difficulties should be referred promptly to a dietician and speech and language therapist for formal review.

As experienced by Taliah's family, the decision to proceed with gastrostomy in children/adults with neurological disability can be difficult for caregivers (25), and it is important that adequate and appropriate information is provided to facilitate shared decision making (34). Greater awareness and understanding of feeding difficulties in DS are needed to ensure that these issues are proactively sought during clinical review, contributing factors addressed, and to facilitate earlier discussions between clinicians and caregivers around the potential need for gastrostomy. Recognition of these issues, and support from clinicians in addressing them early, should help to mitigate anxiety for caregivers around feeding, and avoid delays in intervention when necessary, minimizing the risk of malnutrition, dehydration and problems related to medication compliance.

Developmental and epileptic encephalopathies such as DS are complex conditions, often with multisystem comorbidities that extend beyond that of epilepsy. Current treatments for DS are symptomatic, predominantly aimed at controlling seizures, and do not modify underlying disease pathophysiology. Reducing seizure burden in DS has beneficial effects beyond seizure control, including improvements in cognition, language and mobility (35), but there is insufficient evidence to

suggest that treatment with antiseizure medications have a direct influence on other wider disease manifestations, such as neurodevelopmental, behavioral, motor, sleep and feeding difficulties. Disease-modifying therapies, currently undergoing clinical trials, have the potential to address the full spectrum of symptoms in DS as they directly target the underlying disease pathophysiology (18). Whilst these novel therapies are undergoing development, it is important for those caring for people with DS to consider the full spectrum of comorbid conditions that occur, and ensure that all aspects of the disease are addressed where possible. Caregivers have emphasized that therapies that address the wider spectrum of comorbidities in DS (alongside seizures) will improve quality of life for people with DS and have a positive effect on family wellbeing (18).

Parent's perspective

My daughter is now 22 years old. She has had seizures for most of her life. They started when she was 2 months old, just after an immunization. She was eventually diagnosed with epilepsy at 6 months, with the doctor at the time reassuring me that she would "grow out of it." Throughout her early years she had so many seizures that we were practically living in the hospital. As she grew older her seizures never settled down. She has tried almost every antiseizure medication, and at one stage



she was taking six different types. When she was 4 years old, she had a major seizure; she stayed in hospital for weeks, and since this episode she has never been the same again.

When Taliah was 10 years old, after having numerous tests, she was eventually diagnosed with DS. I didn't know what DS was, and I found it difficult to take everything in. There was so much information, I could not fully grasp the full extent of my daughter's condition.

Over the years she was in and out of hospital. At one point she was put into an induced coma because her seizures would not stop. That was such a difficult time as I felt useless, and I was frightened that I was going to lose my daughter. The light of my life.

Since her diagnosis, things have continued to be difficult. As Taliah grew older, I noticed that she began to lose her appetite. She has never been the best eater, and would always focus on only eating certain foods, but as she grew into a young adult, she started to refuse food completely. I tried everything to get her to eat, but she wouldn't. She complained of her throat hurting and just would not consume anything, only taking a drink now and again. She was seen by numerous specialists, and had lots of tests to find out why she did not want to eat, but all of the tests were normal, and nothing seemed to help. Then, for no clear reason, she slowly started to eat again, but only soft foods like yogurt and mashed potatoes.

By this time Taliah was an adult, and I learnt from her doctors that Taliah's eating difficulties were part of her DS. I felt relieved, but worried at the same time. I had comfort knowing that this was part of her condition, but worried, as I realized that it could get worse as she grew older. It was recommended that Taliah should have a PEG fitted, so that nutrition, fluids and medication could be given by a tube directly into her stomach. The PEG, and how it would affect Taliah, was explained to me, but at the time I was concerned about Taliah having to undergo the procedure, and because she was still eating small amounts, I did not want to put her through more distress than necessary. As a parent you always want to do the best for your child, but sometimes it is difficult to figure out what the best thing is. As time went on, Taliah was doing well, I did some research and asked questions about the PEG, and my conclusion was that she was not going to have it.

Within a year she stopped eating again, this time for 3 months. My heart sank. I was watching my daughter

59

wither away in front of my very eyes. I didn't know what to do. Her skin changed and her hair fell out. She was starving herself again. I hated myself because I realized I had made a huge mistake. I should have gone ahead with the PEG a year ago. Now look at what I had caused. I contacted Taliah's doctors and explained what was happening, and asked if Taliah could have a PEG inserted.

The PEG procedure was promptly arranged. I was still scared about the operation, but I had to do this for Taliah, and so she had her PEG inserted. It was difficult at first as we spent almost 3 weeks in the hospital. Taliah found it difficult to accept her PEG, and she could not tolerate the required rate of feed. She had a lot of discomfort at first, and she wanted to pull it out. It was difficult to watch her being in so much pain.

Being discharged home was a relief, but also very daunting, as I now had to deal with the PEG feed on my own without the support of the nurses at the hospital. However, once we got home, I had all the equipment that I needed to use the PEG, as well as telephone numbers that I could call in case I needed support. I was so nervous at first about making mistakes, I followed all the steps and I think I did a great job!

I was supported by the PEG nurses to clean the wound and to advance and turn the PEG tube. Advancing and turning the PEG tube every week was difficult, as this was quite painful for Taliah. My first try was horrible, I was shaking, and I even cried because I hated seeing my child in pain. I didn't want to do it, but the PEG nurse reminded me how important it was to prevent the base of the tube inside the stomach from becoming stuck, which would require another operation to remove it. I had to be brave, and I did what I had to do. Overtime it got easier, and I found clever ways of turning the tube so that Taliah does not even notice what I am doing.

Having the PEG fitted for my child has been the best thing to have happened. There is no longer a worry when Taliah does not want to eat, as she has her feed every day; it has brought me peace of mind when she refuses food.

At the start of her feeds, she required a 1,000 ml bottle which took 14 h to complete, but now she only requires 500 ml which runs over 5 h. Taliah has a small rucksack which she keeps her feed and her pump in, so she can go to college and do outdoor activities easily, and feed at the same time. She is no longer dehydrated as she gets regular water flushes throughout the day. She no longer sleeps for most of the day as her body has the correct nutrients. Her hair is flowing and glossy and she is a chatter-box now!

It has been a long journey, but I can honestly say that the PEG feed has been the absolute best thing for Taliah, and a God send for our family. I would absolutely recommend anyone who needs a PEG to have one, as it really does change lives.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

Ethical review and approval was not required for the study on human participants in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. Written informed consent was obtained from the individual (s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

Author contributions

LC, SB, and SS contributed to conception and design of the case report and discussion. LC wrote the first draft of the manuscript. EW wrote the first draft of the parent perspective. All authors contributed to manuscript revision, read, and approved the submitted version.

Funding

The work was supported by the Epilepsy Society and Dravet Syndrome UK. The publishing fee was contributed by Stoke Therapeutics. The funder was not involved in the study design, collection, analysis, interpretation of data, the writing of this article, or the decision to submit it for publication.

Permission statement

Taliah's family requested her name be used in this article.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Li W, Schneider AL, Scheffer IE. Defining Dravet syndrome: an essential pre-requisite for precision medicine trials. *Epilepsia*. (2021) 62:2205-17. doi: 10.1111/epi.17015

2. Symonds JD, Zuberi SM, Stewart K, McLellan A, O'Regan M, MacLeod S, et al. Incidence and phenotypes of childhood-onset genetic epilepsies: a prospective population-based national cohort. *Brain.* (2019) 142:2303-18. doi: 10.1093/brain/awz195

3. Dravet C, Bureau M, Oguni H, Fukuyama Y, Cokar O. chapter: 7 Severe Myoclonic Epilepsy in Infancy (Dravet syndrome). In: *Epileptic syndromes in infancy, childhood and adolescence - 4th edition.* (2005) 4:89–113.

4. Sakauchi M, Oguni H, Kato I, Osawa M, Hirose S, Kaneko S, et al. Mortality in Dravet syndrome: search for risk factors in Japanese patients. *Epilepsia.* (2011) 52(Suppl. 2):50–4. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2011.03002.x

5. Cooper MS, Mcintosh A, Crompton DE, McMahon JM, Schneider A, Farrell K, et al. Mortality in Dravet syndrome. *Epilepsy Res.* (2016) 128:43–7. doi: 10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2016.10.006

6. Genton P, Velizarova R, Dravet C. Dravet syndrome: the long-term outcome. *Epilepsia*. (2011) 52(Suppl. 2):44–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2011.03001.x

7. Shmuely S, Sisodiya SM, Gunning WB, Sander JW, Thijs RD. Mortality in Dravet syndrome: a review. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2016) 64(Pt. A):69–74. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2016.09.007

8. Jansson JS, Hallböök T, Reilly C. Intellectual functioning and behavior in Dravet syndrome: a systematic review. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2020) 108:107079. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2020.107079

9. Villas N, Meskis MA, Goodliffe S. Dravet syndrome: characteristics, comorbidities, and caregiver concerns. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2017) 74:81-6. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2017.06.031

10. Lagae L, Brambilla I, Mingorance A, Gibson E, Battersby A. Quality of life and comorbidities associated with Dravet syndrome severity: a multinational cohort survey. *Dev Med Child Neurol.* (2018) 60:63–72. doi: 10.1111/dmcn.13591

11. Li B-M, Liu X-R, Yi Y-H, Deng Y-H, Su T, Zou X, et al. Autism in Dravet syndrome: prevalence, features, and relationship to the clinical characteristics of epilepsy and mental retardation. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2011) 21:291–5. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2011.04.060

12. Huang C-H, Hung P-L, Fan P-C, Lin K-L, Hsu T-R, Chou I-J, et al. Clinical spectrum and the comorbidities of Dravet syndrome in Taiwan and the possible molecular mechanisms. *Sci Rep.* (2021) 11:1–9. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-98517-4

13. Rodda JM, Scheffer IE, McMahon JM, Berkovic SF, Graham HK. Progressive gait deterioration in adolescents with Dravet syndrome. *Arch Neurol.* (2012) 69:873–8. doi: 10.1001/archneurol.2011.3275

14. Di Marco R, Hallemans A, Bellon G, Ragona F, Piazza E, Granata T, et al. Gait abnormalities in people with Dravet syndrome: a cross-sectional multi-center study. *Eur J Paediatr Neurol.* (2019) 23:808–18. doi: 10.1016/j.ejpn.2019.09.010

15. Brunklaus A, Dorris L, Zuberi SM. Comorbidities and predictors of health-related quality of life in Dravet syndrome. *Epilepsia.* (2011) 52:1476-82. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2011.03129.x

16. Skluzacek JV, Watts KP, Parsy O, Wical B, Camfield P. Dravet syndrome and parent associations: the IDEA League experience with comorbid conditions, mortality, management, adaptation, and grief. *Epilepsia*. (2011) 52(Suppl. 2):95–101. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2011.03012.x

17. Nabbout R, Dirani M, Teng T, Bianic F, Martin M, Holland R, et al. Impact of childhood Dravet syndrome on care givers of patients with DS, a major impact on mothers. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2020) 108:107094. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2020.107094

18. Juandó-Prats C, James E, Bilder DA, McNair L, Kenneally N, Helfer J, et al. Dravet engage. Parent caregivers of children with Dravet syndrome: perspectives, needs, and opportunities for clinical research. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2021) 122:108198. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2021.108198

19. Dhamija R, Erickson MK, St Louis EK, Wirrell E, Kotagal S. Sleep abnormalities in children with Dravet syndrome. *Pediatr Neurol.* (2014) 50:474–8. doi: 10.1016/j.pediatrneurol.2014.01.017

20. Licheni SH, Mcmahon JM, Schneider AL, Davey MJ, Scheffer IE. Sleep problems in Dravet syndrome: a modifiable comorbidity. *Dev Med Child Neurol.* (2018) 60:192–8. doi: 10.1111/dmcn.13601

21. Van Nuland A, Ivanenko A, Meskis MA, Villas N, Knupp KG, Berg AT. Sleep in Dravet syndrome: a parent-driven survey. *Seizure.* (2021) 85:102–10. doi: 10.1016/j.seizure.2020.12.021

22. Knupp KG, Scarbro S, Wilkening G, Juarez-Colunga E, Kempe A, Dempsey A. Parental perception of comorbidities in children with Dravet syndrome. *Pediatr Neurol.* (2017) 76:60–5. doi: 10.1016/j.pediatrneurol.2017.06.008

23. Paprocka J, Lewandowska A, Zieliński P, Kurczab B, Emich-Widera E, Mazurczak T. Dravet syndrome-the polish family's perspective study. *J Clin Med Res.* (2021) 10:1903. doi: 10.3390/jcm10091903

24. Berg AT, Gaebler-Spira D, Wilkening G, Zelko F, Knupp K, Dixon-Salazar T, et al. Nonseizure consequences of Dravet syndrome, KCNQ2-DEE, KCNB1-DEE, Lennox–Gastaut syndrome, ESES: a functional framework. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2020) 111:107287. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2020.107287

25. Mahant S, Jovcevska V, Cohen E. Decision-making around gastrostomy-feeding in children with neurologic disabilities. *Pediatrics.* (2011) 127:e1471-81. doi: 10.1542/peds.2010-3007

26. Vissoker RE, Latzer Y, Gal E. Eating and feeding problems and gastrointestinal dysfunction in Autism Spectrum Disorders. *Res Autism Spectr Disord.* (2015) 12:10–21. doi: 10.1016/j.rasd.2014.12.010

27. Romano C, van Wynckel M, Hulst J, Broekaert I, Bronsky J, Dall'Oglio L, et al. European society for paediatric gastroenterology, hepatology and nutrition guidelines for the evaluation and treatment of gastrointestinal and nutritional complications in children with neurological impairment. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr.* (2017) 65:242–64. doi: 10.1097/MPG.000000000 001646

28. Andrew MJ. Nutrition in children with neurodisability. *Paediatr Child Health*. (2019) 29:436–40. doi: 10.1016/j.paed.2019.07.004

29. Batra A, Marino LV, Beattie RM. Feeding children with neurodisability: challenges and practicalities. *Arch Dis Child.* (2022). doi: 10.1136/archdischild-2021-322102. [Epub ahead of print].

30. Kröll-Seger J, Portilla P, Dulac O, Chiron C. Topiramate in the treatment of highly refractory patients with Dravet syndrome. *Neuropediatrics*. (2006) 37:325–9. doi: 10.1055/s-2007-964867

31. Buck ML, Goodkin HP. Stiripentol: a novel antiseizure medication for the management of Dravet syndrome. *Ann Pharmacother*. (2019) 53:1136-44. doi: 10.1177/1060028019856008

32. Devinsky O, Cross JH, Wright S. Trial of cannabidiol for drugresistant seizures in the Dravet syndrome. *N Engl J Med.* (2017) 377:699– 700. doi: 10.1056/NEJMc1708349

33. Lagae L, Sullivan J, Knupp K, Laux L, Polster T, Nikanorova M, et al. Fenfluramine hydrochloride for the treatment of seizures in Dravet syndrome: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet.* (2019) 394:2243–54. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(19)32500-0

34. Brotherton A, Abbott J. Clinical decision making and the provision of information in PEG feeding: an exploration of patients and their carers' perceptions. *J Hum Nutr Diet.* (2009) 22:302–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-277X.2009.00966.x

35. Catarino CB, Liu JYW, Liagkouras I, Gibbons VS, Labrum RW, Ellis R, et al. Dravet syndrome as epileptic encephalopathy: evidence from long-term course and neuropathology. *Brain*. (2011) 134(Pt. 10):2982–3010. doi: 10.1093/brai n/awr129

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Fernando Cendes, State University of Campinas, Brazil

REVIEWED BY Elena Gardella, University of Southern Denmark, Denmark Alessandro Orsini, Pisana University Hospital, Italy

*CORRESPONDENCE Yong Chen chen9625@163.com Jianmin Zhong zhongjm@163.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Epilepsy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

RECEIVED 16 July 2022 ACCEPTED 31 August 2022 PUBLISHED 16 September 2022

CITATION

Chen H, Li X, Wu H, Sun X, Che Y, Zha J, Wang R, Yu X, Chen Y and Zhong J (2022) Case report: A novel *de novo* variant of *SCN8A* in a child with benign convulsions with mild gastroenteritis. *Front. Neurol.* 13:995513. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2022.995513

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Chen, Li, Wu, Sun, Che, Zha, Wang, Yu, Chen and Zhong. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Case report: A novel *de novo* variant of *SCN8A* in a child with benign convulsions with mild gastroenteritis

Hui Chen[†], Xiaoyan Li[†], Huaping Wu[†], Xiaolan Sun, Yuanyuan Che, Jian Zha, Ruiyan Wang, Xiongying Yu, Yong Chen^{*} and Jianmin Zhong^{*}

Department of Neurology, The Affiliated Children's Hospital of Nanchang University (Jiangxi Provincial Children's Hospital), Nanchang, China

Benign convulsions with mild gastroenteritis (CwG) is characterized by afebrile convulsions accompanied by mild gastroenteritis, and it can be considered after central nervous system infection, hypoglycemia, electrolyte disturbance, and moderate and severe dehydration are excluded. Previous studies have suggested that genetics may be involved in CWG. Herein, we reported a novel de novo variant of SCN8A in a child with CwG. This is the first report that SCN8A may be associated with CwG. Our report may provides evidence for the genetic etiology of CwG and expands the phenotypic and genetic spectrum of SCN8A-related disorders, which previously included severe developmental and epileptic encephalopathy (DEE) phenotype, benign epilepsy phenotype, spectrum of intermediate epilepsies, and patients with cognitive and/or behavioral disturbances without epilepsy. Phenotype of CwG has a good prognosis, and it does not require long-term antiepileptic therapy. Overtreatment should be avoided clinically. However, the conclusion needs to be further defined by long-term follow-up and similar clinical reports. In spite of this, our clinical observation provides possible evidence for future studies on the relationship between SCN8A and CwG.

KEYWORDS

SCN8A, gene, benign, convulsions, gastroenteritis

Introduction

Benign convulsions with mild gastroenteritis (CwG) was first reported by Morooka in 1982 in Japan (1), which was later repeatedly reported (2, 3). Most of the CwG cases occurs during the winter and early spring months. This clinical condition is characterized by afebrile convulsions accompanied by mild gastroenteritis in previously healthy infants. Besides, it can be considered after central nervous system infection, hypoglycemia, electrolyte disturbance, and moderate and severe dehydration are excluded, and usually has a good prognosis (4).

CwG has been more frequently described in East Asian countries, which suggests that the genetic characteristics of the host may play a role in the development of CwG (4).

In addition to this, Okumura et al. found that CwG occurred in identical twins during the course of gastroenteritis, and their convulsions occurred almost simultaneously (5). These studies suggest that CwG may be related to genetic factors. However, in recent years, several scholars have tested SCN1A, SCN1B, and PRRT2 genes in CwG patients, but no positive results were found (6-8). Finally, in 2020, Terrone et al. found heterozygous missense mutation of SPTAN1 gene by next generation sequencing (NGS) in a family, including a 13-yearold sister, an 8-year-old brother and their 39-year-old mother (9). The clinical observation suggests for the first time that variants in SPTAN1 gene might be involved in the etiology of CwG. Herein, we reported a novel de novo variant of SCN8A in a child with CwG. This is the first report that SCN8A may be associated with CwG. Our report may provides evidence for the genetic etiology of CwG and expands the phenotypic and genetic spectrum of SCN8A-related disorders.

Case description

The patient was a 36 months old boy. The Chinese boy was born full term with normal birth weight. She had no history of transient hypoxia at birth. There was no family history of neurologic disorders. He developed acute gastroenteritis symptoms at 19 months, presenting with 3 times of vomiting and diarrhea (3 times daily). A day later, the boy began with 3 generalized tonic-clonic seizures (GTCS) without fever in 1 day. The duration of each convulsion was 2–3 min. Since then, phenobarbital was given (5 mg/kg, intravenous injection). However, he still had two more similar convulsions. After treatment of diazepam (0.3 mg/kg, intravenous injection), there was no further convulsion. Vomiting resolved within 2 days, while diarrhea recurred over 5 days (2-4 times a day) and then resolved. Dehydration did not occur throughout the course of the disease. In the interictal phase, the child's mental state was normal and his consciousness was clear. However, 10 days later, he developed symptoms of gastroenteritis again, including diarrhea and vomiting, and had one GTCS a day later. The duration of the convulsion was 2 min. The symptoms of the mild gastroenteritis lasted for 4 days, and the convulsions only occurred once during the course of the gastroenteritis. We did not give the child long-term antiepileptic treatment. After a long-term follow-up of 17 months, he never had another seizure. The child's motor and intellectual milestones were the same as those of normal children. Physical examination at the age of 19 months showed a height of 83 cm (50-85th centile), weight of 13.5 kg (85-97th centile) and head circumference of 47 cm (25-50th centile). His consciousness was clear. Cardiac auscultation was normal. Muscle strength and tone were normal. Knee reflex were normal and babinski signs were negative. EEG showed slow background activity during wakefulness in interictal periods, and no epileptic discharges were observed (Figure 1). Rotavirus of stool was positive. Other investigations were non-diagnostic including liver function tests, renal function, electrolytes, glucose, blood white cells, blood red cells, platelets, ammonia, creatine kinase, plasma lactate, white blood cells and red blood cells in stool, electrocardiogram, and brain MRI. Therefore, he was eventually diagnosed as suffering from CwG. Due to recurrent convulsions, the child's parents wanted to further understand the genetic causes, so we performed



EEG of the case. (A) EEG showed slow background activity during wakefulness in interictal periods, and no epileptic discharges were observed. (B) No epileptic discharges were observed during sleep stages. NGS on him. He was found to have a de novo heterozygous mutations c.5503 (exon27) C>G in SCN8A gene that was not detected in either parent. The variant led to protein changes p.Pro1835Ala (NM_014191.4). The variant (p.Pro1835Ala) was a de novo heterozygous variant (PS2), which affected highly conserved amino acid region. It was not found in the normal control population in multiple databases, such as gnomAD, ExAC, 1,000 Genomes, ESP6500 (PM2_Supporting). Various statistical methods predicted that the variation would have deleterious effects on gene products (PP3), such as SIFT (Damaging), MutationTaster (Disease_causing), FATHMM (Damaging), PROVEAN (Damaging), DANN (Damaging), CADD (Damaging) and Eigen (Damaging). In addition to this, the missense mutation of SCN8A gene had a high pathogenic possibility, and the Z-score was 7.64 in gnomAD database (PP2). Hence, the variant was classified as likely pathogenic in accordance with the ACMG guideline (PS2 + PM2_Supporting + PP2 + PP3).

Discussion

In our case report, the patient presented with multiple afebrile convulsions accompanied by mild gastroenteritis, and he did not present with electrolyte disturbances, dehydration, hypoglycemia, or central nervous system infection. In addition, he did not receive long-term antiepileptic medication. After a long-term follow-up of 17 months, he did not develop convulsions again, and his motor and cognitive development was normal. he has a good prognosis. In the first course of acute gastroenteritis, vomiting resolved within 2 days, while diarrhea resolved within 5 days. Ten days later, he developed symptoms of gastroenteritis again, including diarrhea and vomiting. The symptoms of the mild gastroenteritis lasted for 4 days. The convulsions only occurred during the course of the gastroenteritis. During a 10-day period, there were no symptoms of gastroenteritis or convulsions. Therefore, I think it was two episodes. Recent study has shown that children with CwG have a possibility of recurrence, with a recurrence rate of about 6.3% (10). Therefore, child of the case might suffer from recurrent CwG according to its diagnostic criteria (4, 10). However, because the interval time is too short (10day period), it needs to be differentiated from epilepsy. The diagnosis of recurrent CwG still needs to be further defined by long-term follow-up and similar clinical reports. CwG is similar to an epileptic syndrome within benign infantile seizures in the classification set by the International League Against Epilepsy (ILAE) because of its clinical features of afebrile convulsions. However, until now, CwG has not been fully recognized as an epileptic syndrome by ILAE. Because convulsion of CwG is accompanied by mild gastroenteritis, it has been suggested that CwG might be termed as situation-related seizures (4).

In conclusion, CwG is a separate disease which is different from epilepsy.

SCN8A encodes Nav1.6, which is one of four voltagegated sodium channels expressed in the mammalian brain. Nav1.6 is found in the central and peripheral nervous system with a predominant expression in excitatory, but also in inhibitory neurons (11, 12). The first pathogenic variants in SCN8A have been described in an affected individual with developmental and epileptic encephalopathy (DEE) (13). In recent years, a wide clinical spectrum of neurodevelopmental phenotypes has been reported, including severe DEE phenotype, benign epilepsy phenotype, spectrum of intermediate epilepsies, generalized epilepsy, unclassifiable epilepsy and patients with cognitive and/or behavioral disturbances without epilepsy (12, 14-17). Most pathogenic variants in SCN8A are missense. Previous functional studies of selected epilepsy-associated SCN8A variants have revealed a gain of function (GoF) pathogenic mechanism, which cause ultimately hyperactivity of the ion channel. On the contrary, variants causing loss of function (LoF) are related with patients with cognitive and/or behavioral disturbances without epilepsy, Such as ID, ASD, myoclonus, and ataxia (14). However, this view is no longer true, a recent study showed generalized epilepsy with absence seizures was the main epilepsy phenotype of LOF variant carriers and the extent of the electrophysiological dysfunction of the GOF variants was a main determinant of the severity of the clinical phenotype in focal epilepsies including severe DEE phenotype, benign epilepsy phenotype, spectrum of intermediate epilepsies. However, a few functional studies of SCN8A variants in DEE were LOF (12). Our clinical observation is the first report that SCN8A may be associated with CwG. Our clinical observation is only a case report, which need to be supported by more case reports. Moreover, relevant functional studies will be needed to further clarify the related mechanisms. This is the limitation of our clinical observation.

In conclusion, our clinical observation suggests that variants in *SCN8A* gene might be involved in pathogenesis of CwG. Phenotype of CwG has a good prognosis. It does not require long-term antiepileptic therapy, and overtreatment should be avoided clinically. However, the conclusion needs to be further defined by long-term follow-up and similar clinical reports. In spite of this, our clinical observation provides possible evidence for future studies on the relationship between *SCN8A* and CwG.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Research Ethics Committee of Children's Hospital of Jiangxi Province. Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin. Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s), and minor(s)' legal guardian/next of kin, for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

Author contributions

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

References

1. Morooka K. Convulsions and mild diarrhea [in Japanese]. *Shonika.* (1982) 23:131–7. doi: 10.1536/ihj.23.697

2. Ma X, Luan S, Zhao Y, Lv X, Zhang R. Clinical characteristics and follow-up of benign convulsions with mild gastroenteritis among children. *Medicine*. (2019) 98:e14082. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000014082

3. Hao XS, Liang JM, Wu XM, Hao YP, Wang JT, Liu SY. Clinical characteristics, treatment, and long-term outcomes in children suffering from benign convulsions with mild gastroenteritis: a retrospective study. *BMC Pediatr.* (2020) 20:516. doi: 10.1186/s12887-020-02406-0

4. Castellazzi L, Principi N, Agostoni C, Esposito S. Benign convulsions in children with mild gastroenteritis. *Eur J Paediatr Neurol.* (2016) 20:690– 5. doi: 10.1016/j.ejpn.2016.05.014

5. Okumura A, Kato T, Hayakawa F, Kuno K, Watanabe K. Convulsion associated with mild gastroenteritis: occurrence in identical twins on the same day. *No To Hattatsu.* (1999) 31:59–62.

6. Weng WC, Hirose S, Lee WT. Benign convulsions with mild gastroenteritis: is it associated with sodium channel gene SCN1A mutation? *J Child Neurol.* (2010) 25:1521–4. doi: 10.1177/0883073810370898

7. Yamashita S, Okumura A, Yamamoto T, Shimojima K, Tanabe T, Shimizu T. SCN1B is not related to benign partial epilepsy in infancy or convulsions with gastroenteritis. *Neuropediatrics.* (2011) 42:135–7. doi: 10.1055/s-0031-1285837

 Ishii A, Yasumoto S, Ihara Y, Inoue T, Fujita T, Nakamura N, et al. Genetic analysis of PRRT2 for benign infantile epilepsy, infantile convulsions with choreoathetosis syndrome, and benign convulsions with mild gastroenteritis. *Brain Dev.* (2013) 35:524–30. doi: 10.1016/j.braindev.2012.09.006

9. Terrone G, Pinelli M, Bernardo P, Parrini E, Imperati F, Brunetti-Pierri N, et al. Intrafamilial variability in SPTAN1-related disorder: From benign convulsions

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

with mild gastroenteritis to developmental encephalopathy. *Eur J Paediatr Neurol.* (2020) 28:237–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ejpn.2020.07.008

10. Shi K, Yang J, Wu Y, Han H, Guo J, Chen W. Risk factors for the recurrence of convulsions with mild gastroenteritis in children. *Seizure.* (2020) 80:192–5. doi: 10.1016/j.seizure.2020.06.016

11. Bunton-Stasyshyn RKA, Wagnon JL, Wengert ER, Barker BS, Faulkner A, Wagley PK, et al. Prominent role of forebrain excitatory neurons in SCN8A encephalopathy. *Brain.* (2019) 142:362–75. doi: 10.1093/brain/awy324

12. Johannesen KM, Liu Y, Koko M, Gjerulfsen CE, Sonnenberg L, Schubert J, et al. Genotype-phenotype correlations in SCN8A-related disorders reveal prognostic and therapeutic implications. *Brain.* (2021). doi: 10.1093/brain/awab321. [Epub ahead of print].

13. Veeramah KR, O'Brien JE, Meisler MH, Cheng X, Dib-Hajj SD, Waxman SG, et al. De novo pathogenic SCN8A mutation identified by whole-genome sequencing of a family quartet affected by infantile epileptic encephalopathy and SUDEP. *Am J Hum Genet.* (2012) 90:502–10. doi: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2012.01.006

14. Gardella E, Møller RS. Phenotypic and genetic spectrum of SCN8A-related disorders, treatment options, and outcomes. *Epilepsia.* (2019) 60(Suppl. 3):S77–85. doi: 10.1111/epi.16319

15. Johannesen KM, Gardella E, Encinas AC, Lehesjoki AE, Linnankivi T, Petersen MB, et al. The spectrum of intermediate SCN8A-related epilepsy. *Epilepsia.* (2019) 60:830–44. doi: 10.1111/epi.14705

16. Anand G, Collett-White F, Orsini A, Thomas S, Jayapal S, Trump N, et al. Autosomal dominant SCN8A mutation with an unusually mild phenotype. *Eur J Paediatr Neurol.* (2016) 20:761–5. doi: 10.1016/j.ejpn.2016.04.015

17. Wang J, Gao H, Bao X, Zhang Q, Li J, Wei L, et al. SCN8A mutations in Chinese patients with early onset epileptic encephalopathy and benign infantile seizures. *BMC Med Genet.* (2017) 18:104. doi: 10.1186/s12881-017-0460-1

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Kette D. Valente, Faculty of Medicine, University of São Paulo, Brazil

REVIEWED BY

Luiz Eduardo Betting, São Paulo State University, Brazil Lauro Wichert-Ana, Ribeirão Preto Medical School, University of São Paulo, Brazil

*CORRESPONDENCE Leonardo Favi Bocca ⊠ leobocca5@gmail.com

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Epilepsy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

RECEIVED 17 December 2022 ACCEPTED 24 February 2023 PUBLISHED 09 March 2023

CITATION

Favi Bocca L, Pereira Rodrigues T, Bortholin T, Targas Yacubian EM, Carrete Júnior H, Guaranha M and Silva Centeno R (2023) Case report: Successful anterior temporal lobectomy in drug-resistant temporal lobe epilepsy associated with Sotos syndrome. *Front. Neurol.* 14:1126327. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2023.1126327

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Favi Bocca, Pereira Rodrigues, Bortholin, Targas Yacubian, Carrete Júnior, Guaranha and Silva Centeno. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Case report: Successful anterior temporal lobectomy in drug-resistant temporal lobe epilepsy associated with Sotos syndrome

Leonardo Favi Bocca^{1*}, Thiago Pereira Rodrigues¹, Thiago Bortholin¹, Elza Márcia Targas Yacubian¹, Henrique Carrete Júnior², Mirian Guaranha¹ and Ricardo Silva Centeno¹

¹Department of Neurology and Neurosurgery, Federal University of São Paulo, São Paulo, Brazil, ²Department of Diagnostic Imaging, Federal University of São Paulo, São Paulo, Brazil

The Sotos syndrome is an autosomal dominant disorder characterized by haploinsufficiency of *NSD1* gene, with some individuals affected by epilepsy and, rarely, drug-resistant seizures. A 47-years-old female patient with Sotos syndrome was diagnosed with focal-onset seizures in left temporal lobe, left-side hippocampal atrophy, and neuropsychological testing with decreased performance in several cognitive domains. Patient was treated with left-side temporal lobe resection and developed complete awake seizure control in 3-years of follow-up, with marked improvement in quality-of-life. In selected, clinically concordant patients, resective surgeries may play a significant role in improving patient's quality of life and seizure control.

KEYWORDS

Sotos syndrome, temporal lobe epilepsy, epilepsy surgery, outcome, hippocampal sclerosis

Introduction

The Sotos syndrome (OMIM #117550), previously named as cerebral gigantism, is an overgrowth syndrome (1), first described in 1964 by Sotos et al. (2). This condition is characterized by childhood overgrowth and comprises three cardinal features: childhood overgrowth (with significant macrocephaly), characteristic facial appearance (high, broad forehead, fronto-temporal hair sparsity, malar flushing, down-slanting palpebral fissures, and a pointed chin) and learning difficulties (3). Other major features may be present and include advanced bone age, poor feeding in infancy, neonatal jaundice, neonatal hypotonia, seizures, scoliosis, cardiac anomalies, renal anomalies, maternal pre-eclampsia, and joint laxity/pes planus (3).

The pathogenic haploinsufficiency of the Nuclear receptor Set Domain containing protein 1 gene (*NSD1*) was found as major cause of Sotos syndrome (4). Mutations in *NSD1* gene or 5q35 microdeletions encompassing *NSD1* are the most common etiology (5). The condition is inherited in an autosomal dominant manner, with ~95% of individuals presenting with *de novo* pathogenic variant (6).

The presentation of seizures is common with around half of Sotos patients having at least one episode (7), with wide range of possible presentations reported in the literature. A recent cohort published by Dassi et al. (8) described the phenotype of seizures in 49 patients, with 10% showing only febrile seizures, and 90% with clear epilepsy. Among all seizure types, staring spells (both true generalized onset absence seizures and focal onset impaired awareness seizures) was the most frequent one, encompassing 67% of reported patients.

Although surgical treatment of drug-resistant seizures in one patient with Sotos syndrome was reported (9), to the best of authors' knowledge, this is the first successful surgical treatment of a genetically confirmed Sotos syndrome affected patient in the literature.

Case presentation

Patient information

A 47-years-old white female patient was referred to our institutional epilepsy clinic with a history of seizures since 2 years-old. The first epileptic event was described as sudden loss of awareness, followed by generalized clonic movements and sialorrhea with no fever or other precipitating symptom. The first antiseizure drug trial was phenobarbital. Despite correct dose and usage of antiseizure medications, the patient continued to experience seizures since 2-years old. From 20-years-old to our first clinical evaluation, the patient experienced a focal onset impaired awareness seizure, characterized by an aura of desire to cough or a feeling of dry throat and followed by staring, mouth automatisms, bimanual automatisms, and head shift to the left side, evolving to postictal state lasting about 2 min. Overall seizure time was brief, lasting around 1 min and secondary generalizations rarely happening, with only four events during lifetime. This awake seizure had a minimal frequency of two to three seizures by week, worsening frequency close to menses phase, with no history of status epilepticus. Patient's mother reported a second type of event described as agitation and frenetic rubbing of left ear with ipsilateral hand at sleeping time, with an average frequency of one to two events each week. Previous history of several antiseizure drug trials included valproate, phenytoin, lamotrigine and phenobarbital, with variable degrees of tolerance and seizure control. Current antiseizure medication was carbamazepine and clobazam, without seizure free achievement. Remarkable past medical history included no perinatal disorder, non-consanguineous parents and no history of epilepsy or seizures in the family.

Clinical findings

Patient's family reported learning disabilities and phenotypic features of Sotos syndrome (Figure 1) in clinical and imaging exams were present. The genetic testing confirmed the diagnosis showing a heterozygous mutation in exon 15 of *NSD1* gene [c.5146G>A, p.(Gly1716Arg)]. This variant was not found in The Genome Aggregation Database (gnomAD) and was classified as pathologic in Leiden Open Variation Database (LOVD) (10).

Prolonged (62 h) non-invasive video-EEG monitoring was performed on 32-channel digital EEG equipment (Ceegraph software, Bio-Logic Systems Corp., Mundelein, IL, U.S.A. and QP-110AK Nihon Kohden, Tokyo, Japan). Electrodes were placed according to the 10–20 International System, plus intermediary temporal and sphenoidal electrodes. To record ictal events, antiseizure medications were completely withdrawn. The frequency and location of interictal epileptiform discharges (IEDs) were visually assessed on 5 min EEG samples per hour, 24 h per day. This monitoring showed symmetrical and slightly disorganized base activity, with 778 bilateral interictal epileptic discharges (84.1% left anterior temporal region and 15.9% right anterior temporal region, **Figure 1G**) and six electroclinical seizures. Five focal onset impaired awareness motor seizures were during awake period and only one during sleep.

All seizures recorded had the ictal onset and sytomatogenic area in the left temporal lobe, and brain MRI showed left hippocampus atrophy and right hippocampus malrotation (Figure 1). Neuropsychological testing found low scores in episodic memory (verbal and non-verbal), language, speech, constructive praxis, and working memory. Quality of life was assessed using Quality of Life in Epilepsy Inventory-31 (QOLIE-31) adapted to patient's native language (11), with a pre-operative score of 45.4.

Therapeutic intervention

Left anterior temporal lobectomy was performed (En bloc resection of the 4.5 cm anterior region of temporal neocortex, piecemeal resection of uncus, amygdala and entorhinal cortex and en bloc resection of the anterior 2.5 cm of the hippocampus) by the senior epilepsy neurosurgeon (RSC). The patient was discharged from the hospital after 3 days, with no complication.

Follow-up and outcomes

During 3-years follow-up, the patient is under previous antiseizure medication dosage (carbamazepine 400 mg q8h and clobazam 20 mg q12h), with post-operative brain MRI showing complete hippocampal and temporal resection (Figure 2). Patient had no epileptic event awake, experiencing on average one nocturnal seizure each week (Engel Outcome Scale class II D).

Two awake EEG performed at 2- and 21-month after surgery showed no awake interictal epileptic discharges. Post-operative QOLIE-31 score was 63.3 (an improvement of 39.4%), and neuropsychological assessment showed no change in constructive praxis, language, speech, and verbal episodic language, and slight improvement of non-verbal episodic memory. Despite no change in verbal episodic memory, patient described subjective worsening in this cognitive domain.

Discussion

Heterogenous seizure patterns have been associated with Sotos syndrome, e.g., febrile seizures, infantile spasms, absence, tonicclonic, and myoclonic seizures (12), occurring in 15%–50%



FIGURE 1

Pre-surgical evaluation. (A, B) Facial dysmorphic features of Sotos syndrome showing prominent forehead, pointed chin and macrodolicocephaly. (C, D) Plain spine radiograph shows thoraco-lumbar scoliosis. (E) T2-weighted coronal brain MRI showing global atrophy with marked sulcal and ventricular volume increase. Note left hippocampal malrotation/atrophy (black triangle) compared to right hippocampus (white triangle). (F) FLAIR-weighted axial brain MRI. Left hippocampal malrotation/atrophy with slight hyperintense signal (black triangle). (G) Interictal EEG monitoring showing bilateral epileptic discharges with left temporal lobe lateralization.



FIGURE 2

Late post-surgical brain MRI. (A) T2-weighted axial brain MRI shows left hippocampus resection (black triangle). (B, C) Coronal brain images showing complete resection of left amygdala and uncus on image (B) and hippocampal resection through transcortical approach (T2, white triangle).

of affected patients (3, 7) and a wide spectrum of behavioral and emotional disturbances (e.g., attention-deficit-hyperactivity disorder, aggressiveness, irritability, pyromania, social inhibition, psychosis, and autistic features) are commonly related to patients with this condition (5). Seizure-free status after one or more drug trials is the rule (12), with persistence of seizures in adulthood, i.e., drug-resistant epilepsy, an uncommon (9%) outcome (13). Around 40% of Sotos syndrome patients have a classic temporal lobe seizure (abdominal auras, automatisms with/without behavioral arrest and a temporal onset on ictal EEG), with tonic-clonic generalization developing in one third of patients (12). EEG data from big cohorts shows different characteristics, ranging from generalized, focal, or multifocal epilepsy (8). The heterogeneity in clinical behavior, genetic mutation (8) and seizure control must guide detailed evaluation by the attending clinician.

Although the goal of resective temporal lobe surgery for epilepsy treatment is to achieve seizure-free status, and with some big, published cohorts showing rates of chronic control (Engel Outcome Scale class I) ranging from 62 to 73.6% (14–16), the quality-of-life improvement impact is observed even in patients with Engel outcome class > I (17), probably due to the multifactorial effect of seizure control in different cognitive aspects (like mood, medication use/dosage, social function, etc.).

Predictors of better outcome after epilepsy surgery include congruent electrophysiology data, lesional epilepsy, and surgical limitations to first epilepsy surgery (18). Even after recurrence of seizures, second look surgery can still be a possible therapeutic option, with reported rates of 57% of seizure free status after first surgery failure (19). The patient presented in this report continued to experience sleep seizures despite complete mesial temporal lobe resection, what may be due to partial epileptogenic zone resection. Although still presenting with nocturnal seizures, the patient and his family reported significant improvement in quality of life, enabling patient's return to unattended work.

Genetic testing is not routinely performed before surgical evaluation in most epilepsy centers and is not included in suggested presurgical list of tests of Epilepsy League Against Epilepsy (ILAE) guidelines (20, 21), with almost half of patients genetically tested after screening for epilepsy surgery (22). Genetic disorders should not preclude surgical indication for epilepsy surgery and can guide the selection of surgical candidates (23). Due to the widely diverse number of different genetic syndromes and mutations that lead to refractory epilepsy, success rates are difficult to estimate, with better outcomes reported in mutations in the mTOR pathway (23).

Our presented patient had an uncommon evolution with drugresistant epilepsy in Sotos syndrome setting. Despite bilateral mesial temporal lobe been abnormal at investigation (left side showing sclerosis and right side malformation), the detailed investigation depicted a focal onset seizure in left medial temporal lobe due to mesial temporal sclerosis with excellent outcome after resection. Our report is the first one to describe a patient with complete awake seizure control after temporal lobe resection and the second operated patient with Sotos syndrome (9). Although both patients had Sotos syndrome, the patient reported by Bättig et al. (9) was genetically diagnosed with the syndrome after surgical procedure, had a diffuse astrocytoma in the operated temporal lobe and abundant diffuse bilateral sharp waves and polyspikes on interictal EEG, making the cases fundamentally different.

Next steps in health care include optimization of antiseizure medications, sleeping EEG to better categorize the nocturnal seizure event. During follow-up, patient stated no intention of second look surgery based on benefits achieved after first seizure and risks involved to another surgical procedure.

Conclusion

Epilepsy and, less frequently, drug-resistant seizures are features found in patients suffering from Sotos syndrome. In very

selected and investigated cases, surgical resection of epileptogenic brain tissue is safe and feasible, improving patient's quality of life and promoting seizure control.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the are included study in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by IRB of Federal University of São Paulo. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

Author contributions

Conception and design: LF, TP, and RS. Acquisition of data: LF and TB. Analysis and interpretation of data: LF, TP, ET, HC, MG, and RS. Drafting the article: LF and TP. Reviewed submitted version of manuscript: TP and RS. Approved the final version of the manuscript on behalf of all authors: LF. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Manor J, Lalani SR. Overgrowth syndromes-evaluation, diagnosis, and management. *Front Pediatr.* (2020) 8:574857. doi: 10.3389/fped.2020.574857

2. Sotos JF, Dodge PR, Muirhead D, Crawford JD, Talbot NB. Cerebral gigantism in childhood. N Engl J Med. (1964) 271:109–16. doi: 10.1056/NEJM196407162710301

^{3.} Tatton-Brown K, Rahman N. Sotos syndrome. Eur J Hum Genet. (2007) 15:264–71. doi: 10.1038/sj.ejhg.5201686

^{4.} Kurotaki N, Imaizumi К, Harada Masuno Μ. N, Kondoh T, et al. Haploinsufficiency NSD1 Τ. Nagai of causes

Sotos syndrome. Nat Genet. (2002) 30:365-6. doi: 10.1038/ ng863

5. Baujat G, Cormier-Daire V. Sotos syndrome. Orphanet J Rare Dis. (2007) 2:36. doi: 10.1186/1750-1172-2-36

6. Tatton-Brown K, Cole TR, Rahman N. Sotos Syndrome. Seattle (WA): University of Washington, Seattle (1993).

7. Tatton-Brown K, Douglas J, Coleman K, Baujat G, Cole TRP, Das S, et al. Genotype-phenotype associations in sotos syndrome: an analysis of 266 individuals with NSD1 aberrations. *Am J Hum Genet.* (2005) 77:193–204. doi: 10.1086/432082

8. Fortin O, Vincelette C, Khan AQ, Berrahmoune S, Dassi C, Karimi M, et al. Seizures in Sotos syndrome: phenotyping in 49 patients. *Epilepsia Open.* (2021) 6:425– 30. doi: 10.1002/epi4.12484

9. Bättig L, Rosch R, Steindl K, Bürki SE, Ramantani G. Sotos syndrome: a pitfall in the presurgical workup of temporal lobe epilepsy. *Epileptic Disord.* (2021) 23:506– 10. doi: 10.1684/epd.2021.1287

10. Fokkema IFAC, Taschner PEM, Schaafsma GCP, Celli J, Laros JFJ, den Dunnen JT. LOVD v20: the next generation in gene variant databases. *Hum Mutat.* (2011) 32:557–63. doi: 10.1002/humu.21438

11. da Silva TI, Ciconelli RM, Alonso NB, Azevedo AM, Westphal-Guitti AC, Pascalicchio TF, et al. Validity and reliability of the Portuguese version of the quality of life in epilepsy inventory (QOLIE-31) for Brazil. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2007) 10:234–41. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2006.08.022

12. Nicita F, Ruggieri M, Polizzi A, Mauceri L, Salpietro V, Briuglia S, et al. Seizures and epilepsy in Sotos syndrome: analysis of 19 Caucasian patients with long-term follow-up. *Epilepsia*. (2012) 53:e102–5. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2012. 03418.x

13. Fickie MR, Lapunzina P, Gentile JK, Tolkoff-Rubin N, Kroshinsky D, Galan E, et al. Adults with Sotos syndrome: review of 21 adults with molecularly confirmed NSD1 alterations, including a detailed case report of the oldest person. *Am J Med Genet A*. (2011) 155:2105–11. doi: 10.1002/ajmg.a.34156

14. Pereira Dalio MTR, Velasco TR, Feitosa IDF, Assirati Junior JA, Carlotti Junior CG, Leite JP, et al. Long-term outcome of temporal lobe epilepsy surgery in 621 patients with hippocampal sclerosis: clinical and surgical prognostic factors. *Front Neurol.* (2022) 13:833293. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2022.833293

15. Elsharkawy AE, Alabbasi AH, Pannek H, Oppel F, Schulz R, Hoppe M, et al. Long-term outcome after temporal lobe epilepsy surgery in 434 consecutive adult patients. *J Neurosurg.* (2009) 110:1135–46. doi: 10.3171/2008.6.JNS17613

16. Hemb M, Palmini A, Paglioli E, Paglioli EB, Costa da Costa J, Azambuja N, et al. An 18-year follow-up of seizure outcome after surgery for temporal lobe epilepsy and hippocampal sclerosis. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry.* (2013) 84:800–5. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2012-304038

17. Benevides ML, Costa Nunes J, Guarnieri R, Pauli C, Wolf P, Lunardi M, et al. Quality of life long after temporal lobe epilepsy surgery. *Acta Neurol Scand.* (2021) 143:629–36. doi: 10.1111/ane.13406

18. Krucoff MO, Chan AY, Harward SC, Rahimpour S, Rolston JD, Muh C, et al. Rates and predictors of success and failure in repeat epilepsy surgery: a meta-analysis and systematic review. *Epilepsia*. (2017) 58:2133–42. doi: 10.1111/epi.13920

19. Marks WJ. When epilepsy surgery fails. There is often a second chance. *Epilepsy Curr.* (2005) 5:149–51. doi: 10.1111/j.1535-7511.2005.00043.x

20. Jayakar P, Gaillard WD, Tripathi M, Libenson MH, Mathern GW, Cross JH. Diagnostic test utilization in evaluation for resective epilepsy surgery in children. *Epilepsia*. (2014) 55:507-18. doi: 10.1111/epi.12544

21. Ryvlin P, Cross JH, Rheims S. Epilepsy surgery in children and adults. Lancet Neurol. (2014) 13:1114–26. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(14)70156-5

22. Sanders MWCB, Lemmens CMC, Jansen FE, Brilstra EH, Koeleman BPC, Braun KPJ, et al. Implications of genetic diagnostics in epilepsy surgery candidates: a single-center cohort study. *Epilepsia Open*. (2019) 4:609–17. doi: 10.1002/epi4.12366

23. Stevelink R, Sanders MWCB, Tuinman MP, Brilstra EH, Koeleman BPC, Jansen FE, et al. Epilepsy surgery for patients with genetic refractory epilepsy: a systematic review. *Epileptic Disord.* (2018) 20:99–115. doi: 10.1684/epd.2018.0959

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Fernando Cendes, State University of Campinas, Brazil

REVIEWED BY Xena Giada Pappalardo, University of Catania, Italy Thea Giacomini, Giannina Gaslini Institute (IRCCS), Italy

*CORRESPONDENCE Saber Masmoudi ⊠ saber.masmoudi@cbs.rnrt.tn

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Epilepsy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

RECEIVED 20 December 2022 ACCEPTED 01 February 2023 PUBLISHED 09 March 2023

CITATION

Ben Ayed I, Jallouli O, Murakami Y, Souissi A, Mallouli S, Bouzid A, Kamoun F, Elloumi I, Frikha F, Tilli A, Weckhuysen S, Kinoshita T, Triki CC and Masmoudi S (2023) Case report: Functional analysis of the p.Arg507Trp variant of the *PIGT* gene supporting the moderate epilepsy phenotype of mutations in the C-terminal region. *Front. Neurol.* 14:1092887. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2023.1092887

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Ben Ayed, Jallouli, Murakami, Souissi, Mallouli, Bouzid, Kamoun, Elloumi, Frikha, Tilii, Weckhuysen, Kinoshita, Triki and Masmoudi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Case report: Functional analysis of the p.Arg507Trp variant of the *PIGT* gene supporting the moderate epilepsy phenotype of mutations in the C-terminal region

Ikhlas Ben Ayed^{1,2}, Olfa Jallouli^{3,4}, Yoshiko Murakami⁵, Amal Souissi¹, Salma Mallouli^{3,4}, Amal Bouzid¹, Fatma Kamoun^{3,4}, Ines Elloumi¹, Fakher Frikha¹, Abdelaziz Tlili^{6,7}, Sarah Weckhuysen⁸, Taroh Kinoshita^{5,9}, Chahnez Charfi Triki^{3,4} and Saber Masmoudi^{1*}

¹Laboratory of Molecular and Cellular Screening Processes (LPCMC), Center of Biotechnology of Sfax, University of Sfax, Sfax, Tunisia, ²Medical Genetics Department, University Hedi Chaker Hospital of Sfax, Sfax, Tunisia, ³Child Neurology Department, University Hedi Chaker Hospital of Sfax, Sfax, Tunisia, ⁴Research Laboratory "Neuropédiatrie" LR19ES15, Sfax University, Sfax, Tunisia, ⁵Laboratory of Immunoglycobiology, Research Institute for Microbial Diseases, Osaka University, Suita, Japan, ⁶Department of Applied Biology, College of Sciences, University of Sharjah, Sharjah, United Arab Emirates, ⁷Human Genetics and Stem Cell Laboratory, Research Institute of Sciences and Engineering, University of Sharjah, Sharjah, United Arab Emirates, ⁸Department of Neurology, University Hospital, Antwerp, Belgium, ⁹Center for Infectious Disease Education and Research, Osaka University, Suita, Japan

Pathogenic germline variants in the PIGT gene are associated with the "multiple congenital anomalies-hypotonia-seizures syndrome 3" (MCAHS3) phenotype. So far, fifty patients have been reported, most of whom suffer from intractable epilepsy. Recently, a comprehensive analysis of a cohort of 26 patients with PIGT variants has broadened the phenotypical spectrum and indicated that both p.Asn527Ser and p.Val528Met are associated with a milder epilepsy phenotype and less severe outcomes. Since all reported patients are of Caucasian/Polish origin and most harbor the same variant (p.Val528Met), the ability to draw definitive conclusions regarding the genotype-phenotype correlation remains limited. We report a new case with a homozygous variant p.Arg507Trp in the PIGT gene, detected on clinical exome sequencing. The North African patient in question displays a predominantly neurological phenotype with global developmental delay, hypotonia, brain abnormalities, and well-controlled epileptic seizures. Homozygous and heterozygous variants in codon 507 have been reported to cause PIGT deficiency without biochemical confirmation. In this study, FACS analysis of knockout HEK293 cells that had been transfected with wild-type or mutant cDNA constructs demonstrated that the p.Arg507Trp variant leads to mildly reduced activity. Our result confirm the pathogenicity of this variant and strengthen recently reported evidence on the genotype-phenotype correlation of the PIGT variant.

KEYWORDS

PIGT gene, global developmental delay, epilepsy, genotype phenotype correlation, GPI transamidase
Introduction

It is estimated that 10-20% of all membrane proteins are post-translationally modified at their C-terminus by glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI), a complex glycophospholipid that anchors over 150 proteins to the cell surface. The transfer of the GPI anchor to proteins is catalyzed by the GPI transamidase (GPI-TA) complex (1, 2). Phosphatidylinositol glycan anchor biosynthesis class T (PIGT) is a highly conserved 578-aminoacid protein. PIGT interacts with other components of the GPI-TA complex (PIGK, PIGS, PIGT, PIGU, and PGAA1) and appears to be the most important protein in the formation of this complex and the stability of the other components (3, 4). Disorders caused by germline pathogenic variants in PareT are referred to as multiple congenital anomalies-hypotonia-seizures syndrome 3 (MCAHS3, OMIM#615398). This syndrome is characterized by congenital hypotonia, global developmental delay (GDD) or intellectual disability (ID), and infantile-onset epilepsy with various types of epileptic EEG abnormalities (focal sharpslow wave, focal sharp spike/polyspikes wave, and generalized polyspikes-wave complexes) (5, 6). Other congenital anomalies involving dysmorphic facial features, cerebral and cerebellar atrophy, and defects in the skeletal, ophthalmological, cardiac, and genitourinary systems are also reported (7-9).

Up to now, 50 patients with *PIGT* deficiency, most of them Caucasian, have been diagnosed with 17 pathogenic variants, including 10 missense, one non-sense, four frameshifts, and two splice sites. The largest extant genotype–phenotype study, reviewed by Bayat et al. reports on 26 patients with the p.Val528Met variant in either homozygous or compound heterozygous state and on a single patient who had the p.Asn527Ser variant (10, 11). These patients presented with moderate to severe GDD and later onset of epilepsy, and generally became seizure-free on monotherapy. Since all reported patients thus far have been of Caucasian/Polish origin and most harbor the same variant (p.Val528Met), the ability to draw definitive conclusions regarding the genotype-phenotype correlation remains limited. Here, we provide additional findings supporting this correlation by reporting a new case from North Africa, of a patient carrying the *PIGT* p.Arg507Trp variant located in the C-terminal region and associated with GDD and partially tractable epilepsy. Functional studies using *PIGT* knockout HEK293 cells showed mildly decreased activity of the GPI-TA complex, supporting the pathogenicity of the variant and providing further evidence of an association between the localization of variants in the C-terminal region and the moderate epilepsy phenotype (seizure-free or partially seizure-free on treatment).

Patient and methods

We reviewed the patient's personal history regarding progress of the pregnancy and childbirth, psychomotor milestone achievement, and neurological examinations. We also reviewed the history of epileptic seizures (type, age of onset, response to antiseizure medication), electroencephalographic data (background, epileptiform discharges, epileptic seizure if recorded), and brain imaging data, as well as the etiological assessment.

For the genetic study, DNA was isolated from peripheral blood and clinical exome sequencing was performed using the TruSightTM One Sequencing Panel. Libraries were prepared and data analysis was performed as previously described (12). The generated VCF file was annotated using the VarAft application (13). A virtual gene panel was applied using the Genetic Epilepsy Syndromes panel from Genomics England PanelApp



FIGURE 1

Clinical and molecular findings in the Libyan family with *PIGT* variant c.1519C>T; p.Arg507Trp. (**A**) Pedigree of the reported family with electropherograms of the identified homozygous *PIGT* variant (III.1) compared with heterozygous carrier sequences (II.1 and II.2). (**B**) Brain MRI T2-weighted axial images reveal severe atrophy of the cerebral hemispheres with slight cerebellar hypoplasia. (**C**) EEG recording, obtained when the patient was 2 years old, with the following parameters: 20 electrodes, 7 μ v/mm, 0.03 s, 15, 50 Hz. The EEG shows slow spike-wave discharge followed by diffuse fast rhythms (red arrow). (**D**) Sleep EEG shows moderately organized EEG with the presence of rare spindles and diffuse spike-wave discharges (black arrow). (**E**, **F**) EEG showing normal background rhythm without photosensitivity.



wild-type *PIGT*. The vertical axis represents the relative cell number; the horizontal axis represents fluorescent intensity, reflecting the level of expression of each GPI-AP. (B) Levels of expressed wild-type and p.Arg507Trp mutant HA-tagged *PIGT* in pME vector-transfected cells were analyzed by western blotting using an anti-HA antibody. After normalization to luciferase activity and GAPDH, expression of the mutant protein appeared to be similar to that of the wild-type protein.

(https://panelapp.genomicsengland.co.uk/panels/). The variantfiltering process consisted of the following four steps: (i) selection of variants localized in exons or bordering introns (± 12 bp); (ii) exclusion of variants with a frequency above 1% in general populations; (iii) selection of variants predicted as pathogenic by CADD; and (iv) selection of variants predicted as pathogenic by the UMD-Predictor tool. *In-silico* pathogenicity was also evaluated using the VarCards tool (http://varcards.biols.ac.cn/). The preferentially selected variants were validated and familial co-segregation was analyzed *via* Sanger sequencing.

The study protocol was approved by the local medical ethics committee of South Tunisia (Accession number 28/2019). Written informed consent was obtained from the patient's parents.

PIGT-knockout HEK293 cells were generated and transfected, as described previously, with human wild-type or mutant *PIGT*

cDNA cloned into pTA, a weak promoter (TA promoter-driven expression vector) that helps with the detection of mild partial loss of function (14). Two days later, restoration of GPI-AP (CD59, DAF, and CD16) expression was measured *via* flow cytometry. Cells were stained with PE-conjugated anti-human CD16 antibody (3G8, Biolegend) along with mouse anti-human CD59 (5H8) and mouse anti-human DAF (IA10) antibodies, followed by PE-conjugated second antibody. Levels of expressed wild-type and p.Arg507Trp mutant HA-tagged *PIGT* in pME-vector transfected cells were analyzed by western blotting using an anti-HA antibody (C29F4, Cell Signaling Tec, Danvers, MA, USA). Levels of protein expression were normalized to luciferase activity for transfection efficiencies and to expression of GAPDH for loading controls.

	Group 1: Inc	lividuals with at	Group 2: Individuals ($n = 25$) with either the p.Val528Met or the p.Asn527Ser variant					
	p.Arg507Trp;	p.Val528Met	p.Arg507Gln; p.Arg507Trp; p.Val528Met p.Arg507Trp		Patients with compound missense/truncating ($n = 10$), biallelic missense ($n = 15$), or biallelic truncating ($n = 0$) variant			
References	[(11); Fa	mily 7]	(10)	Current study	(11)			
Number of patients	2		1	1	25			
Geographical/ethnic origin	Russ	ian	Polish	Libyan (North African)	8 Caucasian; 2 Caucasian/African; 1 Asian; 11 Polish; 3 Russian			
	Patient 7 Patient 8		P3 Reported patient					
Age at inclusion	8 years	22 years	Born 2017	4 years	2–28 years			
Febrile seizures	No No		Yes	No	No: 7/19; Yes: 12/19			
Epilepsy diagnosis	Yes Yes		Yes	Yes	Yes: 17/25; No: 8/25			
Status epilepticus	No No		Unknown	No	No: 11; Not relevant: 2; Yes: 1; Unknown: 11			
Age of seizure onset	5 months 18 months		6 months	4 months	Range: 5 months to 5.5 years			
Seizure types during disease course	Myoclonic atonic epilepsy; eyelid myoclonia	Myoclonic atonic epilepsy	Focal hypomotor seizures with impaired awareness, focal to bilateral tonic-clonic seizure	Focal to bilateral tonic–clonic seizure	Atypical absences: 2; Fever-induced tonic-clonic/focal seizures: 4; Focal hypomotor, seizures with impaired awareness, FBTCS: 6; Bilateral tonic-clonic seizures: 2; Focal to bilateral tonic-clonic seizure: 4; MAE: 2; Unknown:1; Not relevant: 2			
Overall antiepileptic drug response	Very good	Very good	Very good	Very good	Good (24/25, 96% seizure-free)			
Degree of developmental delay	Severe	Severe	Moderate	Severe	Moderate (5/25), moderate-severe (6/25), severe (4/25), unable to ascertain (10/25)			
Congenital hypotonia	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	24/25			
Brain MRI results	in MRI results 10 months: Delayed myelination and enlargement of the subarachnoid spaces 15 years: Cerebellar atrophy and thinning of the corpus callosum		12 months: 14 months: Atro Decreased white of the cerebral matter volume, hemispheres wi enlargement of slight cerebellar pericerebral spaces hypoplasia and enlargement of lateral ventricle:		y Delayed myelination: 7; Cerebellar atrophy: 11; Cortical atrophy: 4; Not performed: 7.			

TABLE 1 Brief clinical overview of all individuals with PIGT deficiency associated with moderate seizure phenotype of variants within the C-terminal region (PIGT: NM_015937.6) for whom clinical information has been published.

FBTCS, Focal to bilateral tonic-clonic seizure; MAE, Myoclonic atonic epilepsy.

Results

Clinical data

The proband, a Libyan girl born in 2017, was the first child of healthy consanguineous parents (Figure 1A). She was born at full term, and pregnancy and delivery were uneventful with normal menstruation. Global hypotonia and horizontal nystagmus were noted from the neonatal period. At the age of 4 months, the patient presented with multiple (two to three) daily seizures with asymmetric adduction movement of the 4 limbs and head deviation. The ictal sleep EEG showed asymmetric tonic spasm (Figure 1B). The interictal sleep EEG showed organized EEG with the presence of rare spindles and diffuse spike-wave discharges (Figure 1C). The patient presented with a global psychomotor delay with hypotonia, a severe speech delay, and walking impairment. Brain MRI, performed at age 14 months, revealed severe atrophy of the cerebral hemispheres with slight cerebellar hypoplasia and enlargement of lateral ventricles (Figure 1D). Metabolic screening was normal. She was treated with corticosteroid for 2 weeks (hydrocortisone 15 mg/kg/day) without improvement; hence, she was switched to vigabatrin (100 mg/kg/day) in association with valproate (30 mg/kg/day). Her overall antiepileptic drug response was good, but she still experienced seizures once every 2 weeks.

Based on clinical data acquired during the most recent followup at the age of 2 years 6 months, our patient showed severe motor and cognitive retardation: she cannot hold her head up or sit, she has no eye tracking, with wandering movements of the eyeballs, expressive language is completely absent, and she has axial hypotonia with spastic tetraparesis. She also has dysmorphic features, including a broad forehead, acquired microcephaly, deep-set eyes, epicanthus, and high-arched palate. At the most

10.3389/fneur.2023.1092887

TABLE 2 Published clinical findings in individuals harboring a severe phenotype of PIGT deficiency associated with missense variants.

Missense variants	c.709G>C (p.Glu237Gln)		c.547A>C (p.Thr183Pro)	c.550G>A	(p.Glu184Lys)	c.1079G>T (p.Gly360Val)			c.1342C>T (p.Arg448Trp)/ c.250G>T (p.Glu84Ter)	c.1342C>T (p.Arg448Trp)/ c.918dupC (p.Val307 ArgfsTer13)	c.250G>T/ (p.Glu84Ter) c.1096G>T/ (p.Gly366 Trp)	c.1472T>A (p.Leu491His)/ 1484+2T>A	c.469T>G (p.Phe157Val)/ c.1120A>G (p.Asn374Asp)	c.514C>T (p.Arg172Cys)/ c.98delA (p.Glu33AspfsTer12)
No. families	2		1		2	3			1	1	1	1	1	1
References	(14)	(6)	(5)	(15)	(6)	(16)	(6)	(6)	(9)	(7)	(17)	(6)	(18)	(18)
Geographical/ ethnic origins (no. patients)	Afghani (1)	Bangladeshi (2)	Turkish (4)	Chinese (1)	Pakistani (1)	African (2)	Somalian (2)	- (2)	Japanese	Caucasian/ African American (2)	Japanese (1)	Danish (2)	Chinese (1)	Chinese (1)
Age of onset of epilepsy	Neonatal onset	1st day; 2 weeks	12–18 months	1 month	5 months	12 months	11–14 months	11–14 months	4 months	5 months	2 months	1st day	3 months	4 months
Seizure types during disease course	Generalized tonic- clonic	Fever- induced myoclonic and subtle focal; generalized tonic seizures	Myoclonic (2/4); generalized tonic- clonic (1/4)	Myoclonic and febrile seizure	Generalized tonic and myoclonic; focal myoclonic seizures; febrile seizures	Myoclonic, tonic, and tonic– clonic seizures that occasionally generalize	Generalized tonic- clonic and atonic seizures; myoclonic and focal seizures	Myoclonic and subtle focal seizures; febrile seizures	Myoclonic tonic with apnea that can generalize	Myoclonic, tonic, and tonic– clonic seizures that occasionally generalize	Myoclonic, tonic with apnea that can generalize	Myoclonic and febrile seizure; tonic and myoclonic with apnea; subtle focal seizures	Febrile/ afebrile seizures	Clonic afebrile seizures
Overall seizure outcome	Intractable	Intractable	Intractable	Intractable	Intractable	Intractable	Intractable (seizure- free on ketogenic diet for 1 patient)	Intractable	Intractable	Intractable	Intractable	Intractable	Intractable	Intractable
Degree of DD	Severe	Severe	Severe	Severe	Severe	Severe	Severe	Severe	Severe	Severe	Severe	Severe	Severe	Severe
Premature mortality	-	1 patient deceased (6 months)	-	-	-	-	-	1 patient deceased (26 months)	-	-	-	1 patient deceased (26 months)	-	-

-, data not reported.



recent follow-up, the patient had normal sleep EEG with normal background rhythm without photosensitivity (Figures 1E, F).

Molecular results

A total of 9,542 common single-nucleotide variants (SNVs) and indels were detected. The filtering process, as previously described, resulted in identification of 13 homozygous and 118 heterozygous variants. Based on their predicted effect on protein function and the likelihood of the autosomal recessive mode of inheritance, we evaluated the resulting variants, under the assumption that the disease gene would be more likely to cause an epileptic and/or a DD phenotype. Initially, only homozygous variants were considered and the PIGT variant (NM_015937.6):c.1519C>T (p.Arg507Trp) was selected as the candidate variant for the patient's phenotype. For the purpose of further investigation, we reevaluated the filtering process considering an autosomal dominant mode of inheritance; however, no relevant variants were detected. The PIGT variant was verified via Sanger sequencing, and both asymptomatic parents were found to be heterozygous (Figure 1A). The identified missense variant (rs146484791) was reported with a frequency of 0.0023% in the gnomAD database and has not been previously reported in the homozygous state. In-silico pathogenicity prediction using the VarCards tool showed a deleterious effect on the PIGT protein (damaging score 0.83), with a damaging CADD score of 35. An alternative variant, p.Arg507Gln, was found to have been reported in the heterozygous state with p.Val528Met in two patients with PIGT deficiency (10, 11).

Functional analysis of the PIGT variant

Rescue experiments using variant cDNA driven by the weak promoter pTA, performed on *PIGT*-knockout HEK293 cells, indicated that the p.Arg507Trp variant results in a mild reduction in the amounts of CD59, CD16, and DAF anchored to the cell membrane (Figure 2A). Western blot analysis showed that expression of the mutant protein was not decreased but was even higher than expression of the wild-type protein (Figure 2B).

Taking these findings together, we classified the Arg507Trp as a likely pathogenic variant in accordance with the ACMG recommendations: PM2 (variant not found in gnomAD genomes with good coverage of gnomAD genomes = 29.9; pathogenic, supporting), PM5 (alternative pathogenic variant Arg507Gln had been already reported (10, 11); pathogenic, moderate), and PS3 (well-established *in vitro* functional studies supportive of a damaging effect of the gene product; pathogenic, strong).

Discussion

Clinical exome sequencing is now used routinely as a tool to diagnose many different inborn errors of metabolism (IEMs) in patients with developmental and epileptic encephalopathy (DEE), such as congenital disorders of glycosylation. However, despite the tremendous progress that has been made in the development of both sequencing technology and bioinformatics in recent years, it should be noted that other diagnostic tests are still necessary to confirm or reject a diagnosis with certainty in cases where this approach results in the identification of genetic variants of uncertain clinical significance (VOUS). The variant p.Arg507Trp in the PIGT gene, identified in the homozygous state in this study, has previously been reported in a compound heterozygous state with Val528Met in two Russian patients (11). In addition, an alternative variant in the same location (Arg507Gln) has been reported in a Polish patient (10). According to ACMG classification, this variant is still classified as a VOUS, since it has not been biologically confirmed. The functional experiments performed here using mutant HEK293 cells provide evidence to support the pathogenicity of this variant; this evidence is sufficient to reclassify this variant as likely pathogenic. On the other hand, the milder decreased activity is consistent with the moderate phenotype of our patient. Here we should highlight that one of the limitations of our study is the brief period of follow-up of our patient, who is only at the age of 2 years at the time of writing. However, we were able to identify our patient's phenotype specifically as a moderate epileptic one in comparison to the majority of PIGT-deficiency patients, who often suffer from severe drugresistant epilepsy with convulsive status epilepticus, sometimes with neonatal-infantile onset. Together with other recent studies (10, 11), our study also serves to confirm the genotype-phenotype correlation for PIGT that was first described in 2019. Bayat et al. report on 24 patients harboring the p.Val528Met variant in either homozygous or compound heterozygous state and one patient with the p.Asn527Ser variant, all of whom presented with a less severe epilepsy phenotype with considerably later onset of epilepsy; there was also no premature mortality in any of these patients (11). In Table 1, we present a comparison of the clinical findings for our patient with those of previously reported patients with the p.Arg507Trp variant. All patients presenting with the p.Arg507Trp variant in either homozygous or compound heterozygous state, including our patient, have been found to exhibit GDD and became free or partially free of epileptic seizures following treatment with CBZ/VPA. Additionally, a comparison of the phenotypes of patients harboring both p.Asn527Ser and p.Val528Met variants with that of our patient revealed a similar spectrum of symptoms regarding the onset of seizures (between 4 months and 5.5 years), seizure types (focal to bilateral tonicclonic seizures as the predominant type), degree of cognitive and developmental outcome (moderate to severe), and response to antiepileptic drugs. Therefore, we conclude that missense variants p.Asn527Ser, p.Val528Met, and p.Arg507Trp, located in the Cterminal region, are associated with an epileptic phenotype with comparatively better outcome.

The existing literature was also searched to identify all missense variants described as occurring with a severe phenotype, including severe epilepsy with frequently recurrent episodes of convulsive status epilepticus, abnormal interictal EEG, and severe drug-resistant epilepsy. In total, 10 missense variants (either in homozygous or in compound heterozygous state) were collected; these have been observed in 23 patients belonging to 14 families of various ethnicities (Table 2). Interestingly, we note that all of these variants occur in the N-terminal region of the PIGT protein (Figure 3). Hence, we suggest that the phenotypic variability of PIGT deficiency could be related to the position of the affected residue and its effect on the function or structure of the PIGT protein, as well as the interaction with components of the GPI-TA complex. It has been shown that PIGT is covalently linked to the majority of PIGK via a functionally important disulfide bond between PIGT-Cys182 and PIGK-Cys92 in the GPI-TA complex. In addition, PIGT and PIGS are linked to one other, and PIGT has an additional function in stabilizing GPI-TA by linking PIGS to GAA1 and PIGK (3, 4). In the case of the homozygous p.Thr183Pro and p.Glu184Lys variants, substitutions occur in the residue directly adjacent to Cys182, which is responsible for the PIGT-PIGK disulfide bond. In the p.Thr183Pro variant, the threonine is substituted by a proline, which is an inflexible residue common in very tight protein junctions (5). In the p.Glu184Lys variant, glutamate (negatively charged) is substituted by a positively charged lysine. These two substitutions could affect the biochemical environment around Cys182, possibly affecting the stability of the disulfide bond leading to loss of function in PIGT and the GPI-TA complex. Considering the available experimental data, a recent

study has additionally suggested that the luminal part of *PIGT* (73-427 aa) consists of a β -propeller domain with a central hole that regulates the access of substrate protein C-termini to the active site of the cysteine protease PIGK (19). Therefore, missense variants located in the β -propeller domain could affect the interaction of *PIGT* with the active site of PIGK, leading to the observed severe phenotype.

Concerning variants occurring in the C-terminal region on the cytoplasmic side (p.Val528Met, p.Asn527Ser, and p.Arg507Trp), we suggest that these variants would not affect the *PIGT*-GPI-APs interaction, instead representing residual activity, which might explain the moderate phenotype. This hypothesis can be supported by the results of our rescue experiments using variant cDNA driven by the weak promoter pTA on *PIGT*-knockout HEK293 cells. Specifically, p.Arg507Trp variant did not restore the GPI-APs to a similar level as observed with wild-type *PIGT*, suggesting decreased activity of the variant. In addition, the same effect has also been demonstrated for the p.Val528Met variant, although this effect was only observed when the pTK promoter was used (14).

Our study details a new case of the p.Arg507Trp variant in the C-terminal region, associated with a moderate epileptic phenotype. This supports the previously reported genotypephenotype correlation of *PIGT* deficiency (10, 11), which will be useful for future genetic counseling.

Data availability statement

The datasets presented in this article are not readily available because of ethical/privacy restrictions. Requests to access the datasets should be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

The study protocol was approved by the Local Medical Ethics Committee of South of Tunisia (Accession number 28/2019). Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin. Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s), and minor(s)' legal guardian/next of kin, for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

Author contributions

IB conceived the study, wrote the manuscript, and analyzed and interpreted the NGS data. OJ, SMal, and FK analyzed and interpreted all clinical data. AT, AS, and AB conducted the clinical exome sequencing. YM performed the functional study. IE performed a segregation analysis. FF and AS assisted in writing the manuscript. SMas, SW, TK, and CT revised and edited the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This study was supported by the Tunisian Ministry of Higher Education and Research (Grant/Award Number: LR15CBS07). It was also partially supported by the SEED project (the European Union's Horizon 2020 Research and Innovation Program) under Grant Agreement Number: 856592.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships

References

1. Fujita M, Kinoshita T. GPI-anchor remodeling: Potential functions of GPIanchors in intracellular trafficking and membrane dynamics. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. (2012) 1821:1050-8. doi: 10.1016/j.bbalip.2012.01.004

2. Kinoshita T, Fujita M. Biosynthesis of GPI-anchored proteins: Special emphasis on GPI lipid remodeling. *J Lipid Res.* (2016) 57:6–24. doi: 10.1194/jlr. R063313

3. Ohishi K, Inoue N, Kinoshita T. PIG-S and PIG-T, essential for GPI anchor attachment to proteins, form a complex with GAA1 and GPI8. *EMBO J.* (2001) 20:4088–98. doi: 10.1093/emboj/20.15.4088

4. Ohishi K, Nagamune K, Maeda Y, Kinoshita T. Two subunits of glycosylphosphatidylinositol transamidase, GPI8 and PIG-T, form a functionally important intermolecular disulfide bridge. *J Biol Chem.* (2003) 278:13959–67. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M300586200

5. Kvarnung M, Nilsson D, Lindstrand A, Korenke GC, Chiang SCC, Blennow E, et al. A novel intellectual disability syndrome caused by GPI anchor deficiency due to homozygous mutations in PIGT. *J Med Genet.* (2013) 50:521-8. doi: 10.1136/jmedgenet-2013-101654

Bayat A, Knaus A, Juul AW, Dukic D, Gardella E, Charzewska A, et al. PIGT-CDG, a disorder of the glycosylphosphatidylinositol anchor: Description of 13 novel patients and expansion of the clinical characteristics. *Genet Med.* (2019) 21:2216–23. doi: 10.1038/s41436-019-0512-3

7. Lam C, Golas GA, Davids M, Huizing M, Kane MS, Krasnewich DM, et al. Expanding the clinical and molecular characteristics of PIGT-CDG, a disorder of glycosylphosphatidylinositol anchors. *Mol Genet Metab.* (2015) 115:128–40. doi: 10.1016/j.ymgme.2015.04.007

8. Kohashi K, Ishiyama A, Yuasa S, Tanaka T, Miya K, Adachi Y, et al. Epileptic apnea in a patient with inherited glycosylphosphatidylinositol anchor deficiency and PIGT mutations. *Brain Dev.* (2018) 40:53–7. doi: 10.1016/j.braindev.2017. 06.005

9. Nakashima M, Kashii H, Murakami Y, Kato M, Tsurusaki Y, Miyake N, et al. Novel compound heterozygous PIGT mutations caused multiple congenital anomalies-hypotonia-seizures syndrome 3. *Neurogenetics.* (2014) 15:193–200. doi: 10.1007/s10048-014-0408-y

that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

10. Jezela-Stanek A, Szczepanik E, Mierzewska H, Rydzanicz M, Rutkowska K, Knaus A, et al. Evidence of the milder phenotypic spectrum of c. 1582G > A PIGT variant: Delineation based on seven novel Polish patients. *Clin Genet.* (2020) 98:468–76. doi: 10.1111/cge.13822

11. Bayat A, Pandziwiat M, Obersztyn E, Goldenberg P, Zacher P, Döring JH, et al. Deep-phenotyping the less severe spectrum of PIGT deficiency and linking the gene to myoclonic atonic seizures. *Front Genet.* (2021) 12:663643. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2021.663643

12. Ayed IB, Ouarda W, Frikha F, Kammoun F, Souissi A, Said MB, et al. SRD5A3-CDG: 3D structure modeling, clinical spectrum, and computer-based dysmorphic facial recognition. *Am J Med Genet A*. (2021) 185:1081–90. doi: 10.1002/ajmg.a.62065

13. Desvignes J-P, Bartoli M, Delague V, Krahn M, Miltgen M, Béroud C, et al. VarAFT: A variant annotation and filtration system for human next-generation sequencing data. *Nucleic Acids Res.* (2018) 46:W545–53. doi: 10.1093/nar/gky471

14. Pagnamenta AT, Murakami Y, Taylor JM, Anzilotti C, Howard MF, Miller V, et al. Analysis of exome data for 4293 trios suggests GPI-anchor biogenesis defects are a rare cause of developmental disorders. *Eur J Hum Genet.* (2017) 25:669–79. doi: 10.1038/ejhg.2017.32

15. Yang L, Peng J, Yin XM, Pang N, Chen C, Wu TH, et al. Homozygous PIGT mutation lead to multiple congenital anomalies-hypotonia seizures syndrome 3. *Front Genet.* 9:153. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2018.00153

16. Skauli N, Wallace S, Chiang SCC, Barøy T, Holmgren A, Stray-Pedersen A, et al. Novel PIGT Variant in two brothers: Expansion of the multiple congenital anomalies-hypotonia seizures syndrome 3 phenotype. *Genes (Basel)*. (2016) 7:108.

17. Kohashi K, Ishiyama A, Yuasa S, Tanaka T, Miya K, Adachi Y, et al. Epileptic apnea in a patient with inherited glycosylphosphatidylinositol anchor deficiency and PIGT mutations. *Brain Dev.* (2018) 40:53–7.

18. Jiao X, Xue J, Gong P, Bao X, Wu Y, Zhang Y, et al. Analyzing clinical and genetic characteristics of a cohort with multiple congenital anomalies-hypotonia-seizures syndrome (MCAHS). *Orphanet J Rare Dis.* (2020) 15:78.

19. Eisenhaber B, Maurer-Stroh S, Novatchkova M, Schneider G, Eisenhaber F. Enzymes and auxiliary factors for GPI lipid anchor biosynthesis and post-translational transfer to proteins. *Bioessays*. (2003) 25:367–85. doi: 10.1002/bies.10254

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Fernando Cendes, State University of Campinas, Brazil

REVIEWED BY Masahiro Uemura, Niigata University, Japan Ali Sazci, Okan University, Türkiye

*CORRESPONDENCE Jiro Fukae ⊠ j-fukae@juntendo.ac.jp

RECEIVED 13 March 2023 ACCEPTED 24 April 2023 PUBLISHED 18 May 2023

CITATION

Fukae J, Eguchi H, Wada Y, Fuse A, Chishima R, Nakatani M, Nakajima A, Hattori N and Shimo Y (2023) Case report: Young-onset large vessel ischemic stroke due to hyperhomocysteinemia associated with the C677T polymorphism on 5,10-methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase and multi-vitamin deficiency. Front. Neurol. 14:1183306. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2023.1183306

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Fukae, Eguchi, Wada, Fuse, Chishima, Nakatani, Nakajima, Hattori and Shimo. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms. Case report: Young-onset large vessel ischemic stroke due to hyperhomocysteinemia associated with the C677T polymorphism on *5,10-methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase* and multi-vitamin deficiency

Jiro Fukae^{1*}, Hiroto Eguchi¹, Yoichi Wada², Atsuhito Fuse¹, Rika Chishima³, Mitsuyoshi Nakatani¹, Asuka Nakajima^{1,4}, Nobutaka Hattori⁵ and Yasushi Shimo^{1,4}

¹Department of Neurology, Juntendo University Nerima Hospital, Tokyo, Japan, ²Department of Pediatrics, Tohoku University School of Medicine, Sendai, Japan, ³Department of Clinical Laboratory, Juntendo University Nerima Hospital, Tokyo, Japan, ⁴Department of Research and Therapeutics for Movement Disorders, Juntendo University School of Medicine, Tokyo, Japan, ⁵Department of Neurology, Juntendo University School of Medicine, Tokyo, Japan

Hyperhomocysteinemia is an important risk factor for cerebral infarction. Herein, we report on a 30-year-old man previously diagnosed with epilepsy who presented with right hemiplegia and total aphasia. Magnetic resonance imaging showed a fronto-temporal ischemic lesion due to occlusion of the left middle cerebral artery. Clinical testing and imaging demonstrated that he had hyperhomocysteinemia induced by multiple factors including the C677T polymorphism on 5.10-methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (*MTHFR*), and multiple vitamin deficiencies. The C677T polymorphism on *MTHFR* is closely related to hyperhomocysteinemia and folate deficiency in epileptic patients who are taking multiple anti-convulsants. Given hyperhomocysteinemia can independently cause stroke at a young age, physicians should periodically examine plasma homocysteine and serum folic acid levels in epileptic patients who are on long-term regimens of multiple anti-epileptic drugs.

KEYWORDS

hyperhomocysteinemia, 5,10-methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase, cerebral infarction, folic acid, vitamin B12, antiepileptic drug, epilepsy

Introduction

Epidemiological studies suggest that the incidence of ischemic stroke in young adults (18–50 years old) has increased substantially (1). There are a wide variety of causes for stroke in young adults such as hyperhomocysteinemia, illicit drug use, pregnancy, arterial dissections, patent foramen ovale (PFO), anti-phospholipid syndrome, malignancy, and protein S or C deficiency (1, 2). Moreover, moyamoya disease, that is one of causes of ischemic stroke in young adults, is a specific chronic cerebrovascular occlusive disease

first reported in 1957 (3). Hyperhomocysteinemia is an important risk factor for several cardiovascular diseases, including coronary artery disease, peripheral occlusive disease, stroke, and venous thrombosis (4). Increased levels of plasma homocysteine are influenced by both genetic and environmental factors. The C677T polymorphism on the *5.10-methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase* (*MTHFR*) gene (5, 6), which is identical to c.665C>T in *MTHFR* (NM_005957) gene, and decreased levels of vitamin B6, vitamin B12, and folic acid are associated with elevated homocysteine levels (4). We herein report on a case of young-onset cerebral infarction with hyperhomocysteinemia caused by the C677T polymorphism in the *MTHFR* gene and multiple vitamin deficiencies.

Case descriptions

At the age of 16, the patient presented with several episodes of generalized tonic-clonic seizure. He was diagnosed with epilepsy based on results of electroencephalography. Despite having started anti-epileptic drugs (AED), seizures occurred once every few months. He was prescribed a regimen of four AEDs such as valproic acid, gabapentin, topiramate, and carbamazepine. At age 28, he often encountered trouble with interpersonal relationships owing to mild developmental delay. At age 30, he expressed abnormal behaviors such as taking large amounts of medications. The day after this incident, he was admitted to our hospital due to disturbed consciousness upon his mother noticing his aberrant behavior. He had no family history of coronary artery disease, stroke, or neuropsychiatric disease. His diet was unbalanced with a predilection for eating meat and avoiding vegetables.

On admission, his blood pressure was 105/64 mmHg, heart rate was 75 beats / min, respiratory rate was 16 breaths / min and body temperature 37.4°C. Physical examination was unremarkable. On neurological examination, his consciousness was somnolence. He had total aphasia and right hemiparesis. The results of laboratory examination were as follows: white blood cell count, 9.6 \times 10⁹/L (reference: 3.9–9.7 \times 10⁹/L); hemoglobin, 15.2 g/dL (reference: 13.4–17.1 g/dL); platelet count, 315 \times $10^9/L$ (reference: 153–346 × $10^9/L$); aspartate aminotransferase, 20 IU/L (reference: 5-37 IU/L); alanine aminotransferase, 27 IU/L (reference: 6-43 IU/L); blood urea nitrogen, 8 mg/dL (reference: 9-21 mg/dL); creatine, 0.61 mg/dL (reference: 0.6-1.0 mg/dL); Na, 140 mmol/L (reference: 135-145 mmol/L); K, 3.9 mmol/L (reference: 3.5-5 mmol/L); Cl, 109 mmol/L (reference: 96-107 mmol/L); total cholesterol, 179 mg/dL (reference: 150-219 mg/dL); high-density lipoprotein (HDL) -cholesterol, 30 mg/dL (reference: 40-70 mg/dL); HbA1c, 4.9% (reference: 4.6-6.2%). Protein C and S were within normal limits. International normalized ratio (INR) was 1.28 (reference: 0.85–1.15), and d-dimer was $0.5 \,\mu$ g/mL (reference: 0-1). His thyroid function was within normal limits. Immunological examination for autoimmune disorders, including for anti-nuclear antibody, anti-ribonucleoprotein (RNP), anti-SSA, anti-SSB, proteinase (PR) 3-anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic antibody (ANCA), myeloperoxidase (MPO)-ANCA antibodies, and anticardiolipin antibodies were all negative. Plasma homocysteine level was markedly increased to 74.1 nmol/ml (reference: 3.7-13.5 nmol/ml), and methionine level was 28.1 nmol/ml (reference: 18.9–40.5 nmol/ml). Folate, vitamin B12, and pyridoxal were all belownormal ranges (folate: 1.0 ng/ml [reference: > 4 ng/ml], vitamin B12 135 pg/ml [reference: 180–914 pg/ml], pyridoxal 3.2 ng/ml [reference: 6–40 ng/ml]).

Genetic analysis was performed after written informed consent was obtained as MTHFR enzyme deficiency was suspected. Genetic analysis identified C677T polymorphism that appeared to be homozygous (Figure 1). Brain computed tomography showed a low intensity area in the region of the left middle cerebral artery (MCA) (data not shown). On diffusion weighted imaging and FLAIR of brain magnetic resonance imaging, a large high intensity area was seen in the left MCA territory (Figures 2A, B). Additionally, magnetic resonance angiography showed that the MCA was disrupted in the M1 segment (Figure 2C). Holter electrocardiogram revealed no arrhythmia or atrial fibrillation. Transesophageal echocardiography showed no thrombus in the left atrium and no right-left shunt. He was diagnosed with atherothrombotic cerebral infarction. Administration of aspirin 200 mg/day that was started upon diagnosis was decreased to 100 mg/day after 3 weeks. To treat his hyperhomocysteinemia, folic acid (15 mg/day), vitamin B1 (150 mg/day), vitamin B6 (150 mg/day), and vitamin B12 (150 mg/day) were administered. On this course of treatment, serum folic acid, vitamin B1, and vitamin B6 increased, and serum homocysteine decreased to 5.8 nmol/ml. His consciousness gradually improved to being alert and his total aphasia ameliorated to motor aphasia. Three months after admission, his condition improved to a point at which he was able to carry out activities of daily living. Therefore, he was discharged from our hospital.

After discharge, he continued a regimen of AEDs such as valproic acid, gabapentin, topiramate, and levetiracetam instead of carbamazepine. During the 3 years after discharge, he was without seizure, and electroencephalography confirmed that he had no epileptic activity. Administration of folic acid, vitamin B1, vitamin B6, and vitamin B12 was continued for hyperhomocysteinemia. His plasma homocysteine level was maintained within normal limits (5.8–10.5 nmol/ml). Two years after discharge, a brain MRI showed no new infarction (Figures 2D, E). MR angiography revealed that the occluded MCA had been recanalized, but no double lumen sign or string and pearls sign were detected (Figure 2F). For the infarct, he was treated with clopidogrel and had no recurrence of ischemia.

Discussion

We herein reported on a patient with epilepsy and developmental delay during adolescence who suffered an ischemic stroke at age 30. He was devoid of common risk factors of atherosclerosis such as hypertension, diabetes mellitus, and hyperlipidemia. Based on the results of laboratory examination, neuroimaging, and physiological function tests, his stroke was not caused by cardiogenic embolism, paradoxical embolism or vascular malformation. Hyperhomocysteinemia was the only factor associated with the large vessel occlusion.

Meta-analyses have revealed a consistent association between plasma homocysteine levels and atherosclerotic disorders (7, 8). Additionally, several studies have demonstrated that high plasma



homocysteine levels are associated with small vessel stroke (9-11). In contrast, Tantirittisak et al. (12) reported that abnormal homocysteine levels were more pronounced in a group with large vessel stroke compared to small vessel stroke. Jeong et al. (13) showed that an increased level of plasma homocysteine was associated with internal carotid artery occlusion in patients with ischemic stroke. Taken together, these reports suggest that elevated plasma homocysteine is associated with not only small vessel but also large vessel stroke. As our patient had only hyperhomocysteinemia as a vascular risk factor, we conclude that his ischemic event was caused by a hyperhomocysteinemia independently progressed atherosclerosis leading to arterial occlusion. The exact mechanism by which increased levels of homocysteine lead to the development of atherosclerosis is still unknown. Clinical and experimental findings have shown that hyperhomocysteinemia can increase oxidative stress and change the homeostasis of the endothelium (14). At later stages of the atherosclerotic process, homocysteine increases platelet activation and aggregation and causes coagulation abnormalities, thereby promoting vascular occlusion (15). Furthermore, hyperhomocysteinemia may induce abnormal proliferation of smooth muscle cells and increase inflammatory processes that induce the development of atherosclerosis and trigger thrombosis (4).

Plasma homocysteine levels are influenced by genetic and environmental factors. Mutations in multiple genes are known to contribute to *cystathionine beta-synthase*, *MTHFR* and *nicotinamide N-methyltransferase* (*NNMT*) (5, 6, 16, 17). Cystathionine beta-synthase deficiency impairs the conversion of homocysteine to cystathionine and leads to both homocysteine and methionine accumulation (16) (Figure 3). MTHFR converts 5,10-methylenetetrahydrofolate to 5-methyltetrahydrofolate that produces methyl donor groups for the conversion of homocysteine to methionine (Figure 3). Impaired activity of the MTHFR enzyme leads to increased plasma homocysteine but not to increased plasma methionine. Our patient showed high serum homocysteine and normal methionine levels; therefore, we hypothesized that his MTHFR activity was decreased and found the C677T polymorphism in his MTHFR gene. As the C677T polymorphism of the MTHFR gene reduces the thermostability of the MTHFR enzyme, MTHFR enzyme activity under this homozygous polymorphism is 50-60% lower at 37°C compared with normal non-mutated controls (6, 18). The prevalence of the C677T polymorphism in the MTHFR gene is variable depending on ethnicity and nationality. For example, the percentage of the Japanese population with the homozygous mutation was reported at approximately 11% (19, 20). The A/G polymorphism NNMT (rs694539) is also known to be associated with hyperhomocysteinemia (17). NNMT is an enzyme involved in the synthesis of S-Adenosylhomocysteine (SAH); it catabolizes nicotinamide and other pyridine compounds in a reaction that uses the methyl group generated during the conversion of S-Adenosylmethionine to SAH (Figure 3) (21). In a Japanese study, there were no differences in plasma homocysteine concentration between the NNMT AA+AG and GG genotypes, suggesting that this polymorphism is not a major determinant of plasma homocysteine concentration in the Japanese men (22). However, only when together with the NNMT GG genotype and other confounding factors, such as age, folate deficiency, and/or MTHFR C677T, were they associated with an elevation of plasma homocysteine (22). In our case, unfortunately, we did not perform a NNMT gene analysis. It is possible that the patient had the NNMT GG genotype because his plasma homocysteine was elevated significantly.

As for environmental factors, sex, smoking, and low vitamin levels are associated with levels of serum homocysteine. Metaanalyses have revealed that carbamazepine, valproate sodium, and phenytoin are associated with an increase in plasma levels of homocysteine (23–25). Additionally, studies have demonstrated that these medications significantly decrease serum levels of folic acid vitamin B6 and vitamin B12 (26, 27). These vitamins play important roles in the metabolism of homocysteine (Figure 3). In our patient, the use of carbamazepine and valproate sodium may have decreased serum folate and vitamin B6 and consequently caused hyperhomocysteinemia. As a result, we changed the patient from taking carbamazepine to levetiracetam which has no effect on the levels of plasma homocysteine.

Hyperhomocysteinemia is an important risk factor for stroke due to atherosclerosis, and venous thrombosis (4). In the treatment of ischemic stroke due to atherosclerosis in patients with hyperhomocysteinemia, lowering of the homocysteine concentration through administration of folic acid and vitamin B12 is the most important therapy. Several previous studies have suggested that a lowering of homocysteinemia therapy prevented stroke recurrence (28, 29). Another previous report demonstrated that patients with hyperhomocysteinemia avoided death and altered their medical progress through the use of antihypertensive therapy and the administration of aspirin (30). These results may suggest that a combination of antiplatelet drugs and reducing homocysteine therapy is effective in preventing the progression of atherosclerosis caused by hyperhomocysteinemia. Hyperhomocysteinemia is also an important risk factor for thrombosis, both intracranially and in the



FIGURE 2

(A–C) Brain magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) at onset. (A, B) Brain MRI of diffusion-weighted imaging (DWI) and FLAIR exhibited a high intensity area in the left fronto-temporal region. (C) Brain magnetic resonance angiography (MRA) showed occlusion of the left middle cerebral artery (MCA). (D–F) MRI 2 years after onset. (D, E) Brain MRI of diffusion-weighted imaging (DWI) and FLAIR exhibited a low intensity area in the left fronto-temporal region. (F) Brain MRI of diffusion-weighted imaging (DWI) and FLAIR exhibited a low intensity area in the left fronto-temporal region. (F) Brain MRA showed that the left MCA was recanalized but there were no findings of double lumen or string and pearls signs.



venous return of the lower limbs (31, 32). These findings suggest that hyperhomocysteinemia increases the risk of ischemic stroke due to cerebral venous thrombosis and paradoxical embolism. A previous report shows that lowering homocysteine concentration

was effective for preventing recurrent venous thrombosis (33). In the treatment of strokes due to venous thrombosis, anti-coagulant therapy is effective (34). From these viewpoints, a combination of anti-coagulant therapy and a reduction of homocysteine therapy was effective in the prevention of strokes due to venous thrombosis caused by hyperhomocysteinemia.

In conclusion, the C677T mutation is closely related to hyperhomocysteinemia and folate deficiency in epileptic patients taking multiple anti-convulsants (27). Therefore, physicians should periodically examine plasma homocysteine and folic acid levels in epileptic patients who are on a long-term regimen of multiple AEDs. In the case of well-controlled patients, a supplement of folic acid could be prescribed to normalize plasma homocysteine levels. If patients' seizures are uncontrolled, physicians should consider using other AEDs such as lamotrigine or levetiracetam which do not affect plasma levels of homocysteine (35, 36).

Data availability statement

The datasets presented in this article are not readily available because of ethical and privacy restrictions. Requests to access the datasets should be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s), and minor(s)' legal guardian/next of kin, for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

Author contributions

JF performed the data research and wrote the manuscript. JF and HE treated the patient. YW performed gene analysis. AF, RC, MN, and AN supported the clinical interpretation. NH and YS was critically involved in the theoretical discussion and composition of the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final version of the manuscript.

Funding

AN was funded by grants from the Japan Society for the Promotion of Science and a Grant-in-Aid for Scientific Research

References

1. Ekker MS, Boot EM, Singhal AB, Tan KS, Debette S, Tuladhar AM, et al. Epidemiology, aetiology, and management of ischaemic stroke in young adults. *Lancet Neurol.* (2018) 17:790-801. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(18)30233-3

2. Ferro JM, Massaro AR, Mas JL. Aetiological diagnosis of ischaemic stroke in young adults. *Lancet Neurol.* (2010) 9:1085–96. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(10)70251-9

3. Fukui M, Kono S, Sueishi K, Ikezaki K. Moyamoya disease. Neuropathology. (2000) 20:S61-4. doi: 10.1046/j.1440-1789.2000.00300.x

4. Selhub J, D'Angelo A. Relationship between homocysteine and thrombotic disease. *Am J Med Sci.* (1998) 316:129–41. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9629(15)40387-8

5. Liew SC, Gupta ED. Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR) C677T polymorphism: epidemiology, metabolism and the associated diseases. *Eur J Med Genet.* (2015) 58:1–10. doi: 10.1016/j.ejmg.2014.10.004

(21K15751). NH was funded by grants from the Japan Society for the Promotion of Science (JSPS), Japan Agency for Medical Research and Development (AMED), and Ministry of Education Culture, Sports, Science and Technology Japan; Grant-in-Aid for Scientific Research (21H04820). Author YS was funded by grants from the Japan Society for the Promotion of Science and a Grantin-Aid for Scientific Research (21K07282).

Acknowledgments

We thank Kazuya Sugimoto for preparing this manuscript.

Conflict of interest

NH received speaker or advisory board honoraria from Kyowa Kirin, Takeda Pharma, AbbVie, Inc, Sumitomo Pharma, Eisai, Mochida Pharma, Kissei Pharma, Ono Pharma, Teijin Pharma, Senju Pharma, EA Pharma, and Novartis Pharma K.K. He also received consulting honoraria from Mitsubishi Tanabe Pharma, Hisamitsu Pharma, and Chugai Pharma. YS received speaker honoraria from Medtronic, Boston Scientific, Otsuka Pharmaceutical, Takeda Pharmaceutical Co., Sumitomo Pharma, Novartis Pharma, MSD, FP Pharmaceutical Corporation, Kyowa Kirin, and AbbVie, Inc.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

6. Rozen R. Genetic predisposition to hyperhomocysteinemia: deficiency of methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR). *Thromb Haemost.* (1997) 78:523-6. doi: 10.1055/s-0038-1657581

7. Ueland PM, Refsum H, Beresford SA, Vollset SE. The controversy over homocysteine and cardiovascular risk. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2000) 72:324–32. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/72.2.324

8. Boushey CJ, Beresford SA, Omenn GS, Motulsky AG, A. quantitative assessment of plasma homocysteine as a risk factor for vascular disease. Probable benefits of increasing folic acid intakes. *JAMA*. (1995) 274:1049–57. doi: 10.1001/jama.274.13.1049

9. Larsson SC, Traylor M, Markus HS. Homocysteine and small vessel stroke: a Mendelian randomization analysis. *Ann Neurol.* (2019) 85:495–501. doi: 10.1002/ana.25440

10. Jeon SB, Kang DW, Kim JS, Kwon SU. Homocysteine, small-vessel disease, and atherosclerosis: an MRI study of 825 stroke patients. *Neurology*. (2014) 83:695–701. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000000720

11. Ma Y, Zhao X, Zhang W, Liu L, Wang Y, Fang R, et al. Homocysteine and ischemic stroke subtype: a relationship study in Chinese patients. *Neurol Res.* (2010) 32:636–41. doi: 10.1179/016164109X12445616596445

12. Tantirittisak T, Sura T, Moleerergpoom W, Hanchaipiboolkul S. Plasma homocysteine and ischemic stroke patients in Thailand. *J Med Assoc Thai.* (2007) 90:1183–7.

13. Jeong SK, Seo JY, Cho YI. Homocysteine and internal carotid artery occlusion in ischemic stroke. J Atheroscler Thromb. (2010) 17:963–9. doi: 10.5551/jat.4796

14. Salvio G, Ciarloni A, Cutini M, Balercia G. Hyperhomocysteinemia: focus on endothelial damage as a cause of erectile dysfunction. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2021) 22:418. doi: 10.3390/ijms22010418

15. Romecín P, Atucha NM, Navarro EG, Ortiz MC, Iyú D, Rosado JA, et al. Role of homocysteine and folic acid on the altered calcium homeostasis of platelets from rats with biliary cirrhosis. *Platelets*. (2017) 28:698–705. doi: 10.1080/09537104.2016.1265920

16. Morris AA, KoŽich V, Santra S, Andria G, Ben-Omran TI, Chakrapani AB, et al. Guidelines for the diagnosis and management of cystathionine beta-synthase deficiency. *J Inherit Metab Dis.* (2017) 40:49–74. doi: 10.1007/s10545-016-9979-0

17. Souto JC, Blanco-Vaca F, Soria JM, Buil A, Almasy L, Ordoñez-Llanos J, et al. A genomewide exploration suggests a new candidate gene at chromosome 11q23 as the major determinant of plasma homocysteine levels: results from the GAIT project. *Am J Hum Genet.* (2005) 76:925–33. doi: 10.1086/430409

18. Kang SS, Zhou J, Wong PW, Kowalisyn J, Strokosch G. Intermediate homocysteinemia: a thermolabile variant of methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase. *Am J Hum Genet.* (1988) 43:414–21.

19. Arinami T, Yamada N, Yamakawa-Kobayashi K, Hamaguchi H, Toru M. Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase variant and schizophrenia/depression. *Am J Med Genet.* (1997) 74:526–8.3.

20. Morita H, Kurihara H, Tsubaki S, Sugiyama T, Hamada C, Kurihara Y, et al. Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase gene polymorphism and ischemic stroke in Japanese. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (1998) 18:1465–9. doi: 10.1161/01.ATV.18.9.1465

21. Aksoy S, Szumlanski CL, Weinshilboum RM. Human liver nicotinamide Nmethyltransferase. cDNA cloning, expression, and biochemical characterization. *J Biol Chem.* (1994) 269:14835–40. doi: 10.1016/S0021-9258(17)36700-5

22. Zhang L, Miyaki K, Araki J, Nakayama T, Muramatsu M. The relation between nicotinamide N-methyltransferase gene polymorphism and plasma homocysteine concentration in healthy Japanese men. *Thromb Res.* (2007) 121:55–8. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2007.02.012

23. Gorjipour F, Asadi Y, Osguei NK, Effatkhah M, Samadikuchaksaraei A. Serum level of homocysteine, folate and vitamin-B12 in epileptic patients under carbamazepine and sodium valproate treatment: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Iran Red Crescent Med J.* (2013) 15:249–53. doi: 10.5812/ircmj.9690

24. Xu Y, Zhang N, Xu S, Xu H, Chen S, Xia Z. Effects of phenytoin on serum levels of homocysteine, vitamin B12, folate in patients with epilepsy: a systematic review and meta-analysis (PRISMA-compliant article). *Medicine*. (2019) 98:e14844. doi: 10.1097/MD.000000000014844

25. Ni G, Qin J, Fang Z, Chen Y, Chen Z, Zhou J, et al. Increased homocysteine levels in valproate-treated patients with epilepsy: a meta-analysis. *BMJ Open.* (2014) 4:e004936. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2014-004936

26. Verrotti A, Pascarella R, Trotta D, Giuva T, Morgese G, Chiarelli F. Hyperhomocysteinemia in children treated with sodium valproate and carbamazepine. *Epilepsy Res.* (2000) 41:253–7. doi: 10.1016/S0920-1211(00)00150-9

27. Ono H, Sakamoto A, Mizoguchi N, Sakura N. The C677T mutation in the methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase gene contributes to hyperhomocysteinemia in patients taking anticonvulsants. *Brain Dev.* (2002) 24:223–6. doi: 10.1016/S0387-7604(02)00004-9

28. Saposnik G, Ray JG, Sheridan P, McQueen M. Lonn E,Heart Outcomes Prevention Evaluation 2 Investigators. Homocysteine-lowering therapy and stroke risk, severity, and disability: additional findings from the HOPE 2 trial. *Stroke.* (2009) 40:1365–72. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.108.529503

29. Sato Y, Kaji M, Kondo I, Yoshida H, Satoh K, Metoki N. Hyperhomocysteinemia in Japanese patients with convalescent stage ischemic stroke: effect of combined therapy with folic acid and mecobalamine. *J Neurol Sci.* (2002) 202:65–8. doi: 10.1016/S0022-510X(02)00210-1

30. Blum A, Hijazi I, Eizenberg MM, Blum N. Homocysteine (Hcy) follow-up study. *Clin Invest Med.* (2007) 30:21–5. doi: 10.25011/cim.v30i1.445

31. Gogineni S, Gupta D, Pradeep R, Mehta A, Javali M, Acharya PT, et al. Deep cerebral venous thrombosis-a clinicoradiological study. *J Neurosci Rural Pract.* (2021) 12:560–5. doi: 10.1055/s-0041-1730109

32. Cantu C, Alonso E, Jara A, Martínez L, Ríos C, Fernández Mde L, et al. Hyperhomocysteinemia, low folate and vitamin B12 concentrations, and methylene tetrahydrofolate reductase mutation in cerebral venous thrombosis. *Stroke.* (2004) 35:1790–4. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.0000132570.24618.78

33. den Heijer M, Willems HP, Blom HJ, Gerrits WB, Cattaneo M, Eichinger S, et al. Homocysteine lowering by B vitamins and the secondary prevention of deep vein thrombosis and pulmonary embolism: A randomized, placebocontrolled, double-blind trial. *Blood.* (2007) 109:139–44. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-04-014654

34. Patel SI, Obeid H, Matti L, Ramakrishna H, Shamoun FE. Cerebral venous thrombosis: current and newer anticoagulant treatment options. *Neurologist.* (2015) 20:80–8. doi: 10.1097/NRL.00000000000049

35. Mahdavi A, Naeini AA, Najafi M, Ghazvini M, Maracy M. Vitamin B12 and folate status in patients with epilepsy under levetiracetam monotherapy. *Int J Prev Med.* (2019) 10:32. doi: 10.4103/ijpvm.IJPVM_71_18

36. Belcastro V, Striano P, Gorgone G, Costa C, Ciampa C, Caccamo D, et al. Hyperhomocysteinemia in epileptic patients on new antiepileptic drugs. *Epilepsia*. (2010) 51:274–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2009. 02303.x

Frontiers in Neurology

Explores neurological illness to improve patient care

The third most-cited clinical neurology journal explores the diagnosis, causes, treatment, and public health aspects of neurological illnesses. Its care.

Discover the latest Research Topics



Avenue du Tribunal-Fédéral 34 1005 Lausanne, Switzerland

Contact us

+41 (0)21 510 17 00



